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Defendants, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (the “Department”) and Drug
Enforcement Administration (“DEA”), by and through undersigned counsel, respectfully submit
this reply memorandum in support of their third motion for summary judgment (ECF No. 104).

BACKGROUND

Defendants’ third motion for summary judgment addresses the only issue remaining in this
action: the propriety of DEA’s withholdings in response to Plaintiff Lesly Pompy’s Freedom of
Information Act (“FOIA”) request pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552a(j) and FOIA Exemptions 3, 6, 7(C),
7(D), 7(E), and 7(F). In response, Plaintiff Pompy filed a lengthy opposition that addresses DEA’s
exemptions in the first seventeen pages, but then he spends the rest of his page limit addressing his
various issues regarding his arrest and prosecution and his experiences with certain health
insurance companies. These latter allegations in Plaintiff Pompy’s opposition are not germane to
this FOIA action, and Defendants do not concede that Plaintiff Pompy has accurately represented
the facts.

Defendants note that much of Plaintiff Pompy’s assertions appear to pertain to a civil action
he brought in the Eastern District of Michigan against MBT Financial Corp. d/b/a Monroe Bank
& Trust, Judge Jack Vitale, Magistrate Tina Todd, Magistrate Jessica Chaffin, Lieutenant Marc
Moore, Officer Robert Blair, Officer Jon La Sotta, Officer Shawn Kotsch, Agent Brian Bishop,
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan, Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual Insurance
Company, Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC, Blue Cross Complete of Michigan (BLUE
CROSS), Investigator James Howell, Dr. Carl Christensen, Dr. J. Alan Robertson, Director Shelly
Edgerton, Director Sean M. Siebigteroth, Director Kim Gaedeke, Pharmacist Vaughn Hafner, Dina
Young, Ray Kisonas, Thomas Scott, and Susan Mehregan. See Complaint, Pompy v. Monroe Bank

& Tr., Civ. A. No. 19-10334 (E.D. Mich.), ECF No. 1 (attached as Exhibit G). That civil action
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has generated an abundance of motions practice, see, e.g., Pompy v. Monroe Bank & Tr., Civ. A.
No. 19-10334, 2020 WL 1502007 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 30, 2020); Pompy v. Monroe Bank & Tr., Civ.
A. No. 19-10334, 2020 WL 6286299 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 27, 2020); Pompy v. Monroe Bank & Tr.,
Civ. A. No. 19-10334, 2020 WL 6867875 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 23, 2020); Pompy v. Monroe Bank &
Tr., Civ. A. No. 19-10334, 2022 WL 1126037 (E.D. Mich. Apr. 15, 2022), and remains (as
narrowed) ongoing.

As for what remains to be resolved in Plaintiff Pompy’s civil action in the Eastern District
of Michigan, that is a topic for the Judge in that action to determine. In this action, the Court is
tasked with assessing the propriety of DEA’s exemptions.

ARGUMENT

1. This Court Should Again Treat Defendant’s Facts as Conceded.

Defendants’ third motion for summary judgment included nine statements of facts (ECF
No. 104-2), including that “[t]he reasons for DEA’s withholdings, as well as the harm that is
reasonably foreseen to ensue if exempt material were disclosed, are articulated in the Margaryan
Declaration,” and “[t]hroughout the administrative processing of Plaintiff Pompy’s FOIA request,
DEA carefully reviewed the documents responsive to the request for reasonable segregation of
nonexempt information and released all non-exempt information.” Def.’s Stmt. of Facts (ECF
No. 104-2) 99 8-9.

Plaintiff Pompy did not respond to Defendants’ statement of facts, which have been
conceded. Notably, both Plaintiffs in this case were previously warned of the consequences of
failing to respond to Defendants’ statement of facts. See Memo. Op. (ECF No. 88) at 11-13
(describing multiple prior warnings and explaining: “Plaintiffs’ deviation from Local Civil
Rule 7(h) undermines the Rule’s purpose, which is to assist the Court in quickly determining if

any facts are actually in dispute. Without this Rule, courts would be ‘obligated to sift through
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hundreds of pages of [documents] in order to make [their] own analysis and determination of what
may, or may not, be a genuine issue of material disputed fact.” And that is the case here—without
any citations to the record nor suggested factual support, the Court is left with the task of weeding
through Plaintiffs’ lengthy filings to identify any disputed facts and make sense of Plaintiffs’
briefing, which, as noted above, is devoid of responsive legal argumentation in the sections it
should be present.”) (citations omitted). As the Court explained before, because “Plaintiffs have
failed to properly dispute Defendants’ assertion, the Court can take Defendants’ statement as
undisputed.” Id. at 13.

II. DEA’s Withholdings Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552a(j) Are Appropriate.

Plaintiff Pompy does not address Defendants’ argument regarding Privacy Act
Exemption (j)(2). He instead argues solely that his acquittal means that this Privacy Act exemption
is inapplicable. But Exemption (j)(2), unlike Exemption 7(A), does not require ongoing
enforcement proceedings. Compare 5 U.S.C. § 552a(j)(2), with 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(A). Rather,
Exemption (j)(2) applies to any qualifying system of records that is “maintained by an agency or
component thereof which performs as its principal function any activity pertaining to the
enforcement of criminal laws, . . . and which consists of . . . information compiled for the purpose
of a criminal investigation, including reports of informants and investigators, and associated with
an identifiable individual.” 5 U.S.C. § 552a(J)(2); see also Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 4 39
(“Because Plaintiff’s request pertained to the criminal investigation relating to him, the requested
records were clearly compiled for law enforcement purposes.”).

Further, to the extent Plaintiff Pompy’s argument is that the agency has not sufficiently
articulated that it reasonably foresees harm from disclosure, the Privacy Act does not contain a
foreseeable harm requirement. Compare 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(8)(A) (limiting the foreseeable harm

requirement only to information withheld “under this section”), with 5 U.S.C. § 552a (containing
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no analogue). The Court should not import the FOIA’s reasonably foreseeable harm requirement
into the Privacy Act case law, and Plaintiff Pompy provides no support for the assertion that there
is a similar requirement under the Privacy Act.

In any event, DEA has articulated that it reasonably foresees harm under the FOIA in the
context of its FOIA withholdings under Exemptions 6, 7(C), 7(D), 7(E), and 7(F). See Margaryan
Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 99 44-78; see, e.g., id. § 49 (Exemption 6 & 7(C): “Medical information
often constitutes the most sensitive and closely held information about an individual, the release
of which is reasonably foreseen to cause embarrassment both independently and by virtue of a link
to a criminal investigation.”); id. 57 (Exemption 7(D): “Release of [confidential source]
information, including information that could potentially reveal a [source’s] identity would hamper
future cooperation by individuals” and risks “serious bodily harm, substantial repercussions, and
possibly even death”); id. 9§ 62 (Exemption 7(E): “Releasing the G-DEP identifiers/information
would help identify the priority given to narcotics investigations, the types of criminal activities
involved, and violator ratings” and risks allowing criminal to “decode this information, develop
enforcement countermeasures, avoid detection and apprehension, create excuses and alibis for
suspected activities, and restructure their actions to prevent or limit the capabilities of the
techniques, thus circumventing the law”); id. 4 67 (Exemption 7(F): “It has been the experience of
DEA that violence is inherent in the drug trade, and the release of the identities of law enforcement
officers has resulted in several instances of physical attacks, threats, harassment, murder, and
attempted murder.”).

I11. DEA’s Withholdings Pursuant to Exemption 3 Are Appropriate.

FOIA Exemption 3 exempts from disclosure information that is specifically exempted from

disclosure by statute. 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(3). Here, DEA is applying this exemption in conjunction
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with Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 6(e) to protect a single page of grand jury material.
Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 9 42.

Plaintiff Pompy argues that, because he has brought a civil action, Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 6(e)(3)(E)(i)! authorizes disclosure of grand jury material. But the law of this Circuit
has long settled that “the rule’s ban on disclosure is for FOIA purposes absolute.” Fund for Const’l
Gov’t v. Nat’l Archives & Records Serv., 656 F.2d 856, 868 (D.C. Cir. 1981). Plaintiff Pompy’s
argument based on this specific subsection was squarely rejected by the D.C. Circuit: “an
examination of the language and legislative history of that section reveals that it contemplates
disclosure in the course of parallel civil proceedings and ‘does not include the very proceeding
instituted for the purpose of obtaining disclosure.”” Id. (quoting Hiss v. Dep’t of Just., 441 F.
Supp. 69, 70 (S.D.N.Y. 1977)). Accordingly, DEA properly invoked Exemption 3 for this
material. See Memo. Op. (ECF No. 88) at 32—33 (holding that similar grand jury material withheld

by the Department was properly exempt under Exemption 3).

IVv. DEA’s Withholdings Pursuant to Exemptions 6 and 7(C) Are Appropriate.

Plaintiff Pompy does not dispute that DEA meets the requirements of a law enforcement
agency. See, e.g., Cooperv. Dep’t of Just., Civ. A. No. 99-2513 (RBW), 2022 WL 602532, at *28
(D.D.C. Mar. 1, 2022) (“[E]Jach of the defendant agencies—Customs, the DEA, the Marshals
Service, and the ATF—are law enforcement agencies, whose ‘principal function is law
enforcement[.]’”) (quoting Codrea v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms & Explosives, 239 F.
Supp. 3d 128, 132 (D.D.C. 2017)); Lewis v. Dep’t of Just., 867 F. Supp. 2d 1, 18 (D.D.C. 2011)

(“The defendant thus meets the threshold showing that the relevant DEA records are law

! “The court may authorize disclosure—at a time, in a manner, and subject to any other

conditions that it directs—of a grand-jury matter: (i) preliminarily to or in connection with a
judicial proceeding[.]” Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e)(3)(E)(i), which was previously (e)(3)(C)(1).
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enforcement records for purposes of Exemption 7.”); Rodrequez v. U.S. Postal Serv., Civ. A.
No. 90-1886, 1991 WL 212202, at *6 (D.D.C. Oct. 2, 1991) (“The DEA, FBI and Marshals Service
are law enforcement agencies[.]””). Nor does Plaintiff Pompy dispute that the records protected by
Exemptions 6 and 7(C) were gathered for purposes of DEA’s investigation into his conduct.
Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 9 46. Nor does Plaintiff Pompy address DEA’s withholding of
personally identifiable information contained within patient files, state patient prescription data,
and employee time sheets. /d. 4947, 49. Plaintiff Pompy has conceded each of these arguments.

Plaintiff Pompy briefly argues that Exemption 6 and 7(C) do not protect the confidentiality
of four companies. See P1.’s Opp’n (ECF No. 106) at 5-6. This, however, is a red herring. DEA
asserted Exemption 6 and Exemption 7(C) to protect the names of individual patients and
employees. See, e.g., Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) q 53 (confirming that DEA was
“redacting the names of patients of employees” and other records that “would allow someone, such
as Plaintiff, with knowledge of particular patients’ prescriptions and/or medical records to use this
information to identify the specific patients™).

Plaintiff Pompy’s primary focus is on unmasking DEA’s confidential source. See Pl.’s
Opp’n (ECF No. 106) at 3—5. DEA protected the identity of its confidential source(s) pursuant to
Exemptions 6, 7(C), 7(D), and 7(F). Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 49 56-57. There was “a
written agreement between DEA and the [confidential source] where DEA explicitly state[d] that
the United States Government and DEA will protect the [confidential source’s] identity to the
extent that it can under the law.” Id. 9 56. DEA confirmed that release of this information “would
hamper future cooperation by” other potential sources and risks “subject[ing] the [confidential
source] or the [confidential source’s] family members to serious bodily harm, substantial

repercussions, and possibly even death.” Id. 4 57.
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Plaintiff Pompy fails to account for the fact that an individual’s substantial privacy interest
remains undiminished even if their identity has been released in some fashion. See Fitzgibbon v.
CIA, 911 F.2d 755, 768 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (rejecting argument that “the fact that CIA or FBI may
have released information about Ross elsewhere causes Ross’s substantial privacy interests under
exemption 7(C) to be diminished”). Given that the D.C. Circuit rejects the assertion that
“informants waive[ | the confidential status of their identities and the information [provided] to
the extent that they testified at . . . trial,” Parker v. Dep’t of Just., 934 F.2d 375, 379-82 (D.C. Cir.
1991), the mere speculative possibility that the source could potentially have been called to testify
at Plaintiff’s criminal trial is even less viable as a possible waiver of the source’s important
confidentiality interests.

Further, there is no public interest served by disclosing this information because it would
not significantly increase the public’s understanding of DEA’s operations and activities or shed
light on how DEA carries out its mission. Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 49 48, 52. Plaintiff
Pompy makes no showing that this information needs to be released to meet a significant public
interest. See, e.g., Perioperative Servs. & Logistics, LLC v. Dep’t of Veterans Affs., 57 F.4th 1061,
1068 (D.C. Cir. 2023) (“[T]he complainant’s substantial privacy interest outweighs any public
interest in disclosure.”). Given the significant privacy interests at stake, DEA properly invoked
these FOIA exemptions.

V. DEA’s Withholdings Pursuant to Exemption 7(D) Are Appropriate.

Exemption 7(D) of the FOIA exempts from mandatory disclosure records or information
compiled for law enforcement purposes if the disclosure could reasonably be expected to disclose
“the identity of a confidential source,” which furnished information on a confidential basis, and
“information furnished by a confidential source.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(D). Exemption 7(D)’s

“paramount objective . . . is to keep open the Government’s channels of confidential information.”
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Birchv. U.S. Postal Serv., 803 F.2d 1206, 1212 (D.C. Cir. 1986). When invoking Exemption 7(D),
the agency must demonstrate that the information was compiled for a law enforcement purpose,
that an informant provided the information under either an express or an implied promise of
confidentiality and, under the first clause of Exemption 7(D), that disclosure could reasonably be
expected to disclose the source’s identity. Dep’t of Just. v. Landano, 508 U.S. 165, 171-72 (1993).

As Defendant discussed in the preceding subsection, the portion of Plaintiff Pompy’s
opposition that addresses his FOIA request is focused on unveiling the confidential source.
Plaintiff Pompy raises three arguments.

First, Plaintiff Pompy appears to cite to a range of nonexistent subsections of the Code of
Federal Regulations to assert, without any factual support, that DEA’s confidential source must
have violated a regulation regarding entry into a drug treatment rehabilitation center. P1.’s Opp’n
(ECF No. 106) at 67 (citing “CFR 42 section 2.81 - 2.87). It appears that Plaintiff Pompy intends
to cite 42 C.F.R. § 2.67; however, he has offered no factual support for his assertion that this
regulation (1) applies or (2) was violated. In any event, Exemption 7(D) does not contain any sort
of exception for purported violations of regulations in Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations.
The question is whether DEA has adequately demonstrated that the information was compiled for
a law enforcement purpose, that an informant provided the information under either an express or
an implied promise of confidentiality, and, under the first clause of Exemption 7(D), that disclosure
could reasonably be expected to disclose the source’s identity. See Landano, 508 U.S. at 171-72.

Second, Plaintiff Pompy argues that because allegedly “the confidential informant either
knew, should have known, or would have known with substantial certainty, that his/her sworn
testimony was likely necessary at a criminal trial,” “[a]n expectation of privacy by such an

undercover agent would not be reasonable.” Pl.’s Opp’n (ECF No. 106) at 7-8. This argument
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fails because “a government agency is not required to disclose the identity of a confidential source
or information conveyed to the agency in confidence in a criminal investigation notwithstanding
the possibility that the informant may have testified at a public trial.” Parker, 934 F.2d at 379.

Third, Plaintiff Pompy argues that he has a constitutional right to the documents, but the
Constitution “do[es] not guarantee the public a right of access to information generated or
controlled by the government.” Ctr. for Nat’l Sec. Studs. v. Dep’t of Just., 331 F.3d 918, 934 (D.C.
Cir. 2003) (alterations in original; quoting Houchins v. KQED, Inc., 438 U.S. 1, 16 (1978)
(Stewart, J., concurring)); see also Houchins, 438 U.S. at 16 (confirming this applies for both
“[t]he First and Fourteenth Amendments”).

Accordingly, DEA properly invoked Exemption 7(D) to shield its confidential source, and
to honor its commitments. Id. 49 54-59.

VI. DEA’s Withholdings Pursuant to Exemption 7(E) Are Appropriate.

Exemption 7(E) permits withholding of “records or information compiled for law
enforcement purposes, but only to the extent that the production of such law enforcement records
or information . . . would disclose techniques and procedures for law enforcement investigations
or prosecutions, or would disclose guidelines for law enforcement investigations or prosecutions
if such disclosure could reasonably be expected to risk circumvention of the law.” 5 U.S.C.
§ 552(b)(7)(E); Blackwell v. FBI, 646 F.3d 37,42 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (noting the “relatively low bar
for the agency to justify withholding” information under Exemption 7(E)).

Plaintiff Pompy does not dispute that he seeks records that would disclose techniques and
procedures for law enforcement investigations or prosecution. To the contrary, Plaintiff Pompy
confirms that this is precisely why he wants the records in question, as he believes that these
techniques are not “race-neutral.” P1.”s Opp’n (ECF No. 106) at 29; see also Compl. (ECF No. 1)

at 5 (alleging that these techniques involve “racial targeting of dark skinned, non-white physicians
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with unproven data analytic programs™). Plaintiff Pompy’s mere allegations of impropriety,
however, do not create any sort of exception to Exemption 7(E). Accordingly, DEA’s
withholdings under Exemption 7(E) are appropriate. See Memo. Op. (ECF No. 88) at 4344
(holding that similar withholdings by the Department were appropriate under Exemption 7(E)).

VII. DEA’s Withholdings Pursuant to Exemption 7(F) Are Appropriate.

FOIA Exemption 7(F) protects information that “could reasonably be expected to endanger
the life or physical safety of any individual.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(F). “The exemption does not
require that a particular kind of individual be at risk of harm; ‘any individual’ will do. Disclosure
need not definitely endanger life or physical safety; a reasonable expectation of endangerment
suffices.” Pub. Emps. for Env’t Resp. v. U.S. Section, Int’l Boundary & Water Comm’n, U.S.-
Mex., 740 F.3d 195, 205 (D.C. Cir. 2014). “The Court of Appeals interprets Exemption 7(F)
broadly and does not require the government ‘to identify the specific individuals at risk from
disclosure.”” Nat’l Pub. Radio, Inc. v. FBI, 539 F. Supp. 3d 1, 9 (D.D.C. 2021) (quoting Elec.
Priv. Info. Ctr. v. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 777 F.3d 518, 525 (D.C. Cir. 2015)). The government
need provide only “reasonable detail” explaining “why withholding the [records] under
Exemption 7(F) is appropriate.” Id.

DEA asserts Exemption 7(F), as well as Exemptions 6 and 7(C), to protect the names of
DEA Special Agents, other law enforcement personnel, and individuals involved in criminal
investigations. Margaryan Decl. (ECF No. 104-4) 4 66. Plaintiff Pompy does not dispute that
DEA reasonably expects that disclosure of these individuals’ identities could reasonably be
expected to endanger their lives or physical safety. Rather, without citing any admissible evidence,
he asserts that others may die in the absence of the disclosure of this information. Pl.’s Opp’n

(ECF No. 106) at 15-16. Even if Plaintiff Pompy’s incredibly speculative and unsupported

10
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assertion could be credited, Exemption 7(F) does not call for this sort of balancing of lives.
Accordingly, DEA properly protects this information under Exemptions 7(F).

VIII. DEA Released All Reasonably Segregable Information.

If a responsive record contains information exempt from disclosure, any “reasonably
segregable” nonexempt information must generally be disclosed. 5 U.S.C. § 552(b). Nonexempt
portions of records need not be disclosed, however, if they are “inextricably intertwined with
exempt portions.” Mead Data Cent., Inc. v. Dep’t of Air Force, 566 F.2d 242, 260 (D.C. Cir.
1977). To establish that all reasonably segregable, nonexempt information has been disclosed, an

299

agency need only show “with ‘reasonable specificity’” that the information it has withheld cannot
be further segregated. Armstrong v. Exec. Off. of the President, 97 F.3d 575, 578-79 (D.C. Cir.
1996); Canning v. Dep’t of Just., 567 F. Supp. 2d 104, 110 (D.D.C. 2008). “Agencies are entitled
to a presumption that they complied with the obligation to disclose reasonably segregable
material,” which must be overcome by some “quantum of evidence” by the requester. Sussman v.
U.S. Marshals Serv., 494 F.3d 1106, 1117 (D.C. Cir. 2007); accord Memo. Op. (ECF No. 88)
at 46. If a record’s “unredacted markings would ‘have minimal or no information content,”” then
the agency need not produce that material. Perioperative, 57 F.4th at 1069 (quoting Mead Data,
566 F.2d at 261 n.55).

Plaintiff Pompy has not disputed that DEA conducted the requisite line-by-line review, nor
has he objected to DEA’s treatment of the voluminous patient files, state patient prescription data,
and employee timecards. Instead, without citation, Plaintiff Pompy asserts that “[w]ith substantial
certainty, substantial, material, document information remains.” PL.’s Opp’n (ECF No. 106) at 17.
First, Plaintiff Pompy vaguely refers to “documents related to” “HFPP (Healthcare Fraud

Prevention Partnership).” Id.; see also Ctrs. for Medicare & Medicaid Servs., Healthcare Fraud

Prevention Partnership, https://www.cms.gov/medicare/medicaid-coordination/healthcare-fraud-
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prevention-partnership. Second, Plaintiff Pompy mentions the contracts or statements of work

between DEA and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual Insurance Company. Both of
Plaintiff Pompy’s concerns appear targeted at the adequacy of the search, which has already been
decided, not segregability. For instance, DEA previously explained that it was unable to find the
contracts that Plaintiff Pompy sought. See Declaration of Angela Hertel (ECF No. 59-11)
126-27. As for the Healthcare Fraud Prevention Partnership, Plaintiff’s request did not seek
records pertaining thereto. See id. Y18, 24 (confirming that Plaintiff Pompy requested
“investigative records about himself” and “any contract or statements of work between DEA and
the BCBS of Michigan”). The Court has already determined that DEA conducted an adequate
search in response to Plaintiff’s FOIA request. See Memo. Op. (ECF No. 86) at 19-20.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons and those stated in Defendants’ opening brief,
Defendants request that the Court grant Defendants’ third motion for summary judgment.

Dated: December 20, 2023 Respectfully submitted,
Washington, DC
MATTHEW M. GRAVES, D.C. Bar #481052
United States Attorney

BRIAN P. HUDAK
Chief, Civil Division

By: /s/ Douglas C. Dreier
DOUGLAS C. DREIER
D.C. Bar #1020234
Assistant United States Attorneys
601 D Street, NW
Washington, DC 20530
(202) 252-2551

Attorneys for the United States of America
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STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

SOUTHERN DIVISION

Lesly Pompy, M.D. and Interventional Pain Management Associates, P. C.

Plaintiffs Pro Se

Case:2:19-cv-10334

Judge: Steeh, George Caram

MJ: Davis, Stephanie Dawkins

Filed: 02-04-2019 At 03.02 PM

CMP POMPY ET AL V. MBT FINANCIAL CO
\ RP ET AL (DA)

MBT Financial Corp., doing business as Monroe Bank and Trust;

Magistrate Tina Todd, Magistrate Jessica Chaffin, and Judge Jack Vitale, in both
their individual and official capacities;

Lt. Marc Moare, officer Robert Blair, officer Jon La Sotta, officer Shawn Kotsch,
agent Brian Bishop, in both their individual and official capacities;

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan, Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual
insurance Company, Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC, Blue Cross Complete

of Michigan {(BLUE CROSS), Investigator James Howell, ‘D} Carl Christensen, Dr. J.
Alan Robertson; S« AN <Pt ME‘;A’A/L M E YREQH,

Director Shelly Edgerton, Director Sean M. Siebigteroth, Director Kim Gaedeke,
Pharmacist Vaughn Hafner, Dina Young, in both their individual and official

capacities; and TS AAS S TO7

Ray Kisonas,
Jointly and severally,

Defendants
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COMPLAINT and JURY DEMAND

NOW COME PLAINTIFF Lesly Pompy and PLAINTIFF INTERVENTIONAL
MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATES, P. C. (IPM) and file the instant complaint and jury
demand as foliows.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

The Court has jurisdiction over this law suit pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 for
deprivation of rights and privileges secured by the Constitution and the laws.

The court has jurisdiction over this law suit under BIVENS v. SIX Unknown Named
Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388 {1971}

VENUE is proper under 28 U.S. C. Section 1391 (b).

1)
THE PLAINTIFFS

1. Plaintiff Lesly Pompy, M.D. {Dr. Pompy), a citizen of the State of Michigan,
was licensed to practice medicine in the states of Michigan, New York, Florida,
and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

2. Dr. Pompy was practicing medicine in the State of Michigan under medical
license No. 4301058720 until he was illegally served on August 4, 2017 by DEA
agent Brian Bishop with an Order of Summary Suspension of his medical license
and an Administrative Complaint from Michigan Bureau of Professional Licensing
(BPL), dated August 3, 2017.

3) The Michigan Summary Suspension was conducive to additional procedures for
the suspension of Dr. Pompy’s license to practice medicine in the states of New
York, Florida, and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
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4) Dr. Pompy was classified by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid as a Pain
Management physician and was issued for his identification the National Provider
Identifier: NPl 1174578801---Pain Management Interventional.

5. Dr. Pompy is a board certified anesthesiologist with subspecialty board in Pain

6. Dr. Pompy was a health provider approved by Medicare, Medicaid, and Blue
Cross Network for pain management physician services at, (1) his medical offices,
(2), ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital, formerly Mercy Memorial Hospital,

Management; a board certified physician in Addiction Medicine.
Monroe, Michigan; and {3) Surgical Institute of Monroe, Monroe, Michigan.

7. Dr. Pompy was the only full time board certified Pain Management physician
in Monroe County.

8. Dr. Pompy was registered with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) as
a practitioner to handle Controlied Substances in Schedules 2-5 under DEA COR
BP2527058 at his primary office at Interventional Pain Management Associates,
P.C., (IPM), 730 North Macomb Street, Suite 222, Monroe, Michigan 48162; and
at his secondary office, 307 Stewart Road, Monroe, Michigan 48162.

9. Dr. Pompy has also an Emergency Medical Technician Certificate (EMT).

10. At ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital Dr. Pompy provided pain
management services, addiction medicine, and anesthesia administration

services.

11. At his primary medical office at Interventional Pain Management Associates,
PC (IPM) on North Macomb Street Dr. Pompy provided pain management
services, post- surgical visits, medications, including head, neck, back, cancer,
fibro-broken pain spine management services, detoxification management, and P-
STIM.

12. At his surgery center on Stewart Road Dr. Pompy was doing nerve and facets
biocks, epidurals, RFA, Intrathecal pumps and spinal cord stimulators,
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acupuncture, anti-aging, percutaneous neuroplasty, discectomy, mild procedure,
anti-aging, neurobiofeedback, ANS testing, vertoplasty, and kyphoplasty.

13. Dr. Pompy medical practice was 70% Pain Management; 25% Addiction
Medicine; and 5% Anesthesia.

14. Thirty- Five percent (35%) of Dr. Pompy practice were Medicaid patients with
chronic pain associated with poverty and less education.

15. IPM is incorporated under the laws of State of Michigan.

16. IPM was Dr. Pompy ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital-based medical
practice primarily for the care and treatment of patients with chronic disease.

17. IPM was wrongfully made a party to MSP/MANTIS proceedings, in that it was
not served with a search warrant on September 26, 2016 or later with a summons
and complaint designating it as a claimant in an in rem civil forfeiture action.

18. Search warrant, if any was intended for IPM on September 26, 2016, had long
expired and was dismissed by law.

19. Plaintiffs rendered medical services to the members of Blue Cross Blue Shield
of Michigan Mutual Insurance Company {BCBSMMC), Blue Cross Biue Shield of
Michigan (BCBSM), Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC (BCCMLLC), Blue Cross
Complete of Michigan (BCCM).

20. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual Insurance Company {(BCBSMMIC),
formerly Blue Cross Biue Shield of Michigan (BCBSM), and the Plaintiffs were
bound by a Practitioner Affiliation Agreement, renewable automatically from year
to year.

21. Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC (BCCMLLC), formerly Blue Cross
Complete of Michigan (BCCM), and the Plaintiffs were bound by the instructions
contained in the BCCMLLC/BCCM Provider Manual.

)
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THE DEFENDANTS

22. Defendant MBT Financial Corp., doing business as Monroe Bank and Trust
(MB& T), is incorporated in the State of Michigan.

23. Magistrate Tina Todd is a non-attorney appointed as magistrate at the First
District Court of Michigan on December 9, 2011 upon approval of the State Court
Administrative Office (SCAO) and Monroe County.

24. Magistrate Tina Todd, an employee of Monroe County, was required to
follow SCAQ rules, and to act within the scope of her judicial authority and by the
terms of her appointment within jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan
[ MCL 600.8513 (2) (d)].

25. Magistrate Tina Todd issued, without probable cause, an invalid search
warrant , which was illegally served and executed by detective Robert Blair, the
affiant, at MB& T, on September 21, 2016.

26. Magistrate Jessica Chaffin, a non-attorney appointed as magistrate at the
First District Court of Michigan, was not authorized to issue warrants for the
arrest of persons on September 23, 2016 without written authorization of the
Monroe County Prosecuting attorney [MCL 600.8513 (2)(d).

27. Magistrate Jessica Chaffin issued three invalid search warrants on September
23 and 27, 2016 and one invalid search warrant on August 14, 2017 without
probable cause, outside the scope of her employment at Monroe County, outside
her judicial authority, outside the jurisdiction of the First District Court of
Michigan.

28. Judge Jack Vitale, an elected judge of the First District Court of Michigan,
acted outside the scope of his judicial authority in issuing three invalid search
warrants on September 28, 2016 in violation of the statute. [MCL 600. 8513 (2) ].

29. Marc Moore, a Detective Lieutenant (D/Lt} with Michigan Department of
State Police (MTS), was and is still assigned to Monroe Narcotics Team
Investigative Services (MANTIS) with policy-making authority.

5
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30. Marc Moore went to Blue Cross in December 2015 and proposed a joint
investigation involving Dr. Pompy. He had no reliable informant and had not
personally conducted an investigation to support his misstatements and false
representations. Notwithstanding, he stated to have learned from various sources
that Dr. Pompy was writing large amounts of opioid prescriptions to patients who
showed drug seeking behavior and to patients who were diverting those
medications on the streets. (MTS original incident report, incident No. MTS-
0000023-16, File Class 35001, by D/LT Marc Moore #20).

31. Robert Blair was a detective under the command of Monroe County Sheriff
(MCS} Ralph Malone. He authored for MSP/MANTIS eight invalid search

warrants reviewed and approved by Monroe County Assistant Prosecutors Allison
M. Arnold and Jeffery A. Yorkey . He then served the warrants in violation of the
command of the court; and personally executed them in lieu and place of Sheriff
Ralph Malone illegally.

The Monroe County Sheriff's Office (MCSO) provides SWAT TEAM assistance to
MSP, MANTIS, and CM, when requested. MCSO, MSP, MANTIS, and CM have
different jurisdiction and legal requirements.

Detective Blair, as a detective in the Sheriff’'s Office, was not qualified under MCL
51.221, Michigan Court Rules, Rule 2.103 (B)(1), and the command of the court to
serve the invalid search warrants in September 2016 in the City of Monroe.

If detective Blair believed in his mind that he was representing Sheriff Ralph
Malone, a deputy sheriff or an undersheriff in September 2016, he would then be
personally responsible, under MCL 51.70, for his acts, defaults, misconduct,
malfeasance, misfeasance, or nonfeasance.

Detective Blair reported in the police supplemental incident report 0002 (Docket
No. 17-21, Page 68 of 72, Incident No. MTS-0000023-16 {01), File class 35001) the
following:

“PROBABLE CAUSE FOR FORFEITURE:”
[“ Items #9 to 218...,Item #219..,, Item # 339..., Items #340 t0 #345..,, Item S 346
to #370..., Item #374...were seized pursuant to the Narcotics Forfeiture Statute,

6
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Sec. 333.7522, M.C.L.A. under theories that they are “proceeds” of narcotics
trafficking and that they “facilitated” drug trafficking.”]

“SUSPECT DISPOSITION:”

“ Dr. Pompy was placed under arrest. Dr. Pompy was transported to the Monroe
County Jail {MCJ) by MPD Vice Officers Oetjens and Merkle without incident. Dr.
Pompy was later released from MCJ pending warrant authorization by Monroe
County Prosecutor.”

32. Robert Blair collaborated with MANTIS from an address at 7150 Harris Drive,
Dimondale, MI 48821, Eaton County and from a second address at 300 Jones Ave.,
Monroe, M| 48162, Monroe County, in government enforcement actions.

33. Jon La Sotta was a detective with MSP/MANTIS. HIS service of the warrants
by FAX and Mail to E*Trade and Merrill Lynch in New Jersey and Florida was
improper, illegal, void, and null, violative of the statutes and court order.

34. Shawn Kotsch was an officer with the Monroe City Police Department,
Michigan (MPD). He illegally interviewed Dr. Pompy in the absence of his attorney
and participated in the latter arrest and imprisonment.

35. Brian Bishop, a DEA Diversion Investigator (DI), assisted MSP/MANTIS in the
raid of Dr. Pompy’s office on September 26, 2016. He illegally seized at Dr.
Pompy’s medical office and home unauthorized property which was out of the
scope of the two invalid search warrants illegally issued on September 23, 2016
by magistrate Jessica Chaffin of the First District Court of Michigan. Magistrate
Chaffin had no jurisdiction over the person/property of Plaintiffs.

36. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan (BCBSM), a domestic nonprofit healthcare
corporation, merged with Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual Insurance
Company (BCBSMMIC), the surviving company, on December 31, 2013. Blue Cross

committed several violations of federal and state statutes.
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37. BCBSMMIC, a Michigan nonprofit mutual insurance corporation, provides
claims processing, reporting services, network access, and other administrative
services to various affiliated and unaffiliated entities.

38. Blue Cross Complete of Michigan (BCCM), formerly BLUECAID of MICHIGAN,
ceased to exist on June 1, 2015.

39. BIUECAID of Michigan provided Medicaid coverage.

40. Blue Cross Complete of Michigan LLC (BCCML), is a domestic limited liability
company created on June 1, 2015.

41 Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan, Blue Cross Biue Shield of Michigan Mutual
Insurance Company, Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC, Blue Cross Complete
of Michigan, BLUECAID, and affiliated companies have interrelated operations
and are hereinafter referred as “Blue Cross.”

42. Blue Cross employed Michael Zsenyuk as the manager of its Corporate
Financial Investigations Department (CFl).

43. Blue Cross employed Jim Gallagher as the manager of its Clinical Pharmacy
Fraud, Waste and Abuse department (CPFWA).

44. Blue Cross employed Brian Zasadny as a CFl Fraud Investigator.

45. Blue Cross employed Diane Silas as Team Leader 2 with its Utilization Review
Department (UR).

46. Carl Christensen, M.D. (Dr. Christensen), doing business as Christensen
Recovery business in Ann Arbor, Michigan, is a physician with specialty/
subspecialties in Obstetrics, Gynecology/Gynecologic Oncology, Maternal & Fetal
Medicine/High Risk, and Addiction. A self-employed physician offering his services
in administrative and legal proceedings, he was motivated by anti-competitive
interest in offering addiction treatment. He was not neutral and was not qualified
under Dauber to offer expert opinion on anesthesia services and pain

management.
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47. Dr. Christensen is classified by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid under
National Provider Identifier (NP!) No. 1598703621 —Family Medicine Addiction
Medicine.

48. J Alan Robertson, M.D. (DR. Robertson), was acting in his official capacity as a
Blue Cross orthopedic spine surgeon, and in his individual capacity as the primary
care physician of defendant James Howell in his medical office.

49. Defendant Shelly Edgerton is the Director of Michigan Department of
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (LARA).

50. Defendant Kim Gaedeke was the Director of the Michigan Bureau of
Professional Licensing (BPL). His successor as Director is Cheryl Wycoff Pezon.

51. Defendant Sean M. Siebigteroth is the Administrative Law Specialist of
Michigan BPL Drug Monitoring Section.

52. Defendant Vaughn Hafner is a pharmacist investigator with Michigan BPL
Drug Monitoring Section. He is not qualified under Dauber to offer an expert
opinion on Dr. Pompy medical practices.

53. Defendant Dina Young is an employee with Michigan BPL Enforcement
Division.
54. Defendant James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”, is a Blue Cross CFl

undercover investigator, who appeared to have been coached by Dr. Christensen
and Dr. Robertson to falsely appear to suffer from a chronic disease.

Stewart was seen by Drs. Riyadh P Kasmikha and Weiguo Zhao from February 9,
2015 to July 9, 2015 and was prescribed Amphetamine Salt Combo, Lorazepam,
Alprazolam, Hydrocodone Bitartrate-Acetaminophe prior to his visits to Dr.
Pompy’s office in January 2016.

Stewart had no credentials, knowledge, or experience in Blue Cross Manual Billing
Guidelines, alternative Blue Cross electronic billing, billing complexity, E/M code,

typical time.
Stewart does not show what amount should have been billed electronically by Dr.
9
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Pompy for his seven visits.

Stewart had not conducted an audit, reviewed the complexity, evaluation, and
management of his case.

Stewart does not understand Blue Cross electronic billing based on diagnostic and
medical coding.

Without an audit and peer process review, Stewart had no authority to question
and disapprove payment of claims made years and months ago by Blue Cross
Accounting Department.

By using Blue Cross alternative recommended method of electronic billing, Dr.
Pompy had no intent to defraud Blue Cross.

55. At all times hereinafter Blue Cross manager Michael Zsenyuk assigned Brian
Zasadny, James Howell, Diane Silas, and Jim Gallagher to assist and coliaborate
with Monroe County Prosecutor’'s Office, MSP, MANTIS, Dr. Christensen, and DEA
in the investigation of the prescription habits of Dr. Pompy.

56. At all times hereinafter Blue Cross contractuaily provides peer group review
processes, specific contractual appeal, claim management, and audit prior to
conducting fraud investigations, but failed to comply with its obligations.

57. At all times hereinafter Blue Cross accepts full responsibility for the acts and
actions of their employees and former employees of BLUECAID of Michigan
(BCM), Blue Care Network of Michigan (BCNM), Blue Cross Complete of Michigan
Foundation, Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC (BCCMLLC), Blue Cross
Complete of Michigan, and affiliates.

58. At all times relevant to this law suit, all the defendants were acting under the
color of law with respect to the events set forth in the complaint.

59. Upon information and belief, all the individually named defendants are
citizens of the State of Michigan.

i)
BASIS OF THE CLAIM

10
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60. The claim arose on September 21, 2016 when VP Susan Mehregan released
to officer Robert Blair financial and confidentia! information on Plaintiffs, upon an
illegal service of an invalid and unseen search warrant allegedly issued by
magistrate Tina Todd.

61. On September 23, 2016 officer Blair obtained two overbroad invalid search
warrants from magistrate Jessica Chaffin to be served by the Monroe County
Sheriff or any Peace Officer for the search and seizure of the business records of
Lesly Pompy located at Interventional Pain Management, 730 North Macomb
Street, Monroe, Michigan and/or the business records of Interventional Pain
Management Associates [sic], an entity reportedly specifically described. EXHIBITS
18&2.

62. MB& T VP Susan Mehregan and VP Thomas Scott released to officer Robert
Blair CDs containing financial information on Plaintiffs and other related account
holders.

63. The affidavits for search warrants were overbroad, invalid as to substance
and form, with a long list of the records to be searched without their exact
location; without the court name, address, and case number; without the printed
name of the magistrate; withoutthe legible signature of the magistrate/judge.

64. The search warrants were invalid in that they failed to give the court name,
address, and case number; to give the printed name of the magistrate/judge; to
give the unnamed property owners an opportunity to reclaim their property as

required by law.

65. On September 26, 2016, under the command of LT. Marc Moore, numerous
state and federal law enforcement officers raided Dr. Pompy office and home in
Monroe, Michigan.

66. On September 27, 2016 magistrate Jessica Chaffin of the First District Court of
Michigan issued an overbroad and invalid search warrant for the search and
seizure at MB& T by the Sheriff or any Peace officer of all accounts or account
information related to Lesly Pompy and Interventional Pain Management

11
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Associates [sic]. MB& T mistakenly furnished account information on

67. On September 28, 2016 three invalid search warrants were issued by judge
Jack Vitale of the First District Court of Michigan for the search and seizure by the
Sheriff or any Peace Officer of all accounts or account information of Lesly Pompy
and Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic] located, (1) at Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner, Smith Inc. (Merrill Lynch) in the State of Florida; {2), at E*Trade
Securities, LLC (E*Trade) in the State of New Jersey ; and (3), at Monroe County
Community Credit Union in the State of Michigan. EXHIBITS 4,5 & 6.
Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic] was unknown to Plaintiffs at the

Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C. EXHIBIT 3.
location given.

68. On December 22, 2016 an in rem civil procedure action against Dr. Pompy, as
claimant, was filed in Monroe County Circuit Court and served in January 2017
upon Dr. Pompy’s attorneys by service of a summons and complaint.

69. On March 16, 2018 the Monroe County Circuit Court dismissed the in rem ‘
civil forfeiture action, and at the same time all the search warrants of the first |
District Court of Michigan as corollaries.

70. On June 26, 2018 a federal criminal forfeiture action was commenced against
Dr. Pompy based on law enforcement misrepresentations, tainted evidences
obtained on September 26, 2016, an invalid search warrant issued illegally on
August 14, 2017 by magistrate Jessica Chaffin, and the illegal use and possession
of tainted medical records and devices held and obtained illegally by Lt. Marc
Moore and DEA agent Brian Bishop in violation of a Monroe County Circuit Court
judge White Turnover order of March 16, 2018.

71. Plaintiffs Claim for false arrest and illegal imprisonment accrued on December
22, 2016, March 16, 2018, June 26, 2018; from the government shutdown, and
continuing until the disposition of the federal criminal forfeiture proceedings.

From the last accrual date, the claim will accrue within 10 years under Brandon
D’Annunzio’s law for extortion (MCL 764. 24 (6), and (24 b); within 3 years for
12
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abuse of process [ (MCL 600. 5805 (10)] by law enforcement, agent Bishop, and

Blue Cross; within 3 years for false light claim and for breach of fiduciary duty by

Monroe Bank and Trust (MCL 600. 5805 (10); within 2 years in this action charging

, Michigan Law enforcement, and agent Bishop with assault, battery, and false

| imprisonment (MCL 600-5805 (2) (600-5805 (2); and within 2 years against officer
Robert Blair, if he was in writing deputed by the Monroe County sheriff and had
filed a $2,500.00 bond under MCL 51.70, thus making him responsible for his
acts, defaults, misconducts; and any action for malfeasance, misfeasance, or
nonfeasance as permitted by MCL 51.79.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

72. With the closing of the office of Monroe Pain Center of Dr. Oscar Linares in
the City of Monroe, Dr. Pompy experienced a large increase in demands for
medical care and treatment.

73. Patients of Dr. Linares were reportedly refused treatment in other medical
offices for fear of MSP/MANTIS Lt. Marc Moore.

74. Dr. Danilo Dona, a family physician, posted in social media that he would give
his patients a referral, but he was not filling medication for Dr. Pompy and Dr.
Mekasha. Both Dr. Pompy and Mekasha are black.

75. Dr. Dona advised his patients to find out which pain management physicians
take their insurance because he did not have any names of any pain management
physicians at this time.

76. In accord with his agreement with Blue Cross, his Hippocratic Oath, his First

Amendment Rights, his right to work enshrined in the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights, and his right not be prevented from doing so, Dr. Pompy accepted
the new patients.

13
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77. Dr. Pompy offered reasonable accommodation to the patients who were
living outside of the City of Monroe, more than 40 miles away, who could not find
a physician, or could not afford to lose a day from work.

78. Dr. Pompy was bound to care for and treat Medicare and Medicaid patients
of Blue Cross and Blue Cross Complete under an agreement requiring patients
access to him 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

79. Dr. Pompy changed his office schedule from 8:00 A.M. to late at night and
hired up to 28 full time/part time employees.

80. Dr. Pompy was bound by an implied in-fact contract to treat Medicare and
Medicaid patients of Blue Cross and Blue Cross Complete.

81. Blue Cross and Blue Cross Complete had a contract implied in law to pay
Plaintiffs when medical services are rendered to their members.

82. Plaintiffs were the third-party beneficiaries to the contract between the
patients and Blue Cross and Blue Cross Complete.

83. In retaliation, the Monroe County Prosecutor and Lt. Marc Moore decided to
criminally investigate Plaintiffs with the assistance of Blue Cross.

84. On November 12, 2015 Blue Cross investigator Brian Zasadny wrote to his
manager Michael Zsenynk , “ D/L Marc Moore of Mantis and Monroe County
Prosecutor William Nichols are requesting the assistance of BCBSM in order to
investigate Dr. Pompy in regards to his prescribing habits”. This request was in
fact a violation of 21 USC 802 (56) (C).

85. Defendant Zasadny added that Dr. Pompy, according to Prosecutor Nichols,
has taken the place of another provider (Dr. Linares) in the area who had been
charged with running a “pill mill”. This was defamation, a violation of Dr. Pompy
right to work under the First Amendment.

14
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86. On December 10, 2015 Dr. Robertson referred Blue Cross investigator James
Howell under the fake patient name of “James Stewart” to Dr. Pompy for pain
management.

87. In January 2016 Blue Cross Brian Zasadny officially assigned James Howell
to conduct undercover (UC) visits to Dr. Pompy’s office under the fake name of
|“James Stewart” and under the supervision of MSP/MANTIS Lt Marc Moore, in
violation of MCL 338.823, Sec. 3. (1), (2), and {3).

88. Patient “James Stewart” installed and placed on him a device for observing,
recording, transmitting, photographing, and eavesdropping upon sounds and
events at Dr. Pompy’s office, in violation of Michigan Comp. Laws Sec. 750.539d.

89. Patient “James Stewart” was a Blue Cross employee, not regulated under
Public Act 285 of 1965 and not authorized by BPL to investigate business. He
listened to private conversations of Dr. Pompy employees and patients without a
court order in violation of 18. U.S.C. 2510 et seq. See also U.S. Dept. of Justice,
Manual CRM 1-499, CRM 1-99; 28. Electronic Surveillance-Title ||| Applications.

90. Dr. Pompy himself, his employees, and his patients reasonably expected to be
safe from hostile intrusion or surveillance. Mich. Comp. Laws Sec. 750.539a.

91. Patient “James Stewart” filed his reports with Blue Cross, Monroe County
Prosecutor’s Office, MANTIS, DEA, and Dr. Carl Christensen, in violation of Mich.
Comp. Laws Sec. 750.539e prohibiting him from using or divulging any
information which he knew or reasonably should know was obtained in violation
of other wiretapping laws.

92. Patient “James Stewart”, prior to his visits to Dr. Pompy, signed with Blue
Cross, in violation of Michigan Workers Compensation Laws, an agreement under
which, “I {James Howell) am aware of CFl U/C policies concerning invasive
procedures and x-rays and accept full responsibility if | submit to any of the
aforementioned procedures releasing BCBSM of any liability.”

15
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93. MSP, MANTIS, the Prosecutor’s Office, Blue Cross Michael Zsenyuk and agent
Brian Zasadny permitted defendant James Howell to use at Dr. Pompy’s office:

a) An identity card under the fake name “James Stewart” in violation of Michigan
Fake ID Law, the Real ID Act of 2005, IRS Rule, and the Tax Law.

b) A fake Michigan driver license No. S 363 367 758 544, with date of birth
7/9/70, issuance date 11/5/ 14, expiration date 7/9/18, in violation of Michigan
Vehicle Code.

c) Invalid Social Security No. 479-81-6945 in violation of the federal Employee
Retirement Income Security Act, 29 U.S.C. Sec. 1001-1461 and the Tax Law.

|
d) An ad hoc insurance card showing, “Enrollee ID No. XYY925081728” and
“Group No. 007023356, in violation of Michigan Health Care False Claim Act of
1984 (MCL 752.1003 Sec. 3), and Michigan Insurance Law, and the Tax Laws.

94. Blue Cross Brian Zasadny further provided officer Robert Blair with the name
and address of the Plaintiffs bank obtained from the payment records of Blue
Cross Complete.

95. On September 21, 2016, upon information illegally obtained from Zasadny,

officer Robert Blair reportedly served upon Susan Mehregan, Vice President and
Deputy General Counsel with MB& T, at 102 East Front St, Monroe, MI 48161, a
search warrant for financial records for Lesly Pompy.

96. Mrs. Mehregan gave officer Blair the information requested in violation of
MCL 487.691 protecting depositor against Adverse Claim to Bank Deposit.

97. The First District Court of Michigan then issued six additional overbroad and
invalid search warrants upon affidavits of officer Robert Blair.

98. The warrants have no name, address, and case number of the issuing court.

99. The warrants were not based on any information showing probable cause,
but were based only on Robert Blaise theories.
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100. The name of magistrate Jessica Chaffin who issued the warrants was not
printed.

101. The search warrants failed to state specifically the address of the property
to be searched and the items to be seized.

102. The search warrants were issued in violation of Michigan Civil Forfeiture
Law, and in violation of SCAOQ rules regarding its prescribed forms for affidavits

and search warrants.

103. The search warrants were transferred to the jurisdiction of the Monroe
County Circuit Court on March 16, 2018 upon consolidation with the People civil
forfeiture action against Dr. Pompy, and were dismissed on the same date as
corollaries of the forfeiture action.

104. The dismissal of the civil forfeiture action invalidated all the search warrants.

105. Law enforcement officers violated MCL 780.658 under which, “any person
who maliciously and without probable cause procures a search warrant to be
issued and executed shall be fined not more than $1,000.00 or imprisoned not
more than 1 year.”

106. With the release on September 21, 2016 of financial information on Dr.
Pompy and IPM by Susan Mehregan and Thomas Scott, officer Robert Blair
authored and obtained on September 23, 2016 from magistrate Jessica Chaffin
two invalid search warrants for execution at Dr. Pompy office and home.

107. On September 26, 2016, law enforcement raided the medical practice of Dr.
Pompy at Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C., 730 North Macomb
Street, Monroe, Michigan; and the home of Dr. Pompy, 533 North Monroe Street,
Monroe, Michigan.

108. MANTIS Lt. Marc Moore was the commanding officer; officer Robert Blair
was the supervisor of the operation; DEA agent Brian Bishop was the lead
investigator.
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109. Officer Shawn Kotsch participated in the search and seizure, and
interviewed Dr. Pompy, his patients, and visitors without the presence of an
attorney.

110. Officer Robert Blair himself, although the affiant, executed the search
warrants in violation of Magistrate Chaffin order, and in violation of MCL 51.84,
which requires that search warrants shall be served upon the Sheriff’s Office for
execution.

111. Officer Robert Blair was not an appointed deputy sheriff under Michigan
MCL 51.70 or an appointed undersheriff under Michigan MCL 51.71.

112. Plaintiffs property at Merrill Lynch, E*Trade, and i-Patient Care was not
physically searched prior to the seizures as ordered by magistrate Chaffin and
judge Vitale. Plaintiffs financial accounts were illegally seized/frozen without a
physical search by detective Jon La Sotta in September 2016. La Sotta seized and
froze the accounts by sending a FAX and EMAIL to Merrill Lynch in Florida and to
E*Trade in New Jersey in violation of court orders and the statutes.

Plaintiffs patients medical records were not physically searched, but were seized
by officer Blair in August 2017 by sending a FAX and EMAIL to iPatient Care in
New Jersey. Release of medical records of patients on substance abuse requires a
special court order.

113. Sheriff Dale Malone had jurisdiction over the execution of the search
warrants. He should have been served with the warrants by detective Blair at his
office at 102 E. second St, Monroe, M| 48161.

114. Law enforcement agencies who participated in both raids were: MANTIS,
DEA, Michigan State Police uniformed trooper, Special Response Team
(SRT/SWAT), Monroe City Police Department, Monroe County Uniformed
Services, Monroe Vice (MPD and MCSQ), GS, SA, TFO.

115. Law enforcement officers who participated in the raid of Dr. Pompy medical
practice were, inter alia, officer Street, officer La Sotta, officer Brent Cathey, and
DEA officer Christina Hicks.
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116. Officer Hicks transcribed the video recordings from Investigator Howell’s
visits to Dr. Pompy ’s office, printed out “James Stewart” patient file, and
organized it in chronological order.

117. Law enforcement officers who participated in the raid of Dr. Pompy home
were MANTIS D/Sgt Beard, detective Cathey (OIC), and detective Jon La Sotta;
MPD Vice Unit SGT. Lindsay, officer Oetjens, officer Merkle; and MSP Det. Sproud.

118. At or about 8:15 A.M. agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, and officer
Shawn Kotsch arrived at Dr. Pompy’s office at ProMedica Monroe Regional
Hospital and showed their badges.

119. Agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, and officer Kotsch did not produce a

Notice of Inspection of Controlled Substances {DEA Form 82); an administrative i
inspection warrant; an administrative subpoena; a search warrant or a subpoena ‘
| from the Monroe County District Court or the Monroe County Circuit Court or the
' U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Michigan, Southern Division.

120. Agent Bishop, Lt. Moore, and officer Kotsch interviewed Dr. Pompy in the
absence of his attorney in violation of his Fifth and his Sixth Amendments Rights;
and illegally ordered him to produce the list and the files of his Suboxone patients

121. Dr. Pompy quietly complied with the order without incident.

122. Agent Bishop, Lt. Moore, and officer Kotsch reviewed the Suboxone files,

in violation of State and federal statutes.
|
took note, and left the office after 45 minutes. {
|
|
|

123. Dr. Pompy was induced to believe that DEA was about to conduct its first
inspection and evaluation under 21 USC 1301.71 (b).

124. At or about 10:00 A.M. agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, officer Robert
Blair, and officer Shawn Kotsch returned suddenly to the office in full force,
screaming and yelling, with several masked gunmen, guns drawn, with such
severity that patients, employees, several people and their children got scared,

screamed hysterically, trembling in fear of a robbery.
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125. Patients medical records were seized manu military without a valid search
warrant.

126. The search and seizure was a violation of the Fourth Amendment and
Michigan Constitution protecting against unreasonable search and seizure.

127. MANTIS officers and DEA agent Brian Bishop trashed the office; dispersed
everything to the floor; took away important documents, administrative fites, and
medical records of the patients.

128. MANTIS officers and DEA agent Brian Bishop caused considerable damage to
the office in violation of Michigan 780.657 prohibiting any person executing a
search warrant to willfully exceed his authority or exercise it with unnecessary

severity.

129. Patients and employees were not permitted for hours to leave the office in
violation of MCL 780.652 {2); the Fourth Amendment and Michigan Constitution
protecting against unreasonable searches and seizures; the Due Process Clause
and Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendments protecting Dr.
Pompy civil rights, liberty, and property.

130. Law enforcement illegally seized, inter alia, cash in U.S. currency and foreign
currency, patients medical records, original data, computers, |Pad data, IPhone,

patient cash co-pays, patient payments by checks, employee attendance
software; mobiles phones of employees Erika Kandler, Diana Knight, Jordan Rippe,
and Dr. Pompy; and Dr. Pompy U.S. passports without a court order.

131. The value of the seized items was over and above the $25,000.00
jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan; outside the judicial authority of
magistrate Chaffin; and outside the scope of the search warrants.

132. Under emotional distress and duress, Dr. Pompy’'s memory became
adversely impacted.

133. Victim of a gunshot wound in the left arm in 1985, Dr. Pompy suffered from
! emotionally adverse, intrusive recurring thoughts of the 1985 trauma.
| 20
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134. Dr. Pompy negative thoughts produced significant emotional distress.

135. Officer Robert Blair photographed the scene and videotaped the search and
sejzure with audio.

136. The noise was so loud that it disturbed visitors, patients, employees, and
physicians at ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital.

137. Physicians, nurses, employees, administrators of the hospital became more
agitated upon noting that the raid was being executed by Lt. Marc Moore,
husband of Molly Moore.

138. Molly Moore was the Executive Director of the Philanthropic Division of
ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital.

139. Agent Brian Bishop imaged the computer drives in violation of the
Computer Fraud and Abuse Act; the Health Insurance Portability Laws and
Accountability Act (HIPAA); Blue Cross Blue Shield HIPPA Compliance Statements;
the Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2); the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR); federal, state, and local privacy laws and
rule.

140. Agent Brian Bishop reviewed the computer files; seized the contract
between Insys and Dr. Pompy, and a Subsis Presentation by Dr. Pompy, in
violation of the Privacy Laws and in violation of Dr. Pompy Right to Financial
Privacy Act (12 U.S.C. 3401, et seq.)

141. Officer Jon La Sotta maliciously obtained from i-Patient Care the password
of Dr. Pompy Computers by sending them in New lersey a copy of an invalid
search warrant, not directed to them, but already served and executed for the
search and seizure of the property of Dr. Pompy in Monroe, Michigan.

142. Officer La Sotta immediately downloaded 1500 patient medical records from
January 20, 2016 to September 26, 2016 and handed them over to officer Robert
Blair, thus breaking the chain of custody.
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143. Officer Robert Blair gave copies of the files to agent Brian Bishop, officer
Shawn Kotsch, MSP/MANTIS, Monroe County Prosecutor’s office, thus breaking
the chain of custody.

144. MSP/MANTIS made copies of the files for Blue Cross, thus breaking the
chain of custody.

145. Agent Brian Bishop gave copies of the files to Dr. Leon Pedell, BPL, and
Vaughn Hafner, thus breaking the chain of custody.

146. Officer La Sotta illegally received on October 7, 2016 from i-Patient Care the
entire Dr. Pompy’s patient medical records totaling 3,241 files.

147. Among those patients were, inter alia, patients covered by Medicare,
Medicaid, Blue Cross, and other carriers, on Methadone, Suboxone, and/or other

148. Among the medical records illegally obtained by officer L Sotta were:

a) The records of Danielle Andrews, Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher, Evelyn Sarnowsky,
John Hernandez;

b) 10,134 pages or records, pertaining to patients Danielle Andrews, Terry Brooks,

Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher, John Hernandez, Cheryl Hollingsworth, Michael Mudge,
Judy Shinevarre, Heidi Smallwood, and Jes Staten.

c) The records of James Stewart, Ricky Bryant, Tracy Lapalme, Diana Knight,
Stephanie Stine, Floyd England, Rokin Oldham, Lisa Kohlman, Gerard Toro, Joey
Shienevare, Angela McBee, Kristen Reaster, Melissa Ball, KW, Lowry Bradley.

d) 16,000 pages of medical records forwarded by agent Brian Bishop to Dr. Leon

\
controlled substances. ‘
Pedell.

e) 11,000 pages of records forwarded by BPL to Dr. Leon Pedell.

f) 24 SUBSIS files illegally obtained by Blue Cross from MANTIS and given to Dr.
Christensen for review, thus breaking the Chain of Custody.
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149. All the files are still illegally in possession of the defendants and/or their
attorneys in violation of judge White order, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act,
the Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act {(HIPAA); Biue Cross
Blue Shield HIPPA Compliance Statements; the Confidentiality of Substance Use
Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2); the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADR); federal, state, and local privacy laws; and the Chain of Custody

150. Officer Blair also handed copies of the medical files to agent Brian Bishop
and officer Shawn Kotsch, in violation of the Health Insurance Portability Laws
and Accountability Act (HIPAA); the Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder
Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2); the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR); the
Privacy Laws, Blue Cross Blue Shield HIPAA Compliance Statements; and federal,
state and local privacy laws; and the Chain of Custody.

151. Protected medical files, patients identities, MAPS data were copied,

reproduced, disclosed, re-disclosed, divulged by agent Brian Bishop and officer

Robert Blair, and distributed to MCPQ, BCBSM, Michigan Department of Attorney

General (MDAG), LARA, Dr. Cari Christensen, and Dr. Leon Pedell, in violation of

the Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act (HIPAA); the

Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2); the |
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR); federal, state, and local privacy laws; Blue

Cross Blue Shield HIPAA Compliance Statements, and Chain of Custody.

152. Lt. Marc Moore detained Dr. Pompy in his office from 10:00 AM until 3:30
PM, in violation of the Fifth Amendment prohibiting deprivations of life, liberty, or
property without due process.

153. Lt. Marc Moore kept Dr. Pompy in solitary confinement, in a bounded
place, without access to the office phone, for 5 % hours, from 10:00 A.M. to 3:30

P.M. until Dr. Pompy was transferred to Monroe County Jail.

154. Lt. Marc Moore subjected Dr. Pompy to a condition tantamount to cruel and
unusual punishment prohibited under the Eight Amendment, by not permitting
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him to have lunch; to have access to drinking water or his medicines; to go to the
toilet for his natural needs; or to call his attorney.

155. No officer of the same rank as Lt. Marc Moore would reasonably believe
that Lt. Marc Moore was acting within the scope of his authority. [MCL. 691.1407
Sec.7 (2) (a)]

156. The conduct of Lt. Moore was reckless and demonstrated a substantial lack
of concern for whether an injury results. MCL 691.1407 {8) (a).127.

157. The conduct of Lt. Marc Moore amounts to gross negligence which is the

(c).

158. Dr. Pompy’s attorney, Geoge B. Donnini, arrived at Dr. Pompy’s office at/or
about 1:00 PM after the employees were released one by one and were able to

|
i
|
proximate cause of Dr. Pompy’s injuries and damages. MCL 691.1407 Sec. 7 (2) |
|

contact him.

|
159. Lt. Marc Moore questioned Dr. Pompy in the absence of his attorney, once ‘
prior to the search, once during the search, once after the search, and once on |
March 2, 2017 in violation of Dr. Pompy Fifth Amendment Rights against self- }
incrimination and Sixth Amendment Rights to the assistance of counsel.
|
|
|

160. Dr. Pompy had not reviewed and signed a Miranda Waiver prior to the
interviews.

161. Agent Brian Bishop illegally questioned Dr. Pompy three times in the
absence of his attorney: once prior to the search, once after the search, and once
on March 2, 2017 in the parking lot of ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital in
violation of Dr. Pompy Fifth and Sixth Amendments Rights.

162. Dr. Pompy had not reviewed and signed a Miranda Waiver prior to the
interviews.

163. Officer Shawn Kotsch interviewed Dr. Pompy and the persons present during
the search and seizure of the office property without the presence on an attorney

24
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in violation of the Sixth Amendment protecting Dr. Pompy rights to counsel; and
in violation of the Fifth Amendment against self-incrimination.

164. Dr. Pompy had not reviewed and signed a Miranda Waiver prior to the
interviews.

165. Lt. Moore, agent Bishop, and officer Kotsch did not inform Dr. Pompy, prior
to the custodial interrogations, that he had the right to remain silent; that
anything he said could be used against him at trial; that he had the right to the
assistance of a lawyer; and that if he could not afford a lawyer, the government
would provide him with one.

166. Agent Brian BISHOP accused Dr. Pompy of having committed many
violations and, jointly with Lt. Marc Moore and officer Shawn Kotsch, placed Dr.
Pompy under arrest without an arrest warrant.

167. The arrest of Dr. Pompy was outside the scope of employment and authority
of agent Brian Bishop.

168. Agent Brian Bishop act and action constitutes misconduct, willful and
wonton negligence, abuse of power and authority, retaliation.

169. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch did not give
the Miranda warning to Dr. Pompy.

170. Dr. Pompy was then handcuffed and transported in a police car, at or about
3:30 P. M., to Monroe County Jail (MCJ) by MPD Vice Officers OETJENS and
Merkle without incident.

171. At the Monroe County Jail Dr. Pompy was photographed, fingerprinted, and
placed in a cell with other inmates.

172. At 8:30 PM Dr. Pompy was finally released from Monroe County Jail without
charge, after a total of 10 hours and 30 minutes of detention, solitary
confinement, and illegal imprisonment, pending warrant authorization by the
Monroe County Prosecutor, in violation of his Fifth Amendment Right.
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173. Agent Brian Bishop, MANTIS officers, and DEA agents illegally searched and
seized at Dr. Pompy’s office numerous items outside the jurisdiction of the First
District Court of Michigan, outside the scope of the judicial authority of
magistrate Chaffin, and outside the scope of the illegal, overbroad, and invalid
search warrant.

174. The value of the items seized was over and above the $25,000.00
jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

175. MANTIS officers searched Dr. Pompy’s home in the morning until 12 noon
approximately and seized numerous items outside the scope of an invalid search
warrant, outside the scope of the judicial authority of magistrate Chaffin, and
over and above the $25,000.00 jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

176. At or about noon, after the end of the improper search and seizure at Dr.
Pompy’s home, Mantis officers closed the doors, secured the premises, and left.

177. In the afternoon, agent Brian Bishop went to Dr. Pompy’s home in the
absence of MANTIS law officers and without the knowledge of officer Brent
Cathey who was responsible for the search.

178. Agent Brian Bishop broke into Dr. Pompy’s home, without the authority of a
search warrant, in violation of:

(1) MCL 691.1407 Sec. 8 (d) ii;

(2) U.S. and Michigan Constitution;

(3) The Trespass and Deception Rule of the Fourth Amendment
(4) Federal, state, and local privacy laws and Rule.

179. Agent Brian Bishop conduct equates to burglary, subject to fine, demotion,
dismissal, or felony charges.

180. Bishop conducted his own search, seized, numerous items from the first,
second, and third floor of the premises without a valid search warrant or a
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subpoena, and illegally removed them to his office in DEA Detroit Field Office
without a court order.

181. On September 27, 2016, officer Robert Blair executed an invalid search
warrant at MB& T, by service of a copy thereof upon its Vice President and
Deputy General Counsel Susan Mehregan.

182. Officer Robert Blair was the affiant and was not ordered by magistrate
Chaffin to serve and execute the invalid search warrants.

183. Service of the search warrant by officer Robert Blair himself was illegal, and
consequently null, void, and of no effect.

184. The invaiid search warrants of the First District Court were based on
retaliation, illegality, fraud, deception, defamation, and caused the loss, seizure
and freeze of Plaintiffs property and financial accounts.

185. On September 29, 2016 detective Robert Blair, through detective Jon La
Sotta who had access to MANTIS FAX machine, transmitted a copy of an invalid
search warrant to Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner and Smith Incorporated (Merrill
Lynch).

186. Officer Robert Blair was not a deputy sheriff or undersheriff, but a MCSO
detective unqualified by law to serve search warrants under MCL 51.21 and
Michigan Court Rules, Rule 2.103 (B).

187. Service by detective Robert Blair of the invalid warrant was illegal and is
deemed void, null, and of no effect.

188. Service of the invalid search warrant by mail to Merrill Lynch violated DUE
PROCESS, Florida and New Jersey Rules of Civil Procedure for service of process
upon corporations.

189. On September 28, 2016 detective Blair, through detective Jon La Sotta
again, transmitted a copy of an invalid search warrant by FAX to E*Trade
Financial, LLC (E*Trade).
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190. Officer Blair was not a deputy sheriff or undersheriff, but a MCSO detective
unqualified to serve search warrants under MCL 51.21 and Michigan Court Rules,
Rute 2.103 (B).

191. The service of the invalid search warrant by FAX to E*Trade violated DUE
PROCESS, Michigan and New Jersey Rules of Civil Procedure for service of process
upon corporations.

192. On September 29, 2016, £E*Trade sent its answer to Robert Blair at 7150
Harris Drive, Dimondale, M| 48821.

193. E*Trade informed Robert Blair that their records reflected the following
accounts and sums which may be subject to the Summons and Levy:

Brokerage xxxx-8412 Individual Restricted Lesley Pompy Sole Owner XXX
Brokerage xxxx-3195 Contributory Restricted Lesley Pompy Sole Owner XXX
Brokerage xxxx-4850  Individual Restricted Lesley Pompy Sole Owner XXX

194. Unless there is a tax levy or other legal process called “eminent domain,”
the US Government has no legal standing to seize the contents of protected Dr.
Pompy and IPM retirement accounts, such as 401 K, IRA, Thrift Savings Plan, self-
employed retirement plan, or any other retirement plan.

195. On September 30, 2016 Merrill Lynch sent its answer to Robert Blair at 7150
Harris Drive, Dimondale, MI 48821.

196. Merrill Lynch informed officer Robert Blair under MICHIGAN FOIA that the
following accounts were restrained:

Title of Account Account No. Type of Account
Leslie Pompy xxx-6591 IRRA
Leslie Pompy xxx-8177 IRA
Leslie Pompy xxx-x2H39 IRA
Leslie Pompy/Keogh Plan xxx-x5U41 CASH
Leslie Pompy Xxx-x5y61 MARGIN
Interventional Pain Management xxx-x5235 RCMA
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IPMA Profit Sharing

FBO DR, Lesly Pompy

Interventional Pain Management xxx-x5234 RCMA
Associates, P.C.

197. Unless there is a tax levy or other legal process called “eminent domain,”
the US Government has no legal standing to seize the contents of Dr. Pompy and
IPM protected accounts, such as 401 K, IRA, Thrift Savings Plan, self-employed
retirement plan, or any other retirement plan.

198. Officer Robert Blair knew that IRRA, IRA, and RCMA accounts were pension
accounts protected under the federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act,
29 U.S.C. Sec. 1001-146. He should not have seized and frozen those accounts.

199. Plaintiffs accounts at MB& T were in addition over and above the
$25,000.00 jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

200. Magistrate Jessica Chaffin knowingly exceeded the jurisdiction of the First
District Court and acted outside the scope of her judicial authority in ordering the
Sheriff or any Peace Officer to search, seize, and freeze Plaintiffs accounts at MB&
T.

201. Piaintiffs out-of-state accounts at Merrill Lynch in Florida and at E*Trade in
New Jersey were not within the jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

202. Judge Vitale knowingly exceeded the jurisdiction of the First District Court of
Michigan and acted outside the scope of his judicial authority in ordering the
Sheriff or any Peace Officer to search and seize under Michigan Civil Forfeiture
law financial accounts located outside of Monroe County at Merrill Lynch in
Florida and at E*Trade in New Jersey.

203. Officer Blair affidavits for search warrant and magistrate Chaffin search
warrants did not comply with the required official forms prescribed by the State
Court Administrative Office (SCAO) and were improper and invalid.
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204. There is no transcript of the minutes of the hearing before Magistrate TINA
TODD for the issuance of an invalid search warrant on September 21, 2016.

205. Magistrate Todd’s acts and actions amount to misconduct, and particularly
gross negligence that is the proximate cause of the injury and damage to
Plaintiffs.

206. There is no transcript of the minutes of the hearing before Magistrate Jessica
Chaffin for the issuance of the invalid search warrants on September 23 and 27,
2016.

207. Magistrate Chaffin’s acts and actions amount to misconduct, and
particularly gross negligence that is the proximate cause of the injury and damage
to Plaintiffs.

208. There is no transcript of the minutes of the hearing before Judge Jack Vitale |
for the issuance of the invalid search warrants on September 28, 2016.

209. Judge Vitale’s acts and actions amount to misconduct, and particularly gross
negligence that is the proximate cause of the injury and damage to Plaintiffs.

210. Magistrate Jessica Chaffin and Judge Jack Vitale ordered the suppression of
the affidavits for search warrants until Dr. Pompy had been charged with a crime
or named a claimant in a civil forfeiture proceeding, thus accruing Plaintiffs Claim.

211. A civil forfeiture action was filed in Monroe County Circuit Court on
December 22, 2016 and served upon Dr. Pompy’s attorneys in January 2017.

212. OnJune 26, 2018 a federal criminal forfeiture action was commenced
against Dr. Pompy based upon:

a) An invalid search warrant obtained by officer Robert Blair on August 14, 2017
from magistrate Jessica Chaffin who lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter.

b} The federal prosecutor use of and reliance on tainted medical records and
devices in the illegal use, possession and control of officer Robert Blair, officer
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John La Sotta, MSP/MANTIS, and DEA agent Brian Bishop on and after September
26, 2016, in violation of the chain of custody legal context.

c) An alleged federal Anticipatory Search Warrant reportedly filed in February
2018, but found to be an application for search warrant dated May 23, 2018 to
the U.S. District Court.

d) The violation of a March 16, 2018 Monroe County Circuit Court order, which
directed Prosecutor Nichols and MANTIS to return all the seized property within
14 days after March 30, 2017, except certain financial accounts designated
TARGET ACCOUNTS.

e) An invalid application of Special Agent Michael Hendricks addressed to no one
on May 23, 2018 for “electronic devices seized pursuant to a State of Michigan
Search Warrant executed by DEA/MSP.” The search warrant was invalid and was
already dismissed on March 6, 2018. The application of agent Hendricks shows no
probable cause and is deemed invalid, void, null, and of no effect for lack of an
exact description and exact location of the property, the identification of the
person it is addressed to by name and address, and the violation of the Chain of
Custody legal context.

213. Agent Michael Hendricks failed to obtain a warrant to search the contents
of the seized computers, cell phones, and other devices.

\Y
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

215. This is a complaint for false light claim and for a combined claim for damages
as a result of injuries and loss of property arising out of the defendants violations
of civil rights, breach of contract, defamation, deceit, frauds on September 21 and
26, 2016; out of the defendants discrimination, retaliation, misconduct, wonton
and willful negligence on and after September 26, 2016; and out of the
defendants violation of the Chain of Custody legal context.
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216. On December 22, 2016 The People commenced an in rem civil forfeiture
action titled People of the State of Michigan ex rel William P. Nichols, Monroe
County Prosecuting Attorney v. $27,814.00 in U.S. Currency; $346,847.63 at the
Monroe Bank and Trust; $404,324.67 at E-Trade; $1,102,210.65 at Merryl Lynch;
$4,018.00 at Monroe Community Credit Union; 2015 Nissan Pathfinder; one
SHOTGUN and real property at 533 North Monroe Street, Monroe, Michigan, in
Monroe County Circuit Court, File No. 16-139517-CF. Honorable Daniel S. White.

217. The Monroe County Prosecutor’s Office falsely theorized that the seized
property and Dr. Pompy’s residence were the proceeds or instrumentalities of
crime that were subject to forfeiture under the Michigan Public Health Code.

218. More than a year had elapsed and Dr. Pompy was not able to obtain from
the Monroe County Clerk’s Office copies of officer Blair invalid affidavits dated
September 23, 27, and 28, 2016.

219. Dr. Pompy lost the opportunity, prior to the commencement of the in rem
civil forfeiture action, to appeal to the Monroe County Circuit Court for the
dismissal of the District Court invalid search warrants issued by magistrate Jessica
Chaffin, on the ground that the latter (1) lacked jurisdiction over Dr. Pompy
$27,814.00 in U.S. Currency and other financial accounts illegally seized during
the raid; (2) on further ground that the latter acted outside the scope of her
judicial authority; and (3} on further ground that probable cause did not exist.

220. Dr. Pompy lost the opportunity, prior to the commencement of the in rem
civil forfeiture action, to timely ask the Florida Circuit Court not to recognize the
Michigan invalid search warrant, on the ground, (1) that service thereof was
improper; {2) that the First District Court of Michigan lacked jurisdiction outside
of Monroe in in rem civil forfeiture action; (3) that judge Vitale acted outside of
the scope of his judicial authority; and (4) that probable cause did not exist.

221. Dr. Pompy lost the opportunity, prior to the commencement of the in rem
civil forfeiture action, to timely ask the New Jersey Superior Court not to
recognize the Michigan search warrant, on the ground, (1) that service of the
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search warrant was improper; (2} that the First District Court of Michigan lacked
jurisdiction over property outside of Monroe County; (3) that judge Vitale acted
outside of the scope of his judicial authority; and (5) that probable cause did not
exist.

222. On March 2, 2017, DEA summarily suspended Dr. Pompy's certificates of
registration upon the false statements and misrepresentations of Blue Cross, DEA
agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, officer Robert Blair, investigator James
Howell, Dr. Christensen, and pharmacist Vaugh Hafner.

223. On the same day Lt. Marc Moore and agent Brian Bishop met Dr. Pompy at
the ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital parking lot and asked him, again in the
absence of his attorney, to surrender his DEA certificates of registration and to
waive the upcoming DEA hearing.

224. Lt. Marc Moore and agent Brian Bishop knowingly violated again Dr. Pompy
rights to an attorney under the Sixth Amendment.

225. On March 22, 2017 Dr. Pompy filed his answer in the civil forfeiture action
in the Monroe County Circuit Court and asserted the following affirmative
defenses:

1) The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
2) The claims are time-barred.

3) The people cannot prove that the seized property is subject to forfeiture
by clear and convincing evidence, as required by law.

4) The warrant authorizing seizure was unlawfully obtained through false
statements.

5) The seized property was, in whole or in part, unlawfully seized.

6) The seized property is, in whole or in part, beyond the Court’s
jurisdiction.
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7) The seized property is, in whole or in part, not subject to forfeiture
under federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act, 29 U.S.C. Sections 1001-
1461.

8) There is insufficient nexus between the property seized and the criminal
activity alleged.

9) The seized property, in whole or in part, are from independent, innocent
source and not traceable to the criminal activity alleged.

10) The forfeiture violates the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eight Amendment
to the U.S. Constitution.

11) The forfeiture violates the Excessive Fines Clause of Article 1, Section 16
of the Michigan Constitution.

226. Dr. Pompy affirmative defenses were never answered for more than a year
and were deemed admitted.

227. InJuly 2017 DEA conducted a hearing on the suspension of Dr. Pompy’s
certificates of registration.

228. DEA submitted to the Chief Administrative Law Judge John J. Mulrooney
five unauthorized SUBSIS files of patients Daniele Andrews, Ricky Bryant, Roy
Fisher, Evelyn Sarnowsky, John Hernandez, plus the file of “James Stewart” in
violation of the Chain of Custody legal context.

229. The five medical files were part of Dr. Pompy 24 SUBSIS medical records
illegally seized by officer Robert Blair, sent to MSP, then cbtained from MSP by
Blue Cross, and thereafter, admittedly distributed by Blue Cross to agent Brian
Bishop and Dr. Carl Christensen, in violation of the Chain of Custody legal context.

230. MSP, MANTIS, Blue Cross, Blue Cross Complete, agent Brian Bishop, officer
Robert Blair, officer Shawn Kotch, and Dr. Carl Christensen obtained the medical
records through an invalid search warrant issued by magistrate Chaffin and are
not covered by HIPAA under 45 CFR Sec. 164.512 {f). They violated Blue Cross
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HIPAA Compliance Statements; State and Federal Privacy Laws prohibiting access
and attempting unauthorized access to members private information under the
Health insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act (HIPAA); the
Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2); the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR); the federal, state, local privacy laws and
rules; and the Chain of Custody legal context.

231. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

Vi
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST VAUGHN HAFNER AND Dr. LEON PEDELL

232. On August 3, 2017 Michigan Bureau of Professional Licensing (BPL)
summarily suspended Dr. Pompy’s license to practice medicine in Michigan, upon
inaccurate and unverified documents of Blue Cross; and upon the false
statements and misrepresentations of agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, officer
Robert Blair, Dr. Christensen, Brian Zasadny, James Stewart, and pharmacist
Vaugh Hafner.

233. An emergency hearing on the BPL suspension of Dr. Pompy’s medical
license was commenced on October 16, 2017 before Administrative Law Judge
Michael j. St. John and lasted five months until March 26, 2018 without any fault
by the Plaintiffs.

234. The hearing was continued on May 30, 2018 and lasted until June 22, 2018
without any fault on the part of the Plaintiffs.

235. More than six months have elapsed since the end of the hearing and there
has been no final decision by the Administrative Law Judge St. John and BPL
Board’s Disciplinary Subcommittee (DSC), in violation of Dr. Pompy Sixth
Amendment right to a speedy trial, applicable to federal courts and incorporated
to apply in state courts.
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236. Evidence submitted before Administrative Law Judge Michael J. St. John by
BPL illegally included in violation of the Chain of Custody legal context:

(1) Dr. Pompy’s ten subpoenaed SUBOXONE patients files, totaling 10,134 pages
of records, pertaining to patients Danielle Andrews, Terry Brooks, Ricky Bryant,
Roy Fisher, John Hernandez, Cheryl Hollingsworth, Michael Mudge, Judy
Shinevarre, Heidi Smallwood, and Jes Staten.

(2) Impermissible submission of MAPS reports pertaining to patients Danielle
Andrews, Terry Brooks, Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher, John Hernandez, Cheryl
Hollingsworth, Michael Mudge, Judy Shinevarre, Heidi Smallwood, and Jes Staten.

(3) 16,000 pages of unauthorized medical records illegally obtained by DEA from
MSP/MANTIS and illegally forwarded to Dr. Leon Pedell.

(4) 11,000 pages of unauthorized medical records illegally forwarded to Dr. Leon
Pedell by BPL;

(5) 3,241 unauthorized patients files illegally and maliciously obtained from i-
Patient Care by officer La Sotta;

(6) Vaughn Hafner, R.Ph. impermissible submission of Confidential 2015 MAPS
data for 2015 and for 1/1/16 to 9/30/16.

(7) Vaughn Hafner, R.Ph. impermissible submission of confidential individual Drug
Monitoring Section MAPS.

(8) Vaughn Hafner, R.Ph. impermissible submission of epidemiology data from the
Michigan Department of health and Human Services.

(9) Vaughn Hafner, R.Ph. impermissible submission of a prior dismissed allegation
# 113108 against Dr. Pompy.

(10) Vaugh Hafner, R.Ph. impermissible submission of “doctor shopper” data from
MAPS between 2014-2015.
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(11) Vaugh Hafner, R.Ph. impermissible false and defamatory statement that the
laboratory tests were ordered as a secondary source of revenue for Dr. Pompy.

(12) Vaugh Hafner, R.Ph. investigation report of February 17, 2017 admitting:

i) That DEA provided various patients medical files as well as an audio recording
of interview held with Dr. Pompy;

ii) That the medical files were predominantly patients who had been prescribed
Subsis;

iii) That DEA provided the medical files to Dr. Christensen for expert opinion.
237. Vaughn Hafner violated the public policy of the state.

238. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

239. Dr. Leon Pedell, a physician identified by his NPI No. 1992744973 —Internal
Medicine Cardiovascutar—admitted on June 30, 2017, as BPL medical expert, “Dr.
Pompy is an Anesthesiologist practicing as a pain management specialist. It is not
for me as an internist to comment on the necessity of the procedures he
performed, the tests he ordered, or his interpretation of the relationship of
imaging reports to his assessment of pain complaints.”

240. Defendant Dr. Leon Pedell confirmed in a letter of June 30, 2017 that he
reviewed 10 cases; that each of the 10 cases was often out of order date wise
with no real way to put things in chronological order and correlate those notes
with hundreds of pages of MAPS information.

241. Defendant Dr. Leon Pedell further added that he reviewed the files as
thoroughly as possible and took extensive notes. Dr. Pedell is not qualified under
Dauber to submit an expert opinion and testify against Dr. Pompy in legal
proceedings.

242. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all the

evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.
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Vi
THE ANTICIPATORY SEARCH WARRANT (S) HAS NO LEGAL SUPPORT

243. In February 2018 an ANTICIPATORY SEIZURE WARRANY allegedly placed
under the jurisdiction of the federal court certain Dr. Pompy and IPM financial
accounts, designated as TARGET ACCOUNTS, which were already illegally seized
and frozen by officer-affiant Robert Blair at MB& T, Merrill lynch, and E*Trade on
September 26, 27, and 28, 2016.

244. To date, there is no evidence in the Eastern District Court, Southern Division,
of the existence of such ANTICIPATORY SEIZURE WARRANT and affidavit related
thereto, in spite of Dr. Pompy due diligence, personnel research, or attorneys
inquiries.

245. On March 16, 2018 Monroe County Circuit Court Judge Daniel S. White
issued a TURNOVER ORDER for the return within 3 days to Dr. Pompy of all in rem
defendants, to wit: Cash Defendant $27,814.00; Vehicle Defendant 2915 Nissan
Pathfinder; and Real Estate Defendant, except certain accounts, designated
TARGET ACCOUNTS located at MB& T, Merrill Lynch, and E-Trade, that were
transferred on consent to the jurisdiction of the federal court upon false
representation that there was an ANTICIPATORY SEARCH WARRANT.

246. Cash Defendant $27, 814.00 in U.S. Currency was visibly over the jurisdiction
of the First District Court of Michigan and should not have been seized on
September 26, 2016.

247. Plaintiffs had no alternative on March 16, 2018, but to give consent to the
transfer of the Target Accounts to the jurisdiction of the federal court, upon
representation that said accounts were already seized and frozen in February
2018 by a federal court ANTICIPATORY SEIZURE WARRANT, whose records were
allegedly sealed. In fact, Honorable Judge White was misled, absent any evidence
of the existence of such anticipatory seizure warrant.
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248. Plaintiffs were later advised that the ANTICIPATORY SEIZURE WARRANT
would have violated due process on the ground:

(A) That the federal court was not informed that the Anticipatory Seizure
Warrant would be based upon a search and seizure warrant issued by magistrate
Jessica Chaffin of the First District Court of Michigan who had no jurisdiction over
the financial accounts.

(B) That the federal court would not have signed an ANTICIPATORY SEIZURE
WARRANT had it been informed of the misconduct, errors, and mistakes of
magistrate Chaffin and judge Jack Vitale of the First District Court of Michigan in
seizing and freezing above their jurisdiction: Plaintiffs $27,814.00 in U.S. Currency;
$346,847.63 at MB& T; $404,324.67 at E*XTrade; $1, 102,210.65 at Merrill Lynch;
and a 2015 Nissan Pathfinder worth over $25,000.00.

(C) That the First District Court search warrants, dismissed on March 16, 2018 as
corollaries of the dismissed civil forfeiture action under a settlement agreement,
would be an illegal basis for the 2018 federal anticipatory warrant, when no

probable cause existed.

D) That Plaintiffs property were turned over to agent Brian Bishop on and after
September 26, 1986, and more than 90 days had elapsed and notice thereof had
not been given to Plaintiffs in violation of 18 USC 983 (a) (1) (A) (iv).

249. The settlement agreement of March 16, 2018 shows the following:

(1) Dr. Pompy and IPM expressly deny the allegations and claims in the in rem
civil forfeiture action.

(2) Neither the agreement nor any of its terms was an express or implied
admission of wrongdoing, misconduct, responsibility, or liability on the part of Dr.
Pompy or IPM.

{3) MCPO agreed to never bring criminal charges against Dr. Pompy and IPM
regarding any aspect of the operation of IPM or Dr. Pompy’s practice of medicine

for actions occurring on or before the effective date of the agreement.
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(4) At paragraph 1.20, “Released Parties means MCPO, MCSD, MPD, and each of
their Agents, except for any agents who (a) participated in the execution of
warrants executed at or on IPM’s Office, Dr. Pompy’s residence, MBT, M3CU,
E*Trade, or Merrill Lynch and (b} are employed or were employed by, assigned to,
or otherwise acting on behalf of MANTIS, MSP, or the Federal Government on the
date(s) that the warrants were executed.”

(5) MCPO will dismiss the Lawsuit with prejudice after securing the entry of
orders by the court.

250. Judge Daniel S. White ordered that financial defendants Merrill Lynch Pierce
Fenner & Smith, INC., MBT Financial Corp., and Monroe County Community Credit
Union be released from all seizure warrants issued and freeze orders entered by
the Monroe County Circuit Court and the First District Court for the State of
Michigan as to any accounts in any way connected to Lesly Pompy and
Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C. and other certain designated
accounts.

251. Judge White ordered Prosecutor William Paul Nichols to return the seized
cash, real property, and vehicle to Dr. Pompy within 3 days from the effective

date of the agreement; and the other seized property 14 days after March 16,
2018.

252. Dr. Pompy’s vehicle was returned by Lt. Marc Moore on March 30, 2018.

253. The money seized on September 26, 2016 by officer Robert Blair and Lt.
Marc Moore was required by law to be deposited into an interest-bearing
account. MCL 333.7523, Sec. (2) (d).

254. Upon information and belief, the money seized was not deposited into an
interest- bearing account by Lt. Marc Moore and/or officer Robert Blair.

255. Lt. Marc Moore returned to Dr. Pompy a check in the amount of
$24,400.00 on March 30, 2018, holding a balance of $3,414.00, in violation of
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Honorable Judge Daniel S. White order. Such conduct is tantamount to implied
malice and theft.

256. To date, more than eight months have elapsed and Lt. Marc Moore
continued with his contemptible conduct in failing to comply with the order of
Honorable Judge White for full restitution of the U.S. Cash Currency. Such conduct
is tantamount to implied malice and theft.

257. On May 4, 2018 Lt. Marc Moore and agent Brian Bishop returned to Dr.
Pompy five damaged and unrepairable computers, with a value of $3, 750.00 on
September 26, 2016, in violation of 18 U.S.C.1030 (a)(5). Such conduct is
tantamount to implied malice and theft.

258. To date, more than nine months have elapsed, and Lt. Marc Moore,

which he continued, after March 30, 2018 to maintain an illegal ownership,
possession, and control: to wit: One $ 1,200.00 computer, one $1,000.00 IPAD,
one $500.00 IPOD, one $1,200.00 IPhone, two telephones belonging to Dr. Pompy
and employee Jordan Rippee, one $500.00 external data storage drive...etc. in
violation of Such conduct is tantamount to implied malice and theft.

Vi)
THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS TOLLED

259. On September 23, 27, and 28, 2016 officer Robert Blair authored six
affidavits for six search warrants for the search and seizure of property of Dr.

|

|

continuing with his contemptible arrogance, has not returned several items over
Lesly Pompy and Interventional Pain Management Associates.

260. The six search warrants were issued by magistrate Chaffin and judge Vitale
on September 23, 27, and 28, 2016 and ordered the Sheriff or any Peace Officer
to search and seize the described property.

261. The search warrants furthermore ordered that the affidavits in support of
the search warrants shall be suppressed and not given to the person whose
property was seized or whose premises were searched until that person is
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charged (1) with a crime, or (2) named as a claimant in a civil forfeiture
proceeding involving evidence seized as a result of the search, or (3) until
further ordered by the Court.

262. The search warrants tolled the Michigan Statute of Limitations on
September 23, 27, and 28, 2016.

263. On September 26, 2016 MANTIS and other law enforcement agencies raided
Dr. Pompy home and residence.

264. On December 22, 2016 the People of the State of Michigan filed in Monroe
County Circuit Court an in rem civil forfeiture case against Dr. Pompy’s as
claimant, but served Dr. Pompy’s attorneys in January 2017.

265. Plaintiffs claim accrued on December 22, 2016 in accordance with
magistrate Chaffin search warrants; and in January 2017 with the service of the
summons and complaint.

266. On March 22, 2017 Dr. Pompy filed his answer with 11 affirmatives
defenses.

267. On March 16, 2018 upon a settlement agreement between Monroe County
Prosecutor William P. Nichols, Dr. Pompy, and IPM, Monroe County Circuit Court
Judge, Honorable Daniel S. White, dismissed the civil forfeiture action with
prejudice, issued an Order to Return Property, and released Merrill Lynch, MB& T
and Monroe County Community Credit Union from all seizure warrants issued and
freeze orders entered by the Monroe County Circuit Court or by the First District
Court of Michigan, as to any accounts in any way connected to Lesly Pompy,
interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C., United Administrative Services
of Monroe, LLC ...etc.

268. Plaintiffs claim re-accrued on March 16, 2018.

269. On June 26, 2018 the federal prosecutor commenced a criminal forfeiture
action against Dr. Pompy..

42



Case £898:3-2033403635 <K  Eorcwment 1QédloFfoerh $2/30442 10°age £hgelf2of 100

270. Dr. Pompy combined claim re-accrued a third time on June 26, 2018 upon
service of the federal criminal forfeiture action; a fourth time with the
government shutdown; and will accrue a fifth time at the end of the proceedings.

271. Dr. Pompy claim arose out of the law enforcement misconduct in his
detention and in the severity of the execution of the search warrants, and will
accrue upon his final recovery from fear and emotional shock sustained on
September 26, 2016.

272. Dr. Pompy condition was caused, precipitated and/or aggravated on
September 26, 2016, and continuing, by the cruel and unusual punishment
imposed upon him by Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn
Kotsch during the long and illegal detention.

273. Dr. Pompy condition was precipitated and aggravated on September 26,
2016, and continuously thereafter, by the discrimination, defamation,
intimidation, false statements and threat by Lt. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas in

Monroe News, various newspapers, and social media.

274. Dr. Pompy preexisting fear of weapon reappeared during the raid of
September 26, 2016 and was aggravated by Lt. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas
publication in Monroe News on October 13, 14, and 15, 2016, which caused Dr.
Pompy to continuously regurgitate the souvenir of a 1985 event where he was
shot in the left arm by a would-be thief.

275. Dr. Pompy Claim for defamation and false light claim on September 26, and
October 13, 14, and 15, 2016 accrued in 2017 and continued to accrue in 2018
until the present time on account of iliness and permanent health condition.

276. Dr. Pompy claim for false claim on and after September 26, 2016 is
protected by the three-year statute of limitations.

277. Dr. Pompy has a timely valid claim against Lt. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas
for defamation, false claim, and discrimination in Monroe News in 2017 and
January 19, 2018.
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278. Dr. Pompy claim for false imprisonment against Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian
Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch arose on September 26, 2016, but accrued on
December 22, 2016, March 16, 2018, June 26, 2018, and also with the
government shutdown.

279. Dr. Pompy claim for false impriscnment re-accrued and will accrue again
many times, and is not barred by the two-year statute of limitations of MCL 600-
5805 (2).

280. Dr. Pompy claim for frauds is protected by the six-year time limitations.

281. Plaintiffs action to recover damages for false light claim, injuries and
property is protected by the 3-year statute of limitations. [MCL 600. 5805 (1)]

282. Dr. Pompy claim is further tolled by the government shutdown.

283. The settlement agreement of March 16, 2018 released MCPO, MCSD, MPD,
and each of their Agents, except for any agents who (a) participated in the
execution of warrants executed at or on IPM’s Office, Dr. Pompy’s residence,
MBT, M3CU, E*Trade, or Merrill Lynch and (b) are employed or were employed
by, assigned to, or otherwise acting on behalf of MANTIS, MSP, or the Federal
Government on the date(s) that the warrants were executed. (Paragraph 1.20)

VI
COMMON ALLEGATIONS

AGAINST DISTRICT COURT MAGISTRATE TINA TODD, MAGISTRATE JESSICA
CHAFFIN, AND JUDGE JACK VITALE

284. The conduct of magistrate Todd, magistrate Chaffin, and judge Vitale was
prejudicial to the effective and expeditious administration of the court.

285. Magistrate Todd, magistrate Chaffin, and judge Vitale violated their
constitutional oath of office, the scope of their employment, and the scope of
their judicial authority. MCL 691.1407 Sec. 7 (2) (a).
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286. Magistrate Todd, magistrate Chaffin, and judge Vitale committed gross
negligence which was the proximate cause of damages to Plaintiffs, MCL
691.1407 Sec. 7 (2) {(c).

287. Magistrate Todd, magistrate Chaffin, judge Vitale conduct was reckless and
prejudicial.

288. Magistrate Todd, magistrate Chaffin, and judge Vitale demonstrated a
substantial lack of concern for whether injury or damage results.

289. Plaintiffs are entitled to a lien on the $50,000.00 Performance Bond filed by
Magistrate Todd with Monroe County Treasurer and the Chief Judge of the
District Court.

290. Plaintiffs are entitled to a lien on the $50,000.00 Performance Bond filed by
Magistrate Chaffin with Monroe County Treasurer and the Chief Judge of the
District Court.

291. Magistrate Todd, Magistrate Chaffin, judge Vitale violated substantive due
process prohibiting the government from infringing on fundamental
constitutional liberties.

292. Magistrate Todd, Magistrate Chaffin, judge Vitale are not entitled to
qualified immunity. Their conduct violated clearly established statutory or
constitutional right of which a reasonable person would have known.

(IX)
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST MAGISTRATE TINA TODD

293. Officer Robert Blair reported on September 23, 2016 that on September 21,
2016 magistrate Tina Todd issued a search warrant for the search and seizure of
financial records of Dr. Pompy and Interventional Pain Management Associates
[sic] at MB& T, 102 East Front Street, in the City of Monroe, County of Monroe,
State of Michigan 48101.
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294. Officer Blair affidavit for search warrant and magistrate Todd search warrant
of September 21, 2016 have never been produced in spite of Dr. Pompy’s
repeated demands to MB& T-- personally and by subpoena served by counsel--
and in spite of Dr. Pompy diligent effort at the Monroe County Clerk’s Office.

295. Officer Blair affidavit for search warrant on September 21, 2016 appeared
to be a hoax, as well as the alleged search warrant ordering the release of
financial information by MB& T on Plaintiffs.

296. Magistrate Todd has a history of misconduct. Michael D. McCray v. Marc Moore,
et al. U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Michigan, Southern Division, Case No. 07-13297
(US COURTS-mied-2 -07-cv-13297-1...)

X
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST MAGISTRATE JESSICA CHAFFIN

297. On September 23, 2016 upon a 3-page overbroad affidavit for search
warrant authored by officer Robert Blair, an invalid search warrant was issued, in
violation of Michigan Court Rules Rule 1.109 (D) (1) (b), for the search and seizure
of the property/person, if found, specifically described as any and all business
records of Lesly Pompy and/or Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic],
related to patient identity, treatment or medical records and billing information
at Interventional Pain Management [sic],730 North Macomb Street, Suite 222,
Monroe, Michigan 48162.

298. Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C., the plaintiff herein, was
not exactly described and was not served.

299. The address of the property was not exactly described. |

300. The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not
given.

301. The name of the magistrate was not printed, and his/her signature was
illegible and unascertainable.
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302. Dr. Pompy learned months later that the magistrate was Jessica Chaffin of
the First District Court of Michigan, 106 E. First Street Monroe Michigan 48161.

303. The value of the seized property and the frozen financial accounts was over
and above the $25,000.00 jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

304. On September 23, 2016 upon a second 3-page overbroad affidavit for
search warrant authored by officer Robert Blair, a second invalid search warrant
was issued, in violation of the Michigan Court Rules Rule 1.109 (D) (1)(b), ), for the
search and seizure of the property/person, if found, specifically described as any
and all business records of Lesly Pompy and/or Interventional Pain Management
Associates [sic], related to patient identity, treatment or medical records and
billing information at the residence found at 533 North Monroe Street, Monroe,
Michigan 48162.

305. Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C., the plaintiff herein, was
not exactly described and was not served.

306. The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not
given.

307. The name of the magistrate was not printed and his/her signature was
illegible and unascertainabie.

308. Dr. Pompy learned months later that the name of the magistrate was Jessica
Chaffin.

309. Dr. Pompy learned months later that the issuing court was the First District
Court of Michigan.

310. The value of the seized property and the frozen financial accounts was over
and above the jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

311. OnSeptember 27, 2016 upon an overbroad affidavit authored by officer
Robert Blair, an invalid search warrant was issued, in violation of Michigan Court
Rules Rule 1.109 {D), for the search and seizure of accounts or account
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information related to any account owned in whole or in part by Lesly Pompy
and/or Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic] located at MB& T, 102
East Front Street in the City of Monroe, County of Monroe, State of Michigan
48161.

312. Affiant Robert Blair mistook plaintiff Interventional Pain Management
Associates, PC . He served neither Interventional Pain Management Associates, PC
P.C., nor Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic].

313. The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not
given.

314. The name of the magistrate was not printed and his/her signature was

illegible and unascertainable.

315. Dr. Pompy learned months later that the name of the magistrate was Jessica
Chaffin.

316 The order of magistrate Jessica Chaffin was illegally executed by affiant
Robert Blair in violation of MCL 780. 654 Sec. 4. (1), and (2);

317. Dr. Pompy learned months later that the issuing court was the First District
Court of Michigan.

318. Magistrate Chaffin maliciously reiterated the same errors, mistakes, and
misconduct on August 14, 2017 by illegally issuing, upon detective Blair affidavit, a
fourth invalid search warrant for the search and seizure of all business records of
the medical practice of Lesly Pompy and Interventional Pain Management
Associates (sic) at iPatient Care in New Jersey.

Detective Biair did not search the records in New Jersey for the execution of the
warrant. He illegally served the warrant by FAX upon iPatient Care in violation of
court order and the statutes.

The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not given. The
name of the magistrate was not printed and his/her signature was illegible and
unascertainable. Dr. Pompy and Interventional Pain Management Associates
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were not described. Dr. Pompy learned months later that the issuing court was
again the incompetent First District Court of Michigan; and that the magistrate
was again Jessica Chaffin.

Xl
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST JUDGE JACK VITALE

319. On September 28, 2016 upon an overbroad affidavit for search warrant
authored by officer Robert Blair, Judge Jack Vitale issued, in violation of Michigan
Court Rules Rule 1.109 (D), an invalid search warrant for the search and seizure of
all accounts or account information related to any account owned in whole or in
part by Lesly Pompy and/or Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic] at
Merrill Lynch, located at 4800 Deerlake Drive East Building R First Floor
Jacksonville Florida 32246.

320. Interventional Pain Management Associates P.C. was not exactly described.

321. The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not
given.

322. The balance of the accounts was over and above the jurisdiction of the First
District Court of Michigan.

323. The First District Court of Michigan had no jurisdiction outside of Monroe
County in civil forfeiture proceedings.

324. On September 28, 2016 upon an overbroad affidavit for search warrant
authored by officer Robert Blair, Judge Jack Vitale issued, in violation of Michigan
Court Rules Rule 1.109 (D), an invalid search warrant for the search and seizure of
the property/person to be searched for and seized, if found, specifically described
as all accounts or account information related to any account owned in whole or
in part by Lesly Pompy and/or Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic] at
E-Trade Securities LLC located at Harborside Financial Center 501 Plaza 2 34
Exchange Place Jersey City, New Jersey 07311.
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325. The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not
given.

326. The value of the financial accounts was over and above the jurisdiction of
the First District Court of Michigan.

327. The FIRST District Court of Michigan has no jurisdiction outside of Monroe
County in civil forfeiture proceedings.

328. On September 28, 2016 upon an overbroad affidavit for search warrant
authored by officer Robert Blair, Judge Jack Vitale issued, in violation of Michigan
Court Rules Rule 1.109 {D), an invalid search warrant for the search and seizure of
property/person to be searched and seized, if found, specifically described as all
accounts or account information related to accounts or account information
related to Dr. Pompy and Interventional Pain Management Associates [sic at
Monroe County Community Credit Union, 715 North Telegraph Road Monroe
Michigan 48162.

329. The name, address, and the case number of the issuing court were not
given.

330. The seized accounts were owned by three innocent corporations: L Pompy
Land Development, LLC, The Pain Foundation, and interventional Pain
Management Associates, P.C.

331. The search warrants issued by magistrate Todd, magistrate Chaffin, and
judge Vitale, for the searches and seizures of Plaintiffs property and financial
accounts, violated the Fourth Amendment, the Due Process and Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendments protecting Dr. Pompy civil rights; MCL
780.658 prohibiting officer Robert Blair from procuring a search warrant
maliciously and without probable cause; and the State and Federal Privacy Laws.

X1l

COMMON ALLEGATIONS
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BLUE CROSS AND BLUE CROSS COMPLETE VIOLATED PUBLIC POLICY OF THE
STATE

332. State and Federal Privacy Laws prohibit unauthorized access to Blue Cross
and Blue Cross Complete members private information, and violators may be
subject to prosecution.

333. Clause 7.7 of Blue Cross Practitioner Agreement provides that the
corporations may disclose TRUST PRACTITIONER specific information:

(a) Pursuant to any federal, state or local statute or regulations;

{b) To customers for purposes of audit and health plan administration so long as
the customer agrees to restrict its use to these purposes;

(c) For purposes of public reporting of benchmarks in utilization management
and quality assessment initiatives, including publication in databases for use with
all consumer driven health care products, or other similar BCBS business

purposes; and

(d) For civil or criminal investigations, prosecutors, or litigator to the appropriate
law enforcement authorities or in response to appropriate legal processes.

334, Blue Cross policies are preempted by state public policy.

335. Blue Cross Practitioner Agreement has not amended HIPPA, Blue Cross
HIPPA Compliance Statement, the Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder
Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2), federal, state, and local privacy laws and rules,
the Notice of Privacy Practices between the patients and his physicians.

336. Blue Cross wrongfully offered into evidence in administrative proceedings a
PHARMACY UTILIZATION project, dated 7/25/17, of 2012-2016 data consisting of
prescriptions, medical records, and mental health of ten Medicare/Medicaid
patients, to wit: Ricky Bryant, Evelyn Sarnowsky, Judy Shinevarre, Catherine
Bussell, Roy Ir. Fisher, Abina Fix, Cheryl Holligworth, Lods Buell, David Cools, and
Heidi Smallwood.
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337. Information from BCBSM Pharmacy Utilization project was restricted and
was disclosed in violation of state public policy.

338. Mich. Comp Laws Ann Sec. 333.2632 holds that all information, records, and
other data, concerning medical research project, are inadmissible in a court or
agency proceeding.

339. Mich. Comp Laws Sec. 330.1748 and Sec. 330.1748a hold that records and
information relating to the mental health of an individual are confidential and
privileged to the patient and may only be disclosed under an order or a subpoena
of a court of record or a subpoena of the legislature.

340. Dr. Pompy patients medical files were illegally searched, seized and
divulged, in violation of the Fourth Amendment and Article 1 of the Michigan
Constitution protecting Plaintiffs against unreasonable searches and seizures,
warrantless searches and seizures; in violation of MCL 780.658 prohibiting any
person from procuring a search warrant maliciously and without probable cause;

and in violation of the Privacy Laws.

341. Patients health information, identities, and MAPS reports are protected
health information and cannot be downloaded, obtained, seized, divulged
without valid subpoenas, valid search warrants, and/or proper medical
authorizations. '

342. Blue Cross violated its own rule in failing to require its prescribed medical
forms for release of medical information, to wit:

a) Member Consent for Release of Protected Health Information.
b) Request for release of members protected health information.
c¢) Authorization for use and Disclosure of psychotherapy.

d) Request for access to designated protected health information records.
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e) Affidavit of Next of Kin for complaint about Blue Cross privacy practices or
failure to comply with their Notice of Privacy Practices, or federal, state, and local
privacy laws and rules.

Xl
COMMON ALLEGATIONS

AGAINST DEFENDANTS BRIAN BISHOP, MARC MOORE, ROBERT BLAIR, SHAWN KOTCH, JOHN
LASOTTA, MICHAEL ZSENYUK, JIM GALLAGHER, BRIAN ZASADNY, JAMES HOWELL, DIANE
SILAS, CARL CHRISTENSEN, J. Alan ROBERTSON, SHELLY EDGERTON, SEAN SIEBIGTEROTH, KIM
GAEDEKE, and VAUGHN HAFNER.

343. All the above defendants violated state and federal statutes, including the
Chain of Custody legal context, jointly or severally, both within the scope of their
employment and outside the scope of their authority.

344. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to obtain, disclose, re-
disclose, and divulge unauthorized medical records of Dr. Pompy patients;
confidential MAPS reports; inaccurate, unsubstantiated, unsigned, uncertified,
Prescriber Block Analysis, Utilization Review, Pharmacy Utilization Review, and
statistically incorrect comparison between the practice of pain management
physicians and the practice of anesthesiclogists.

345, Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to submit into evidence at
a DEA hearing in July 2017 incomplete, unauthorized, and tainted medical records
on five Subsis patients, without a review of the patients medical history, actual
diagnoses and complaints, years of concurrent treatments for multiple diagnoses
and/or procedures, hospital records, date of initial treatment at Dr. Pompy’s
office, years of treatment and prior diagnoses of the referring physicians.

346. Patient D.A. initially saw Dr. Pompy on May 14, 2016.

347. Submission of 338 pages of patient D.A. records at the DEA hearing and Dr.
Christensen expert testimony was iilegal, incomplete, and unreliable without the
patient prior hospital and medical records, without the diagnosis and prognosis of
the referring doctors, without the records on past treatment.
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348. Patient R.B. initially saw Dr. Pompy on May 28, 2015.

349. Submission of 766 pages of patient R.B. medical records was illegal,
incomplete, and unreliable, without the patient prior hospital and medicai
records, without the referring doctors diagnosis and prognosis, without the past
treatment.

350. Patient R.F. initially saw Dr. Pompy on January 19, 2016.

351. Submission of 628 pages of records of patient R.F. was illegal, incomplete,
and unreliable, without the patient prior hospital and medical records, referring
doctors diagnosis and prognosis, past treatment, all easily obtainable by
subpoena.

352. Patient J.H. initially saw Dr. Pompy on January 18, 2016.

353. Submission of 1,423 pages of medical records of patient J.H. was illegal,
incomplete, and unreliable, without prior hospital and medical records, referring
doctors diagnosis and prognosis, past treatment.

354, Patient E.S. initially saw Dr. Pompy on January 8, 2015.

355. Submission of 598 pages of medical records was incomplete and unreliable,
without prior hospital and medical records, referring doctors diagnosis and
prognosis, past treatment.

356. Patient “James Stewart” came to the private medical office of Dr. Pompy in
January 2016.

357. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to have Patient “James
Stewart” illegally videotape Dr. Pompy employees, patients, and visitors in a
private medical office, without their knowledge, consent, or authorization.

358. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to have Plaintiffs DEA
certificates of registration summarily suspended on March 2, 2017.
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359. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to have Dr. Pompy’s medical
license summarily suspended on August 3, 2017.

360. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to submit into evidence,
without a peer group review or a professional peer group review, at the BPL
hearing in October 2017, unauthorized, incomplete, and tainted medical records
of the patients of Dr. Pompy, without the patients medical history, actual
diagnoses and complaints, years of concurrent treatments for multiple diagnoses
and/or procedures, hospital records, date of initial treatment at Dr. Pompy’s
office, number of years of treatment, and prior files, diagnosis, and prognosis of
the referring physicians.

361. Defendants illegally submitted at the DEA hearing and at the BPL hearing,
without a peer group review, without a summary review of the 2015 and 2016 of
Dr. Pompy’s patients medical records, without the patients medical history,
actual diagnoses and complaints, years of concurrent treatments for multiple
diagnoses and/or procedures, hospital records, date of initial treatment at Dr.
Pompy’s office, years of treatment, and prior files and diagnoses of the referring
physicians.

362. Defendants failed to provide reliable testimony and expert opinion, a peer
group review or a professional peer group review based upon the patients
medical history, past and present complaints, actual diagnoses and complaints,
prognoses, number of years of concurrent treatments, number of years of
multiple diagnoses and/or procedures, hospital records, date of initial treatment
at Dr. Pompy’s office, prior diagnoses and number of years of treatment, prior
medical files and diagnoses of the referring physicians.

363. Defendants illegally downloaded on September 26, 2016 over 1,500
medical records at Dr. Pompy’s office, and illegally disclosed and re-disclosed

them without the patients authorization, for review by Dr. Carl Christensen, Dr.
Leon Pedell, agent Brian Bishop, and other physicians, federal agents, and law
enforcement officers, in violation of State and federal laws on the confidentiality
| of medical records, identities of patients, and MAPS reports; and in violation of
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364. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to obtain, disclose, and re-
disclose illegally, without a peer group review or a professional peer group review
or required authorizations, Dr. Pompy’s patient medical records for the purpose
of an anticipatory search warrant, a potential criminal forfeiture, and/or other
legal procedures.

365. Defendants conspired, colluded, and combined to obtain and divulge
unauthorized protected medical records.

366. Defendants acts and actions were negligents, fraudulent and malicious.

367. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantiess searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

368. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

Xl
COMMON ALLEGATIONS

AGAINST DEFENDANTS MARC MOORE, ROBERT BLAIR, SHAWN KOTSCH, JON
LASOTTA, BRIAN BISHOP

369. Defendants violated State and federal statutes, jointly or severally, outside
the scope of their employment and outside the scope of their authority.

370. Defendants engaged in excessive force in searching and seizing property at
DR. POMPY office and home.

371. Defendants engaged in the false arrest and illegal imprisonment of Dr.
Pompy;

372. Defendants engaged in the malicious prosecution of Dr. Pompy.

373. Defendants violated Dr. Pompy First Amendment Right against retaliation.
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374. On September 26, 2016 defendants violated Dr. Pompy civil rights and
privacy and the Chain of Custody legal context:

a) By illegally searching, seizing, divulging unauthorized patients medical records
under the possession and control of Dr. Pompy.

b) By searching, seizing, and divulging confidential and privileged information on
the mental health of patients in possession and control of Dr. Pompy in violation
of federal and state statutes.

c) By searching, seizing, and divulging confidential and privileged heaith care
information on Dr. Pompy’s Blue Cross, Blue Cross Complete and other health
insurer patients in violation of federal and state statutes.

d) By seizing at Dr. Pompy office personal, business, patients property and
financial accounts without valid search warrants, probable cause, and due
process.

e) By searching, seizing, and freezing illegally Dr. Pompy and employees protected
pension accounts, located in New York and New Jersey financial institutions,
outside of the jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan and the Monroe
County Circuit Court.

f) By searching, seizing, and freezing illegally non-owned innocent accounts
related to plaintiffs, whose value was over and above the competence and
jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

g) By colluding, conspiring, and combining for the summary suspension of
Plaintiffs DEA certificates of registration on March 2, 2017.

h) By producing false, illegal, and impermissible evidence against Dr. Pompy at a
DEA hearing on the summary suspension of the Plaintiffs certificates of
registration in July and August 2017.

57




Case £898:3-2033403635 <K  Eorwment 1Qédloffoer $2/30442 10758 FhgeER of 100

i) By falsely testifying and/or producing impermissible evidence at the BPL
hearings on the summary suspension of Dr. Pompy’s license to practice medicine
at the Michigan Administrative Hearing System.

i} By conspiring with BPL to have the BPL emergency hearing stretched over one
year and a half in violation of Dr. Pompy constitutional right to a speedy trial.

k) By conspiring with BPL to have the emergency hearing, scheduled for October
16 and 17, December 18 and 20, 2017 extended to March 2, 5, 9, and 26, 2018;
May 30 and 31, 2018, June 1, June 18, June 19, June 20, and June 22, 2018,
commencing at 8:30 a.m. on each day, without any fault by the Plaintiffs.

[) By combining, conspiring, and colluding for the summary suspension of Dr.

Pompy medical license to practice medicine in the State of Michigan, without

consideration to Dr. Pompy’s disruption of medical practice, drain on financial
resources, and personal anxiety.

m) By reporting to government agencies unverified, unsworn, inaccurate,
impermissible, confidential, and unauthorized MAPS reports and other Statistics
for illegal purposes, in violation of public policy of the state of Michigan.

375. Defendants closed Dr. Pompy ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital- based
primary medical office on North Macomb Street by illegally seizing, trashing,
removing for their own profits patient medical records, office computers,
software, business records...etc.

376. Defendants caused Dr. Pompy to lose his ProMedica Monroe Regional
Hospital privilege and be unable to provide anesthesia administration services to
the hospital patients.

| 377. Defendants illegally distributed in violation of the Chain of Custody legal
| context:

a} Dr. Pompy Medicare and Medicaid patients medical records obtained by
officer Jon LaSotta from i-Patient Care maliciously and fraudulently without a
valid search warrant.
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b) Confidential and privileged information on the mental health of Dr. Pompy
patients.

c) Confidential and privileged information on the Dr. Pompy patients names,
addresses, identities, urine drug screens.

d) Confidential MAPS report on Dr. Pompy’s Medicare, Medicaid, and Blue Cross
patients.

e) Confidential and privileged information on Dr. Pompy patients on disability in
violation of ADR.

f) Confidential and privileged health records protected by Blue Cross HIPAA
Compliance Statements and Michigan Public Health Code.

378. Defendants violated:

a) The Computer Fraud and Abuse Act [(18 U.S.C. sec.1030 (a)(5)(A);]

b) The Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act (HIPAA)

¢) The Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2)
d) The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR)

e) The Right to Financial Privacy Act (12 U.5.C.3401, et seq.)

f) Federal, state, and local privacy laws and riles.

XV
FALSE LIGHT CLAIM AGAINST Lt. MARC MOORE AND RAY KISONAS

379. Dr. Pompy has a valid and meritorious false light claim against Lt. MARC
MOORE AND RAY KISONAS for misrepresentations and false statements arising
from September 26, 2016 to January 19, 2018, when Lt. Marc Moore and reporter
Ray Kisonas violated Dr. Pompy civil rights by publishing outright lies made with
malicious intent to see Dr. Pompy:

a) Lose permanently his DEA registrations and Michigan medical license to
practice medicine.
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b) Prosecuted by the federal or state governments, and impriscned.
c) Dr. Pompy assets forfeited by The United States of America.

380. Lt. Marc Moore and reporter Ray Kisonas commenced to defame Dr. Pompy
on September 26 2016 by reporting false statements in the Monroe News.

381. On September 26, 2016 Lt. Marc Moore inaccurately reported within the
scope of his employment to Ray Kisonas, for publication in the Monroe News, that
Dr. Pompy was accused, a) of prescribing more than one million doses of narcotic
pills in the past year alone; b) of seeing hundreds of patients a day; c) of issuing
prescriptions for opiates to people who did not need them; and d) of being
responsible for his patients selling his pills on the streets.

382. On September 27, 2016 Lt. Marc Moore , outside the scope of his
employment, tipped off Ray Kisonas, for publication in the Monroe News, that Dr.
Pompy issued illegal prescriptions for opiates, such as NORCOS and Oxycodone,
and that he will try to have the plaintiff’s license or his ability to prescribe
narcotics suspended immediately--at least on a temporary basis.

383. Officer Moore inaccurately tipped off at the same time, outside the scope of
his employment, THE BLLADE of Toledo, for publication, “Our information was,
you go in there a handful of times and eventually you’ll get a medication from
him.” “Patients and their relatives had contacted Law Enforcement with allegations
against Dr. Pompy; an undercover detective had confirmed the tips.”

384. Officer Moore further inaccurately tipped off, outside the scope of his
employment, Monroe Evening News for publication, that Dr. Pompy was the
leading cause of heroin addiction in Monroe County.

385. On October 13, 2016 Officer Moore tipped off Ray Kisonas, outside of the
scope of his employment, for publication in the Monroe Evening News, that
investigators were waiting for documentatton from Dr. Pompy’s office at
ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital; that the company in charge of providing
these documents were moving slowly; that since the September 26 raid, agents
have requested medical files, but the release of those files had been laborious; that
prior to the raid the prosecutor’s office had issued the search warrant.

386. On October 14, 2016 officer Marc Moore tipped oft WTOL of Toledo for

60




Case £8923-2033403635 <K  Eorcwment 1Qédloffoerh $2/30442 10760e 2ageI8Rof 100

publication that Dr. Pompy was over prescribing narcotics; that Dr. Pompy
committed prescription fraud and illegal distribution of narcotics; that he was quite
certain criminal charges were forthcoming; that Dr. Pompy conducted business
illegally.

387. On October 15, 2016 officer Moore tipped oft WTOL of Toledo, outside the
scope of his employment, that Dr. Pompy was under investigation for prescription
fraud and illegal distribution of illegal drugs; that Dr. Pompy prescribed more than
1.2 million doses of controlled substances in the past year to 1500 patients; that
many patients filled prescription and sold the pills on the street; and that evidence
will be turned over to the Monroe County Prosecutor’s Office.

388. On January 19, 2018 officer MOORE, acting outside the scope of his
employment or within the belief of the scope of his authonty, combined with Ray
Kisonas, acting within the scope of his employment, to violate Dr. Pompy’s
privacy by publishing in the Monroe Evening News the name and address of Dr.
Pompy; the photo of the home of Dr. Pompy; confidential financial information
and assets of Dr. Pompy, whereas white suspects are not subject to the same
treatment and disclosure in Monroe News.

389. Defendants Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas discriminated against Dr. Pompy
on the basis of national origin, color, and race.

390. Defendants Ray Kisonas and Marc Moore continuous accusations against Dr.
Pompy, without any basis in fact or at law, were geared to destroy Dr. Pompy’s
reputation, credibility, and good standing in the community.

391. Defendants Ray Kisonas and Marc Moore misrepresentations were to push
Plaintiffs out of Monroe County, as it was done in the past against other black
physicians.

392. Defendants Lt. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas’ false statements,
misrepresentations, allegations, and accusations in 2017 were to destroy Dr.
Pompy’s reputation, credibility, and standing in the community.

393. Defendants [.t. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas’ false statements,
misrepresentations, allegations, and accusations were collaterally dismissed with
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prejudice in the in rem civil forfeiture complaint by a settlement agreement in
Monroe County Circuit Court on March 16, 2018 between MPO and the Plaintiffs.

394. Officer Moore conspired, colluded, and combined with Ray Kisonas to
wrongfully and erroneously publish on January 19, 2018 in the Monroe News that
Dr. Pompy’s home was seized by the federal government.

395. The misrepresentations and false statements of L.t. Marc Moore and Ray
Kisonas in Monroe News caused Dr. Pompy to suffer great harm and prejudice.

396. Lt. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas are collaterally estopped from submitting
into evidence their misrepresentations and false statements contained in the
complaint of the dismissed in rem civil forfeiture action.

397. The dismissal of the in rem civil forfeiture action is ground for a directed
verdict against [.t. Marc Moore and Ray Kisonas.

XVI

BLUE CROSS AND JAMES HOWELL COMMITTED FRAUDS IN THEIR CRIMINAL
INVESTIGATION OF PLAINTIFFS

398. Defendants Blue Cross and James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”,
committed frauds, deceit, defamation, unauthorized disclosure and distribution
of health protected information, unfair claim practice, business interference and
unfair dealings, forgery, intentional torts, and breach of contracts which
commenced in December 2015 and continued until June 26, 2018.

399. Blue Cross Corporate and Financial Investigation (CFl) department,
Utilization Review (UR) department, and Clinical Pharmacy Fraud, Waste and
Abuse (CPFWA) department are corporate services:

a) Defrauding practitioners by forgery, concealment, and false statements;

b) Submitting into evidence in administrative proceedings impermissible,
unofficial statistics, data, and reports not verified by a Blue Cross current officer
or director, or by a former officer or director of a defunct affiliate.
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c) Violating the Rules of Civil Procedures.

400. On February 18, 2016 Lt. Marc Moore reported that the MANTIS Office met
with Blue Cross investigators in December 2015 about conducting a joint
investigation involving Dr. Lesly Pompy.

401. Blue Cross Provider Agreement violated the Bill of Rights and established
laws and policies.

402. Blue Cross had no issues with Plaintiffs and had no reason to investigate
them under their Practitioner Affiliation Agreement, the Blue Cross Complete
Member Handbook or the Blue Cross Manual.

403. There was no complaint against Plaintiffs before BHCS/Enforcement Division
of the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, in Lansing,
Michigan.

404. There was no complaint against Plaintiffs before Blue Cross Special
Investigation Unit, in Essington, Pennsylvania.

405. There was no complaint against Plaintiffs before Blue Cross, Member
Grievances, in North Charleston, South Carolina.

406. There was no complaint against Plaintiffs before Blue Cross, Claim
Department, in London, Kentucky.

407. Lt. Marc Moore falsely stated to Blue Cross that Information had come from
various sources that Dr. Pompy was writing large amounts of opioid prescriptions
to patients who showed drug seeking behaviors and to patients who are diverting
those medications on the streets.

408. Blue Cross knew or should have known by its participation in the
prosecutions of over 4000 providers that anonymous tip by itself does not
constitute a basis for reasonable suspicion.

409. Blue Cross knew or should have known that hunches are insufficient,

improper, and invalid to support a search warrant and establish probable cause.
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410. More than two years had elapsed and Lt. Moore had not been able to
produce any informant or the source of his information.

411. Lt. Marc Moore sole and only informant to be was James Howell, a Blue
Cross undercover investigator who commenced an investigation in January 2016.

412. CFl Brian Zasadny assigned James Howell to conduct undercover visits to Dr.
Pompy office, under the patient name “James Stewart” and the supervision of Lt.
Moore.

413. James Stewart had in his possession a medical report, dated October 7,
2015, indicating that Dr. J. Alan Robertson was seeing him secondary to
back/nerve problems.

414. On December 10, 2015 Biue Cross physician consultant, Dr. J. Alan
Robertson, referred James Howell, under the fake patient name “James Stewart,”
to Dr. Pompy for pain management.

415. Blue Cross officers, directors, managers, supervisors, and/or employees
provided and/or permitted James Howell to use under fraudulent pretenses the
fake name “James Stewart”; to use the fake Michigan driver license S 363 367 758
544 for identification; to use the fake date of birth of 7/9/70; to use invalid Social
Security No. 479-81-6945; and to use an ad hoc insurance card showing “Enrollee
ID No. XYY925081728".

416. The scheme caused Blue Cross to sustain unnecessary expenses in violation
of 18 U.S. Code Sec. 1347.

417. Blue Cross website of September 3, 2017 reported that from July 1980 to
March 2017 Blue Cross referred 4, 424 cases to law enforcement, thus implying
that Blue Cross opened 4,424 fake insurance policies; permitted the use of 4,424
fake driver licenses; distributed 4,424 invalid Social Security identification cards;
and handed 4,424 free ad hoc health insurance cards.

418. James Stewart went to see Dr. Pompy on January 5 and 26, 2016; February
18, 2016; March 9 and 22, 2016; April 26, 2016; May 9 and 17, 2016.
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419. OnJanuary 26, 2016 “James Stewart” signed a Notice of Privacy Practices
and a Narcotic Agreement in which he agreed, (1) that he “will take all
prescriptions that Dr Pompy has prescribed”; and (2) that he will not use any
illegal drugs.

420. On January 26, 2016 “James Stewart” signed at Dr. Pompy office a Narcotic
Agreement whereby, at paragraph 12, he agreed that he would not sell, lend or
give his prescription medications to anyone else and would keep them in a safe
place.

421. “James Stewart” further agreed that he would not distribute his pain
medication pills to other people.

422. In February 2016, James Howell confirmed his need for treatment by signing
a second Narcotics Agreement and a Notice of Privacy at Dr. Pompy, which are
self-explanatory.

423. On February 18, 2016 and thereafter “James Stewart” went to Dr. Pompy’s
office with a covert camera and recorded his visit, while in an immediate area for
surveillance purposes and in communication with Lt. Marc Moore.

424, “James Stewart” made eight visits to Dr. Pompy’s office and recorded each
one of them.

425. “James Stewart” attempted several times to obtain controlied substances
under false pretense with intent to distribute them to Lt. Marc Moore in violation
of CFR 21; to aid and abet the possession of controlled substances outside of the
scope of his professional practice and not for a legitimate medical purpose.

426. On February 18, 2016 James Stewart” drug screen showed positive for
Nordiazepam, Oxazepam, and Tamazepam.

427. No legitimate prescription was found on Michigan Automated prescription
Service (MAPS) report.
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428. On March 22, 2016 “ James Stewart” drug screen tested positive for
barbiturates.

429. On April 26, 2016 “James Stewart” filled out Dr. Pompy’s prescription for
Norco and Lyrica and handed them over to Lt. Marc Moore with the consent of
Blue Cross in violation of CFR 21, Michigan Public Health Code, 18 U.S.C. Sec.
1347, and his narcotics agreement with Dr. Pompy.

Blue Cross, James Stewart, and Lt. Marc Moore conspired to distribute controlled
substances, aided and abetted the possession of controlled substances outside of
the scope of their investigation.

430. On May 9, 2016 “James Stewart” filled out a second prescription for Norco
and Lyrica and handed them over to Lt. Marc Moore with the consent of Blue
Cross, in violation of CFR 21, Michigan Public Health Code, 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1347,
and his narcotics agreement with Dr. Pompy.

Blue Cross, James Stewart, and Lt. Marc Moore conspired to distribute controlied
substances, aided and abetted the possession of controlled substances outside of
the scope of thir investigation.

431. On May 17, 2016 a non-prescribed control substance “ Gabapentin” was
confirmed by LCMS on “Stewart” urine drug screen, along with the presence of
Lyrica.

432. Blue Cross wrongfully concealed to Dr. Pompy the personne! records and
medical records of “James Stewart”.

XVi

BLUE CROSS FRAUDULENTLY SUBSTITUTED ITS 2016 OBSOLATE GUIDELINES FOR
ITS 2016 ELECTRONIC BILLING SYSTEM

433. Defendants “James Stewart”, Dr. Carl Christensen, and a “medical coder” |
reported, based upon a Blue Cross manual Medical Coding Guidelines, that Blue
Cross was overbilled for the length and depth of “Stewart” visits to Dr. Pompy’s
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office, but offered no alternative billing or proof that Dr. Pompy intended to
defraud Blue Cross.

434, Dr. Pompy did not personaily do billing. His office used his notes to bill Blue
Cross on an approved software renewed and purchased yearly from i-Patient
Care.

435. Blue Cross preferred and recommended electronic billing based on
diagnosis, coding, complexity, evaluation and typical times. Actual time is used in
anesthesia, and if counselling is the predominant service provided.

436. Defendants Stewart, Dr. Christensen, and the “medical coder” had no
authority, competence, or mandate to substitute the Medical Coding Guidelines
for Blue Cross official electronic billing as a means to defraud providers.

437. Blue Cross Medical Coding Guidelines is a hidden sword to obtain
reimbursement for legitimate claim already paid; a means to defraud providers by
threat, criminal investigation, and malicious prosecution by using Blue Cross face
to face billing option instead of Blue Cross comprehensive electronic billing option
based on complexity.

438. Defendants Stewart, Dr. Carl Christensen, and their “medical coder” knew
or should have known that Blue Cross recommends and demands to be billed
electronically on the basis of complexity, diagnosis and medical coding, and not
on face to face visit.

439, Defendants Stewart, Dr. Carl Christensen, and their “medical coder” had no
competence, mandate or authority to disapprove payments made several years
by Blue Cross accounting department without the authorization of such
department.

440. Defendants Stewart, Dr. Carl Christensen, and the “medical coder” had no
competence, authority, and mandate to change Blue Cross pre-approved claim
rate, already contractually negotiated with Medicare, Medicaid, the providers,
and Michigan Department of Health, in order for Blue Cross to obtain restitution.
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441. Blue Cross wrongfully concluded, without an audit, that Dr. Pompy
committed insurance fraud; and assisted MSP, MANTIS, DEA, BPL, and Monroe
County Prosecutor’s Office in creating false criminal charges against Dr. Pompy for
its own profits and for recovery and cost savings against victimized providers.

442. Blue Cross failed to provide, as contractually required: (1) the obsolete 2016
Procedural Terminology Coding Guidelines relied upon by officer Blair, Brian
Zasadny, james Howell, Jim Gallagher, Dr. Carl Christensen and their “medical
coder”, in lieu and place of Biue Cross pre-approved electronic billing, prior to
accusing Dr. Pompy of insurance fraud, as required by contract; or (2) the
obsolete Blue Cross Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System “HCPCS” used
by Zasadny, Howell, Gallagher, Dr. Christensen, and their medical coder, in lieu
and place of Blue Cross electronic billing, to substantiate their overbilling
allegations.

443. Blue Cross failed to identify, as contractually required, any training
completed by officer Robert Blair, Brian Zasadny, “James Stewart”, Jim Gallagher,
Dr. Carl Christensen, and the “Medical Coder” for the understanding of ICD
Manuel, ICD 10 Manual, CPT-HCPS Manual, diagnostic coding, procedural coding,
and coding systems, prior to accusing Dr. Pompy of insurance fraud and
overbilling.

444, Blue Cross failed to produce, as contractually contracted, any audits,
reports, and investigations against Dr. Pompy by its Certified Financial Analysts
(CFAs), Certified Internal Auditors (ClAs), Certified Fraud Examiners (CFEs),
Certified Government Auditing Professionals (CGAPs), prior to accusing Dr. Pompy
of insurance fraud and overbilling, as contractually required.

445. Robert Blair, Brian Zasadny, “James Stewar”, lim Gallagher, Dr. Carl
Christensen and the “medical coder” never attended a medical billing and coding
school and do not have an Associate of Science degree in Medical Administrative
Billing and Coding.
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446. Robert Blair, Brian Zasadny, “James Stewart”, Jim Gallagher, Dr. Carl
Christensen, and the “medical coder” do not know Evaluation and Management
Procedure (E&M), often abbreviated to “HEM”, and failed to ask the “medical
coder” to look at the level of intensity and pain management.

447. Robert Blair, Zasadny, “James Howell”, Dr. Christensen, and the “medical
coder” did not have the required knowledge, training, and experience to:

Maintenance Organization (HMOs), Preferred Provider Organizations (PPOs);

b) Evaluate procedure, decide reimbursement, and issue Explanation of Benefits
(EOB).

448. Defendants Robert Blair, Zasadny, “James Howell”, Dr. Christensen, along
with their “medical coder, did not have a certification in procedure and diagnosis
codes used by professional medical coders, whether Current Procedure
Terminology (CPT), Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System {HCPCS), CMS
1500, HIPAA, Cobra, Co-Insurance, Electronic Remittance Advice (ERA),
Independent Practice Association (IPA), Medicare, Medicaid, Point of Service
(POS) Plan, Triple Option Plan (TOP), TRICARE, UB-0S (CMS-1450 form, and

|
a) Evaluate indemnity insurance, Managed Care Organization (MCO), Health Care
Utilization Limit.

449. Blue Cross does not require a social security number for payment of claim,
but creates an invalid one for its investigators to violate the tax law and the Social
Security Act.

450. Blue Cross medical coder failed to turn to ICD-9-CM to look for
subcategories or sub-classifications to establish a diagnosis code.

451. By order of Blue Cross, “James Stewart” could not and did not perform
medical tests ordered by Dr. Pompy to ascertain his true condition.

452. Blue Cross “medical coder” wrongfully failed to look at the intensity of
“James Stewart” evaluation and pain management.
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453. Robert Blair, Zasadny, “James Howell, Dr. Christensen, and the ‘medical
coder” wrongfully failed to consider the amount of work that went into HEM and
the intensity option offered to Dr. Pompy under Blue Cross own server.

454. Blue Cross failed, in violation of Mich. Admin. Code r. 325.6810, to produce
copies of the notarized medical authorizations, on its prescribed forms, to Diane
Silas to request, obtain, and use medical records, urine tests, pharmacy
utilization, and protected health information on SUBOXONE Medicare, Medicaid,
Blue Cross patients, and on SUBOXONE patients of other excess health insurers as
contractually required.

455. Blue Cross failed, in violation of Mich. Admin. Code r. 325.6810, to produce
copies of notarized medical authorizations, on its prescribed medical
authorization forms, to Brian Zasadny to obtain from MSP/MANTIS medical
records, urine tests, pharmacy utilization, and protected health information on
SUBSIS MEDICARE, Medicaid, and Blue Cross patients, and SUBSIS patients of
other excess health insurers as contractually required.

456. Blue Cross failed, in violation of Mich. Admin. Code r. 325.6810, to produce
copies of its notarized prescribed medical authorizations or subpoenas having
permitted Blue Cross to forward Dr. Pompy’s SUBSIS and SUBOXONE patients
medical records and protected health information to DEA, BPL, Assistant Attorney
Generals Jennifer Fitzgerald, M. Catherine Waskiewcz, and Timothy Erickson as
evidence at the BPL hearing in Lansing, as contractually required.

XVIiI

BLUE CROSS BREACHED ITS CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT TO SUPPORT ITS
POTENTIAL FELONY CHARGES AGAINST PLAINTIFFS

457. Blue Cross, by its managers Don Gentner and Michael Zsenyuk, wrongfully

and mistakenly assigned additional employees Amy Walker, Kim Johnson,

“Angie”, Shannon Pelphrey, Diane Silas, UR “MARI”, Jim Gallagher, jointly with

physician consultant Dr. J. Alan Robertson, and physician consultant Dr. Carl

Christensen to initiate, conspire, collude, combine, and assist MANTISS, DEA, BPL,
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and Monroe County Prosecutor’s Office in the investigation of Dr. Pompy
prescriptions habits in violation of the Controlled Substance Act, Sec. 802 (56) (C).

458. Blue Cross violated the provisions of Blue Cross Manual and Blue Care
Complete Member Handbook.

459. Blue Cross breached its agreement with Plaintiffs in initiating a criminal
investigation and prosecution of Plaintiffs on the basis of Lt. Marc Moore
misrepresentations and false statements, and in failing to give notice.

460. Blue Cross certificates of incorporation or mergers do not give their officers,
directors, and trustees the right to investigate and prosecute Providers without
due process, without prior audits, and on the basis of law enforcement false
statements, misrepresentations, and retaliation.

461. On August 8, 2016 CFl investigator Shannon Pelphrey requested banking
information on Dr. Pompy from “MARI” of Utilization Review department in
preparation for the raids at Dr. Pompy’s office and home, in violation of the
privacy laws, the confidentiality of bank records and statements, and the Right to
Financial Privacy Act (12 U.S.C. 3401 et seq.).

462. CFl Brian Zasadny provided officer Robert Blair with the name and address
of MB& T, where Plaintiffs maintained their accounts and other related financial
accounts independently owned by several innocent corporations, in violation of
the Privacy Laws, the confidentiality of bank records, and the Right to Financial
Privacy Act (12 U.S.C. 3401 et seq.).

463. On August 11, 2016 CFI Brian Zasadny requested an audit by Utilization
Review, after the execution of the search warrants and the seizure of the files, in
order to determine loss and verify the records of Dr. Pompy in the course of his
practice.

464. On November 9, 2016 CFl Amy Walker confirmed that MSP had electronic
copies of all the records of Blue Cross patients.
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465. On November 11, 2016, more than 45 days after the raid, Kim Johnson sent
a request for audit by Amy Walker (CF! case 2015-03020).

466. Amy Walker answered that if Utilization Review provided the names of the
patients’ files they would need for an audit, MSP would provide those copies so
the audit would not have to be done at the provider’s (Dr. Pompy) office.

467. Utilization Review sent to CFl Brian Zasadny the names of the patients
needed for the audit, without the required Blue Cross prescribed medical
authorizations from the patients.

468. CFl Zasadny forwarded the list to MSP and obtained copies of DR. Pompy
SUBSIS patients medical files, in violation of the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act {(HIPAA), BCBSM and Blue Cross Network HIPAA Compliance
Statements, 42 CFR Part 2, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, the Privacy laws,
and Michigan Public Health Code.

469. Blue Cross committed frauds and intentional torts against Dr. Pompy and
IPM.

470. James Howell committed forgery, theft of services, intentional torts.

471. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

472. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

473, Utilization Review decided not to conduct an audit in Dr. Pompy’s office in
violation of the corporations routine, customarily, and contractual obligation.

474. CFl Brian Zasadny disclosed to MSP the income of Dr. Pompy from January
2012 to June 2016, in violation of Plaintiffs business relation with Biue Cross and
affiliates, the Privacy Laws, and the Right to Financial Privacy Act {12 U.5.C.3401,
et seq.)
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475. CFl Brian Zasadny disclosed to MSP the total amount of Dr. Pompy
prescription cost, in violation of the privacy of Plaintiffs business relation with
Blue Cross and affiliates.

476. CFl Brian Zasadny disclosed to MSP Plaintiffs accounts at Monroe Bank &
Trust in violation of the Privacy Laws and the Right to Financial Privacy Act (12
U.S.C. 3401 et seq.)

477. CFl Brian Zasadny failed to use the Peer Review Process and Utilization
Management mechanism contained in Blue Cross Manual, BCCM Member
Handbook, and the Plaintiffs contractual agreements with the Blue Cross prior to
investigating Plaintiffs.

478. CIF Brian Zasadny wrote on August 8, 2017 that the State of Michigan
LARA suspended Pompy’s license as of 8/4/17 based upon CFI investigation.

479, CIF Zasadny proudly explained that Loss was determined from the 1099
report from 2012 through mid-2016 and prescription costs for the same time frame.

480. CIF Zasadny further wrote that the amount was used based on the records of
the undercover visits and how they were documented by Pompy.

481. CIF Zasadny further added that video showed Dr. Pompy records were
erroneous.

482. CIF Zasadny admitted his connection, participation, and demand for the raid
in reporting that:

a) Implied Savings were the yearly average payments made for professional fees
and prescriptions costs.

b) That Depar and PPUR submitted because a search warrant was executed by
law enforcement as part of this investigation.

¢) That FSTS update was also submitted.

483. CFI Zasadny admits Blue Cross responsibility in the injury and damages to
Dr. Pompy.
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XIX

BLUE CROSS UNVERIFIED PRESCRIBER BLOCK MALICIOUSLY CHANGED DR.
POMPY PAIN MANAGEMENT PEER GROUP TO AN INNACURATE
ANESTHESIOLOGY PEER GROUP COMPARISON IN SUPPORT OF ITS
POTENTIAL FELONY CHARGES AGAINST DR. POMPY

484. CFl Brian Zasadny and manager Jim Gallagher wrongfully, fraudulently, and
maliciously misclassified Dr. Pompy and placed him in a peer group the latter did
not belong to: Specialty 207L00000X-Anesthesiclogy.

485. CFl Brian Zasadny and manager Jim Gallagher further wrongfully,
fraudulently, and maliciously submitted to MSP/MANTIS, BPL, DEA, and the
Monroe County Prosecutor’s QOffice the inaccurate misclassification that Lesly
Pompy was an anesthesiologist who prescribed the most overall prescription
medication and the most controlled prescription medication of 2,304
anesthesiologists during the date range of 01/2014 to 12/2014.

486. CFl Zasadny and manager Gallagher, wrongfully, fraudulently, and
maliciously submitted further to MSP/MANTIS, BPL, DEA, and the Monroe County
Prosecutor’s Office the inaccurate misclassification that DR. Lesly Pompy was an
anesthesiologist who ranked first in 2015 for the average number of members
receiving high cost medications over 200 dollars per month, total day supply of
controlled medication (52,026), average number of members per month receiving
controlled prescription medication (70), and total quantity dispensed of
controlled prescription (136, 267).

487. Blue Cross study was based, in violation of Mich. Admin. Code r. 500.554, on
the unauthorized medical records and prescriptions cost for the following
Medicare patients during the date range of 1/1/12 to 12/31/16:BCBSM patient
(R.B.) Ricky Bryant; Medicare patient (E.S.) Evelyn Sarnowsky; Medicare Patient
Plus Blue patient (J.S.) Judy Shinevarre; Medicare patient (C.B.) Catherine Bussell;
Medicare patient (R.F.) Roy Fisher; Medicare patient (A.F.) Albina FIX;

Medicare patient (C.H.) Cheryl Hollingsworth; Medicare patient (L.B.) Loda Buell;
Medicare patient (D.C.) David Coots; Medicare patient (H.S.) Heidi Smallwood.

74



Case £898:3-2033403635 <K  Eorwment 1QédloFfoer $2/30442 10°29e HageB2of 100

488. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

489. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

490. CFl Zasadny and manager Gallagher submitted to MSP/MANTIS, BPL, DEA,
and Monroe County Prosecutor’s Office, in violation of Mich. Comp. Laws Ann,
Sec.333.2631, that data from the National Association of Drug Diversion
Investigators indicated that in 2015, 96.13% of Dr Pompy 177 patients covered by
Blue Cross were prescribed controlled medications.

491. At all times CFl Zasadny had Dr. Pompy NPI number at hand.

492. At all times CFl Zasadny knew that Pompy was classified as a Pain
Management physician, and not as an Anesthesiologist.

493. Blue Cross and former affiliates had been for years using Dr. Pompy NPI
Number 1174578801 (Pain Management) in all their 1099- PROVIDER REPORTS.

494. Biue Cross wrong data and confidential Michigan Automated Prescription
System (MAPS) data base report, from Zasadny and BPL Investigator Vaughn
Hafner, were not permitted, under Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 333.2631, to be
turned over to DEA agent Brian Bishop and officer Jon LaSotta.

495. Officer Jon LaSotta re-disclosed medical records in his possession to
Monroe County Office of the Prosecuting Attorney, particularly Monroe County
Prosecutor William Paul Nichols, Assistant Prosecuting Attorneys Allisocn M.
Arnold, Roehrig, and leffrey A. Yorkey.

496. CF! Brian Zasadny, in violation of Mich. Admin. Code r. 500.554, illegally
submitted confidential MAPS report, including inaccurate, unverified, and false
BCBSM anesthesiology report, analysis, script utilization reviews, data,
breakdowns, dispensing trends, graphs, and trend dollars graphs to the Monroe
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County Prosecuting Attorney Office, DEA, agent Brian BISHOP, and BPL, as
evidence in criminal proceedings against Dr. Pompy.

497. CFl Brian Zasadny inaccurate and unverified documents were illegally used
at a DEA administrative hearing in Alexandria, Virginia in July/August 2017; and at
a BPL hearing before Administrative Law Judge Michael J. St. John at the Michigan
Administrative Hearing System in Lansing, Michigan, from October 2017 to June
2018.

498. CFl Brian Zasadny requested from MSP, without medical authorizations to
Blue Cross, Dr. Pompy’s unauthorized patients medical records for a 344 pages of
an inaccurate Prescriber Block Analysis and Utilization Review project; and for 169
pages of an inaccurate Pharmacy Utilization project.

499. Blue Cross Block Analysis and Pharmacy Utilization review were based on
information developed from data compiled on 519 anesthesiologists who had
nothing to do with Dr. Pompy true Pain Management classification.

500. Blue Cross Group Block Analysis and Pharmacy Utilization review were not
verified, signed, sworn to by one of the officers, directors, or trustees of Blue

Cross; and/or by a current or past officer, director, or trustee of the defunct |
affiliates whose records commingled with the Blue Cross data. }

501. CFland UR departments wrongfully and deceitfully extrapolated Dr. Pompy
pain management data to the data of 519 anesthesiologists.

disclosed Dr. Pompy unauthorized patient medical files among unauthorized
employees of the CFR department, UR department, and CPFWA department not
involved in the statistical project.

|
502. CFl Brian Zasadny further distributed, disseminated, disclosed, and re-

503. Blue Cross violated Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 550.1406 regarding the
regulations and guidelines pertaining to heaith care companies’ protection of
members privacy.

504. Blue Cross, by its officers, directors, trustees, employees, violated:
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(1) Admin. Code r. 500.554 regarding an insurer or health plan’s information
security program to ensure the security and confidentiality of consumer
information.

(2) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 550.1907 regarding the requirement for a health
insurer to give an individual written notice and an explanation of internal
grievance and external review processes for adverse determination.

(3) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 550.524 regarding documents to be obtained by
provider to avoid or rescind contract.

(4) Comp. Laws Ann.Sec. 331. 533 regarding the confidentiality of the identity of
any individual “studied”.

505. Blue Cross permitted “James Stewart” to violate Comp. Laws Ann.
Sec. 333.7403a in attempting to obtain controlled substance or prescription for
controlled substance from Dr. Pompy.

XX

BLUE CROSS VIOLATED ITS OWN PRACTITIONER AGREEMENT FOR PURPOSE OF
ITS POTENTIAL FELONY CHARGES AGAINST PLAINTIFFS

506. BLUE CROSS breached its contractual agreement:

a) By discriminating against Dr Pompy patients based upon race, color, age,
national origin.

b) BY segregating its Members in any way and/or treating Members in a manner
or location different from other persons receiving health care services.

c) By its failure to give Dr. Pompy the right to appeal individual claim and audit
determinations through BCBSM’s internal process.

d) By its failure to give Dr. Pompy the right to appeal to an independent review
panel on the issue of medical necessity.
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e) In failing to sponsor administrative services such as reviews, audits, claim
processing systems.

f) In abusing its right to disclose practitioner’s specific information pursuant to
any federal, state or local statute or regulation, and for civil or criminal
investigations, prosecutors, or litigators to the appropriate law enforcement
authorities or in response to appropriate legal processes, in violation of
established laws and procedures, particularly HIPPA, BCBSM HIPPA Compliance
Statement, 42 CFR Part 2, Computer Fraud and Abuse Act.

XXI

BLUE CROSS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH ITS OWN MANUAL
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PURPOSE OF ITS FELONY CHARGES AGAINST DR.
POMPY

507. Blue Cross violated its own policies:

A) In failing to treat Blue Cross Complete members in the same manner and with
the same quality and promptness as other patients are treated.

B) In failing to refrain from discriminating against Providers and Blue Cross
Complete members on the basis of membership, source of payment, sex,
ethnicity, age, race, color, national origin, marital status, or any factor related to
health status, including but not limited to medical condition (including conditions
arising out of domestic violence), claims experience, receipt of health care,
medical history, evidence of insurability, disability or handicap, or any other basis
prohibited by federal law.

C) In failing to have DR. Carl Christenson and Dr. and Dr. J. Alan Robertsen comply
with AMA Code of Medical Ethics.

D) In failing to put Dr. Pompy on notice and offer Dr. Pompy specific processes for
appeals and complaints.
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E) In failing to notify Dr. Pompy about the credential information received from
The Monroe County Prosecutor Office.

F) In failing to give Dr. Pompy the right to correct allegedly erroneous
information.

G) In failing to use confidential peer review process by Dr. Pompy pain
management peer group.

H) In failing to give Dr. Pompy, in writing, 30 calendar days to respond to any
concern of the medical director and the Quality Management Staff letter about
his performance, behavior, conduct or attitude. (C. Disciplinary action or
termination, Step 1 & 2 Action)

[} In concealing to The Monroe County Prosecutor and Lt. Marc Moore, prior to
any investigation, that Dr. Pompy was contractually required to provide Blue
Cross Members with access to care 24 hours a day, seven days a week. {Section 5:
Standards and Ratings); and access to after-hours care.

J) In concealing to Monroe County Prosecutor that Dr. Pompy was contractually
required to provide accommodation to the cultural and linguistic needs of the
patients. {Section 6: Multicultural Health C)

XX
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST Dr. CARL CHRISTENSEN

508. Dr. Carl Christensen committed defamation, deceit, and fraud against Dr.
Pompy in 2016 and 2017 out of his assistance to Monroe County Prosecutor’s
Office, Blue Cross, Blue Cross Complete, MSP, MANTIS, and DEA in the criminal
investigation of Dr. Pompy.

509. Dr. Christensen failed to reveal that he was a member of Blue Cross
Medicare Drug Utilization Review Committee, and in this capacity, reviewed for a
fee 24 unauthorized patients SUBSIS files that UR illegally obtained from MANTIS.
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510. Dr. Carl Christensen unethically posed as a “neutral expert witness” at a DEA
hearing against Dr. Pompy, while at the same time he was selling his services to
Blue Cross, DEA, MSP/MANTIS and Blue Cross undercover investigator “James
Stewart” .

511. Dr. Carl Christensen actively conspired, colluded, and combined with Blue
Cross, MSP, MANTIS, DEA, and BPL in the criminal investigation of the Plaintiffs,
the suspension of Dr. Pompy DEA registrations, and the suspension of Dr. Pompy
medical license.

i 512. Medical peer review group is formed by a committee of health care
| professionals examining the work of a peer and determining whether the person
under review has met accepted standards of care in rendering medical services.

513. Dr. Carl Christensen expertise is OB GYN & Addiction Medicine. |

514. Dr. Christensen was not neutral and had no qualification, training,
experience in Anesthesia and Pain Management. |

515. Dr. Carl Christensen NPI No. is 1598703621—Family Medicine Addiction
Medicine.

516. Dr. Carl Christensen was not a peer of Dr. Pompy and has not evaluated Dr.
Pompy’s performance as a member of a qualified medical peer group.

517. Dr. Carl Christensen unethically engaged, under the cover of a “peer group
review”, in a solo “review” of 24 unauthorized Dr. Pompy Subsis patients medical
files in order to give an inaccurate expert opinion to Blue Cross and DEA.

518. Dr. Carl Christensen chose five unauthorized medical records of Dr. Pompy,
patients, to wit: DA, RB, RF, ES, JH, plus the file of James Stewart for his inaccurate
expert opinion.

519. Dr. Carl Christensen was a paid member of Blue Cross Medicare Drug
Utilization Review Committee who actively collaborated with UR Diane Silas.
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520. Dr. Carl Christensen was a medico-legal advisor to Monroe County
Prosecutor’s Office (MCPO), MSP, MANTIS, and Blue Cross, and was unqualified to
pose as a neutral expert witness against Dr. Pompy in a case to which he actively
participated as a medical-legal adviser and rendered an expert opinion.

521. MCPO report that Dr. Carl Christensen made legal research for cases where
criminal charges were appropriate for the delivery of Suboxone and Methadone.

522. Dr. Carl Christensen conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. J. Alan
Robertson to refer Blue Cross employee James Howell, alias patient “James
Stewart”, to the office of Dr. Pompy with a false medical history and a false
diagnosis.

523. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

524, U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

525. The investigation, opinion, and testimony of DEA Brian Bishop and Dr. Carl
Christensen at the DEA July 2017 hearing have no judicial value and should not be
given any weigh.

526. In Oregon v. Gonzales, the Supreme Court ruled that DEA’s mandate and |
jurisdiction regarding controlled substances extends not to the intricacies of ‘
medical standards, but to diversion of controlled substances. The Court rejected
the proposition that “DEA has authority to make quintessentially medical

judgment.” (Administrative Law Judge Mulrooney, citing Gonzales v. Oregon,

546 U.S. 243 (20060, ruled 269, re In the Matter of Lesly Pompy, M.D., United ‘
States Department og Justice, Drug Enforcement Administration, Docket No. 17-

21, Chief Administrative Law Judge, John J. Mulrooney). December 20, 2017.

527. All the medical files, including the SUBSIS and Suboxone files, were seized,
reviewed, and distributed illegally.

81




Case £898:3-2033403635 <K  Eorwment 1Qédloffoer $2/30442 10789e §5geIsPof 100

528. All the medical files are tainted and must be suppressed under U.S.
Constitution and Michigan Constitution.

529. Dr. Pompy’s patients signed a NOTICE of PRIVACY in which the unauthorized
release and use of their medical records, identities, and MAPS report in
; administrative or legal proceedings are not permitted.

XX

ALLEGATIONS AGAINST DR. J. ALLAN ROBERTSON }

530. Dr. Robertson committed fraud, forgery, and unethical behavior on October
7, 2015.

531. On that date Dr. Robertson referred James Howell under the fake name
“James Stewart” to Dr. Pompy’s medical office for back/nerve problems for

several years.

532. Dr. Robertson wrote that he urged the patient to consult with a neurologist,
a physical medicine specialist, or a family practitioner for conservative
management such as PT.

533. Patient “Stewart” occupation was said to be an automobile transport driver.

534. On December 10, 2015 Dr. J. Alan Robertson gave James Howell, under the
fake patient name “James Stewart,” a second referral for pain management at Dr.
Pompy’s office, and committed fraud, forgery, and unethical behavior.

535. Dr. J. Alan Robertson conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. Carl
Christensen to train and retrain “James Stewart” to complain only of stiffness in
his back/neck.

536. Dr. J. Alan Robertson conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. Carl

'H

Christensen to train and retrain “James Howell” to lock a patient seeking

controlled substances.
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537. Dr.J. Alan Robertson conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. Carl
Christensen to violate Michigan Insurance law, Michigan Vehicle Code, Michigan
Fake ID Law, and other federal statutes.

XXV
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST BANK OF MONROE AND TRUST

538. This is a claim for fraud, breach of contract, violation of fiduciary capacity,
invasion of confidentiality of bank records and privacy of business, which arose on
September 21 and continued on September 27, 2016 out of the negligence,
incompetence, and collusion of MB& T with MSP/MANTIS and DEA.

539. On September 21, 2016 Officer Robert Blair allegedly obtained a search
warrant for financial records for Lesly Pompy’s accounts at Monroe Bank and
Trust as well for the accounts for Interventional Pain Management Associates.

540. On September 27, 2016 upon an overbroad affidavit for search warrant
authored by officer Robert Blair, an invalid search warrant was issued by
magistrate Jessica Chaffin for the search and seizure of all accounts or account
information related to any account owned in whole or in part by Lesly Pompy and
or Interventional Pain Management Associates at Monroe Bank and Trust, 102
East Front Street in the City of Monroe, County of Monroe, State of Michigan
48161, including , but not limited, to other related accounts.

541. Plaintiffs accounts were immediately seized, frozen, and placed under the
control of MANTIS Lt. Marc Moore.

542. In spite of diligent effort and repeated demands to MB& T, personally and
by counsel, and even by filing a complaint with FDIC, MB& T refused to give any
explanation and referred Dr. Pompy to Lt. Marc Moore, in violation of MCL
333.7523, Sec. (2)(d).
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543. MB& T routinely continued to fraudulently deduct bank fees from the frozen
accounts of the Plaintiffs for bounced checks, whereas the accounts were
allegedly frozen by order of magistrate Jessica Chaffin.

544. MB& T conduct is reprehensible and tantamount to frauds.

545. More than two years have elapsed and MB& T has offered no explanation to
Plaintiffs in violation of its fiduciary duty and the Michigan Financial Institution
Act.

546. Defendant MB& T violated on September 21 and 27, 2016 Plaintiffs rights:
(1) Under the Right to Financial Privacy Act of 1978 (12 USC Sec.3401 et seq.

(2) Under FDIC Law, Reguiations, Related Acts 6000-Consumer Protection (12
USC 3406-Search Warrant).

547. Defendant MB& T on September 21 and 27 2016:

(1) Breached its fiduciary duty.

(2) Invaded the confidentiality of banks records and privacy of business.

(3) Violated Plaintiffs rights to property.

(4) Violated the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act and MCL 487.14105 (m), by
authorizing Susan Mehregan and Thomas Scott to perform data processing
services for officer Robert Blair and allowing them to hand over to officer Robert

Blair two CDs containing financial information on the Plaintiffs.

548. MB& T committed tortuous interference with business relationship and
business expectancy.

549. Defendant MB& T was negligent and incompetent in accepting on
September 21, 2016 from officer Robert Blair, in lieu and place of a search
warrant, a Tabulation Sheet, copy of which was sent by MB& T to Plaintiffs.
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550. Defendant MB& T was negligent and incompetent on September 27, 2016 in
accepting without verification an invalid search warrant, without the name,
address, case number of the issuing court; and without the printed name of the
magistrate of the court.

551. Defendant MB& T was negligent and incompetent on September 27, 2016 in
accepting a search warrant without the exact description of the Plaintiff
interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C.

552. Defendant MB& T was negligent in failing to give Plaintiffs the protection of |
MCL 487.691 regarding adverse claim to bank deposit, Act 349 of 1925.

553. Defendant MB& T was negligent and incompetent in failing to give timely
written notice of the search warrant to the Plaintiffs within 90 days.

554. Because of MB& T errors, mistakes, negligence, incompetence, breach of
contract, and violation of fiduciary duty, Plaintiffs were deprived of the
possession, supervision, and control of their accounts, as well as the interests
from their Corporate Demand Deposits Accounts (DDA) at BM& T since
September 27, 2016.

555. On March 14, 2017 MB& T negligently and erroneously released $53, 787.
05 from the account of IPM, whereas the funds were ordered to be released from
the account of Lesly Pompy by “ District (sic) Court Judge Daniel S. White P
33070”.

556. More than 18 months have elapsed and MB& T has not corrected its error
and returned the funds to Dr. Pompy accounts.

557. In February 2018 an Anticipatory Seizure Warrant was allegedly obtained by
the federal prosecutor and served upon MB& T for the search and seizure of the
Plaintiffs accounts and related accounts.

558. MB& T failed again to give Plaintiffs notice of the Anticipatory Search
Warrant within 90 days, in violation of its fiduciary duty and the Michigan
Financial Institution Act.
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559. Plaintiffs accounts would not have been seized and frozen for two years but
for MB& T negligence, incompetence, and dereliction of duty in failing to give
timely notice to Plaintiffs.

560. Plaintiffs accounts would not have been seized and frozen for two years but
for MB& T negligence, incompetence, and dereliction of duty in accepting from
officer Robert Blair on September 21, 2016 a Tabulation Sheet in lieu and place of
a valid search warrant.

561. Plaintiffs would have timely filed opposition papers on the simple ground
that Plaintiffs accounts were over and above the $25,000.00 jurisdiction of the
First District Court of Michigan.

XXV
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST DEFENDANT ROBERT BLAIR

562. This is a claim for violation of civil rights and fraud which arose on
September 26, 2016, and accrued on December 22, 2016, March 16, 2018, June
26, 2018.

563. On September 23, 2016 upon two overbroad affidavits for search warrant
authored by officer Robert Blair, magistrate Jessica Chaffin illegally ordered the
search and seizure of any and all business records of the medical practice of Lesly
Pompy and/or Interventional Pain Management Associates located, (1) at 730
North Macomb Street, Suite 222, Monroe, Michigan 48162, and (2) at Dr.
Pompy’s home, 533 North Monroe Street, Monroe, Michigan, including, but not
limited to, “ account number (s); type of account; co-owners or authorized users
including name, address and telephone; account opening applications (s) or form
(s); statements; deposit and withdrawal records; checks; billpay transactions;
loans and loan application, (s); wire transfers; debit or credit card transactions;
and card account numbers. To include any and all safe deposit box {s) and the
contents thereof in the prior mentioned name or names, or business, or bits
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affiliates, and any account (s)/assets in the accounts in the prior mentioned name

(s), either singularly or jointly.”

564. Officer Robert Blair executed both search warrants on September 26, 2016
and seized property which happened to be at each location over the $25,000.00
jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan.

565. Officer Blair illegally provided a number of Dr. Pompy patient files to DEA
and to Dr. Carl Christensen, including the files for “James Stewart”, D.A., R.B., R.F,,
J.H., and E.S. Officer Blair broke the chain of custody.

566. Agent Bishop reviewed the seized computer files, gave copies to officer
Robert Blair, and illegally took files and devices to his office in Detroit. Agent
Bishop broke the chain of custody.

567. DEA agent Bishop illegally provided a number of unauthorized medical files
to the Bureau of Professional Licensing and Professional Regulatory Affairs (BPL);
and to the BPL attorneys: Assistant State Attorneys General Jennifer Fitzgerald,
Assistant State Attorney General M. Catherine Waskiewcz, and Assistant State
Attorney General Timothy Erickson. Agent Bishop broke the chain of custody.

568. BPL attorneys illegally used tainted and unauthorized medical files as
evidence at the BPL administrative hearing in Lansing, Michigan, on the summary
suspension of Dr. Pompy’s medical license.

569. DEA illegally used the tainted and unauthorized medical files of patients
D.A., R.B., J.H., R.F., E.S. as evidences at the hearing on the summary suspension
of the DEA certificates of registrations of Dr. Pompy.

570. Blue Cross illegally obtained from MSP the unauthorized medical files of
patients Ricky Bryant, Evelyn Sarnowsky, Judy Shinevarre, Catherine Bussell, Roy
Jr. Fisher, Abina Fix, Cheryl Holligworth, Loda Buell, David Cools, and Heidi
Smallwood, during the date range of 1/1/12 to 12/31/16.

571. Dr. Leon Pedell, M.D. admitted to have received from DEA Bishop and BPL
over 26,000 pages of medical records.
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572. Agent Brian Bishop illegally provided a number of unauthorized files to BPL.
Agent Bishop broke the chain of custody.

573. All the medical files were illegally obtained and are to be suppressed as
evidence in any present or future administrative or legal proceedings.

|
574. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution |
. |
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

|
575. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

XXVI
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST DEA AGENT BRIAN BISHOP

576. This is a claim for violation of civil rights, violations of court orders, abuse of

power, intimidation, trespass, and fraud which arose on September 26, 2016 and
accrued on December 22, 2016, March 16, 2018, and June 26, 2018, and ‘
continuing. ‘

577. In the morning of the raid on September 26, 2016 agent Brian Bishop and
DEA Document and Media Exploitation (DOMEX) team illegally searched and
imaged Dr. Pompy’s computer data at his medical office.

578. Agent Bishop utilized a machine created specifically for him to search
computer data, which disabled Dr. Pompy’s electronic devices beyond repair.

579. Agent Brian Bishop and DOMEX seized and removed to his office computers,
original data, including administrative, business, and medical records, in violation

of the Fourth Amendment and Article 1, Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
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protecting against unreasonable searches and seizures; warrantless searches and
seizures; due process clause and equal protection clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment protecting civil rights; Computer Fraud and Abuse Act prohibiting
against illegal downloading of medical information; HIPAA; and 42 CFR Part 2.
Agent Bishop broke the chain of custody.

580. Agent Brian Bishop questioned Dr. Pompy three times in the absence of his
attorney.

581. Agent Brian Bishop illegally distributed Dr. Pompy patient medical records to
MSP, Blue Cross, the Bureau of Professional Licensing, Dr. Carl Christensen, and
BPL expert witness Dr. Leon Pedell, in violation of the Confidentiality of
Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2). Agent Bishop broke the
chain of custody.

582. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

583. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

584. On September 30, 2016 agent Bishop filed a complaint with BPL for the
suspension and revocation of Dr. Pompy’s license to practice medicine in
Michigan.

585. DEA have three job categories: Special agents, Diversion Investigators (Dls),
and Intelligence Research Specialists.

586. DEA Special Agents are fully commissioned Federal law enforcement
officers.

587. DiIs, like agent Brian Bishop, must rely on DEA special agents or state and
local law enforcement officers.

588. DlIs are never authorized to carry firearms or to perform traditional law
enforcement activities such as making arrests or controlling informants.
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589. DIs served to deter diversion through evaluation of registrants’ record-
keeping procedures, security safeguards and general compliance with the Federal
Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and implementing regulations.

590. Agent Brian Bishop dared, in the afternoon of September 26 2016, to go
alone to Dr. Pompy’s home at 533 N. Monroe St, Monroe, after the end of the
search, broke into the premises, seized, and removed property, in violation of the
Trespass and Deception Supreme Court Rule under the Fourth Amendment.

591. Agent Bishop acted outside the scope of magistrate Chaffin search warrant.

592. Agent Bishop committed an act or action tantamount to “burglary” in
breaking into Dr. Pompy’s premises.

593. Agent Bishop abused his power and authority in arresting Dr. Pompy, and
committed a personal act outside the scope of his employment and authority.

XXVII

ALLEGATIONS AGAINST OFFICER JON LASOTTA

594. This is a claim for violation of civil rights, fraud, and illegally downloading of
unauthorized medical records, which arose on September 26, 2016 and accrued
on December 22, 2016, March 16, 2018, and June 26, 2018.

595. On September 26, 2016 officer Jon LaSotta contacted Dr. Pompy’s medical
records provider i-Patient Care, inc. during the raid.

596. Officer Jon LaSotta maliciously provided i-Patient Care, inc. with a copy of a
search warrant addressed to Lesly Pompy at Interventional Pain Management
Associates , whereas a new warrant addressed to i-Patient, Inc. was required.

597. Officer LaSotta illegally and fraudulentiy obtained from i-Patient Care Dr.
Pompy’s computer password and downloaded Dr. Pompy’s patient medical
records from January 2016 to September 26, 2016.
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598. Officer LaSotta illegally provided copies of the medical records to officer
Robert Blair.

599. On October 7, 2016 i-Patient Care provided Detective John La Sottaa with
3,241 pages of additional medical records without a subpoena or a search
warrant.

600. Officer Jon La Sotta broke the chain of custody in making copies of the
additional medical records and forwarded them to the Monroe County
Prosecuting Attorney’s Office in violation of:

a) The Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act (HIPAA)
b) The Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2)
c) The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR).

601. The chain of custody was broken. Dr. Pompy’s patients medical records
illegally obtained by officer Robert Blair, officer Jon La Sotta, agent Brian Bishop,
and DOMEX, and illegally distributed among officer Shawn Kotch, MSP, Blue
Cross, BPL, Dr. Carl Christensen, Vaughn Hafner, are still in illegal use and
possession of the defendants and/or their attorneys, particularly the medical files
of the following patients:

a) Danielle Andrews, Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher, Evelyn Sarnowsky, and John
Hernandez.

b) Ricky Bryant, Evelyn Sarnowsky, Judy Shinevarre, Catherine Bussell, Roy Fisher,
Albina Fix, Cheryl Hollingsworth, Loda Buell, David Coots, Heidi Smallwood.

c) James Stewart, Ricky Bryant, Tracy Lapalme, Diana Knight, Stephanie Stine,
Floyd England, Robin Oldham, Lisa Kohlman, Gerard Toro, Joey Shienevare,
Angela McBee, Kristen Reaster, Melissa Ball, KW, Lowry Bradley.

602. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.
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603. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

604. All the medical files of Dr. Patients were seized from invalid search warrants,
are tainted, and should be returned to their original owners.

XXVIII
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST OFFICER SHAWN KOTSCH

605. This is a claim for violation of civil rights and frauds, which arose on
September 26, 2016 and accrued on December 22, 2016 or March 16, 2018 or
June 26, 2018.

606. On September 26, 2016 Officer Shawn Kotch participated in the illegal raid
of Dr. Pompy’s office.

607. The chain of custody was broken. Officer Kotch illegally requested and
received a copy of Dr. Pompy i-Patient records from Detective Blair without the
patient authorizations, in violation of:

a) The Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act (HIPAA)
b) The Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2)
c) The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR)

608. Officer Kotch illegally interviewed Dr. Pompy twice without his attorney
being present, in violation of Dr. Pompy Fifth Amendment Right against self-
incrimination and the Sixth Amendment Right to the assistance of Counsel.

609. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantiess searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

610. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

XXIX
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COMMON ALLEGATIONS AGAIN SHELLY EDGERTON, KIM GAEDERE, SEAN M.
SIEBIGTEROTH

611. This is a claim for fraud, violation of civil rights, and Due Process which arose
on August 3, 2017 and accrued on June 22, 2018 with the end of the BPL hearing.

612. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent in the
training, retraining, supervision, and control of the employees of BPL Drug
Monitoring Section regarding the confidentiality and disclosure of medical
records, the patients identities, and the use of MAPS reports and data.

613. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent in failing to
give the employees of the Drug Monitoring Section a working knowledge of BPL
requirements for public health reporting information.

614. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent in the
training, retraining, control and supervision of the employees of BPL Drug
Monitoring Section on the Department of Health & Human Services (MDHHS)
administrative policy regarding lawsuits, litigation, legal documents, and forms.

615. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent in the
training, retraining, control and supervision of the employees of BPL Drug
Monitoring Section on MDHHS own policy regarding service of litigation
documents only by someone authorized to deliver the documents (process
server) or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and delivery
restricted to the person and address.

616. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent in
permitting the employees of BPL Drug Monitoring Section and Vaughn Hafner,
R.Ph. to violate:

(1) Mich. Admi. Code r. 325.168 regarding exchange of records;

(2) Mich. Admi. Code r. 325.9054 regarding confidentiality of reports;
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(3) Comp. Laws Ann Sec. 333.2638 regarding penalty for the person who
discloses confidential information;

{4) Comp. Laws Ann.Sec 330.1748 regarding confidentiality of information
obtained while providing mental health services;

(5) Comp. Laws Ann, Sec. 333.2242 regarding the requirement for the
department to submit an affidavit before a warrant can be issued;

(6) Comp. Laws Ann.Sec. 333.2243 regarding ground for issuance a warrant;

(7) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 333.2245 regarding the requirement for the
department to direct the appropriate sheriff or other law enforcement to assist in
an inspection upon receipt of a warrant;

(8) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec.333.2632 regarding the inadmissibility of all
information, records, and other data as evidence in a court or agency proceeding;

(9) Comp. Laws Sec. 330.1748, Sec. 330. 1748a regarding the confidentiality and
privilege of records and information relating to the mental health of an individual;

(10) Admin. Code r. 325.14116 regarding confidentiality of client case records;

(11) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 330.1261 regarding the confidentiality and disclosure
of all records listing the identity, diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment of a patient
being treated for substance use disorder;

(12) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 330.1263 regarding consent to disclose, limitations,
confidentiality of medical records within the statute being privileged to the
patients;

(13) Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 333.2635 prohibiting Michigan Department of
Community Health to demand or require data;

(14) Comp. Laws Ann 333.2631 regarding the confidentiality of data concerning
medical research project and use;
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(15} Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 333.2637 regarding procedures protecting
confidentiality and regulating disclosure of data and records; and

{16} Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 333.16238 regarding the confidentiality of
information, including patient name and other personal information received by
the Department.

617. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, Siebigteroth, and Vaughn Hafner conspired
with Blue Cross, DEA, MANTIS, Dr. Christenson, Dr. Leon Pedell to violate Mich.

Comp. Laws Ann. 333.2637 regarding procedures to protect the confidentiality of,
and regulate the disclosure of, data and records contained in a departmental data

system or system records.

618. Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Section 333. 2638, makes defendants Edgerton,
Gaedere, Siebigteroth, and Vaughn Hafner subject to immediate dismissal under
section 333.2631 to section 333.2633 for disclosing at the BPL hearing DEA
interviews and Blue Cross information and records--- Prescriber Bloc Analysis,

! Utilization Review, Pharmacy Utilization, MAPS reports--- shared with the
Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) for statistical purpose.

619. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent and
incompetent in failing to properly serve the BPL Order of Summary Suspension
and the Administrative Complaint upon Dr. Pompy, in accordance with MDHHS
“Administrative Policy Legal”. (APL 403, page 2 of 9, APB 2016-006 2-1-2016).

620. Defendant Kim Gaedere issued an Order of Summary Suspension of Dr.
Pompy medical license on August 3, 2017.

621. Dr. Pompy physical address was not written on the Order of Summary
Suspension.

622. On August 3, 2017 defendant Kim Gaedere issued an Administrative
Complaint to impose sanctions on Dr. Pompy.

623. Dr. Pompy physical address was not written on the Administrative
Complaint.
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624, Dina Young of BPL Enforcement Division certified that on August 4, 2017
she mailed the Order of Summary Suspension signed August 3, 2017 and the
Administrative Complaint signed August 3, 2017, by certified mailed, return
receipt requested, first class mail, to Lesly Pompy, M.D., Mercy Memorial
Hospital, 730 N. Macomb Street, Suite 222, Monroe, M| 48162; and by
interdepartmental mail to Andrew Hudson, Manager, Drug Monitoring Section,
Bureau of Professional Licensing.

625. Proof of service is not true and does not conform to the pleadings.

626. On August 4, 2017 agent Brian Bishop, in the presence of a BPL female
employee, personally served Dr. Pompy with a copy of the Order of Suspension
and a copy of the Administrative Complaint, File No. 43-16-143670, at ProMedica
Monroe Regional Hospital, 718 North Macomb Street, Monroe, Michigan 48162,
in presence of the hospital Vice-President.

627. Diversion investigators are precluded from ... serving arrest and search
warrants (oig.justice.gov. (Lack of Law Enforcement authority for Diversion
Investigators, Report Number 1-2002-010, September 2002.)

628. Agent Brian Bishop, being a party to the proceeding prior to September 26,
2016, and continuing, was unqualified to serve the Order of Suspension and the
Administrative Complaint, under Michigan Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 2.103
(A), as well as under MDHHS “Administrative Policy Legal” (APL 403, 2 of 9,
Lawsuits, Litigation, Legal Documents and Forms, APB 2016-006, 2-1-2016).

629. Agent Brian Bishop had filed a complaint with BPL against Dr. Pompy on
September 30, 2016.

630. Agent Brian Bishop had testified against Dr. Pompy at a DEA hearing in July
2017; and at a BPL hearing in October 2017 in Lansing, Michigan.

631. Agent Brian Bishop is a witness for the federal prosecutor in the criminal
prosecution of Dr. Pompy in the federal court.
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632. Proof of Service, by BPL Enforcement Division Diana Young, of the Order of
Suspension and the Administrative Complaint on August 4, 2017 is a false
document and constitutes a fraud.

633. The medical license of Dr. Pompy was not legally suspended on August 4,
2017 upon the fraudulent and unauthorized service of the Order of Suspension
and the Administrative Complaint by agent Brian Bishop.

634. Dr. Pompy medical license should be reinstated, effective August 3, 2017, by
BPL with full force and effect as if same has never been suspended.

635. Defendants Edgerton, Gaedere, and Siebigteroth were negligent,
incompetent, and derelict in their duty in failing to legally serve the BPL Order of
Summary Suspension and the Administrative Complaint upon Dr. Pompy
according to their own administrative policy.

636. The service of the Order of Suspension and the Administrative Complaint
was not made in accordance with the constitutional requirements for notice of
judicial proceeding under the Fourteenth Amendment (Mullane v. Central Bank &
Trust Co., 339 U.S.C. 306 (1950).

XXX
ALLEGATIONS AGAINST VAUGHN HAFNER, R.Ph

637. This is a Claim by Dr. Lesly Pompy against Vaughn Hafner, R.Ph. for fraud,
defamation, violation of civil rights and violation of Due Process, which arose on
August 4, 2017.

638. Vaughn Hafner, by his misconduct, illegally caused Dr. Pompy’s medical
license to be suspended on August 3, 2017.

639. Notwithstanding, the Suspension Order and the Administrative Complaint
were illegally served by agent Brian Bishop and are deemed invalid, null and of no
effect.
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640. Vaughn Hafner, R. Ph., posed as an expert pharmacist witness at BPL Drug
Monitoring Section with authority and qualification to testify regarding the
Bureau’s investigation into the allegations against Dr. Pompy, the Michigan
Automated Prescription System (MAPS) database, and Dr. Pompy’s prescribing
practices.

641. Dr. Pompy held Pharmacy CS-3 Licenses 5315050930 and 4301058720.

642. Vaughn Hafner had no qualification, authority, and competence to
investigate Dr. Pompy judgment in the diagnosis and treatment of his patients, as
confirmed by BPL expert witness Dr. Leon Pedell.

643. Vaughn Hafner, R.Ph. was incompetent and misled BPL, whereas he knew or
should have known, that MAPS reports were confidential by law and could not be
introduced into evidence in administrative or legal proceedings.

644. Section 17722 of the Public Health Code grants authority to the
Board of Pharmacy to regulate, control, and inspect the character and
standards of pharmacy practice; and to discipline licensees who have
adversely affected the public's health, safety, and welfare.

645. Vaughn Hafner does not have the legal authority to investigate
physician prescribing habits.

646. The practice of medicine, as defined in the Public health Code, Public
Act 368 Of 1978, means the “diagnosis, treatment, prevention, cure or
relieving of a human disease, ailment, defect, complaint, or other physical
or mental condition, by attendance, advice, device, diagnostic test, or other
means, or offering, undertaking, attempting to do, or holding oneself out as
able to do, any of these acts.”

647. Vaughn Hafner does not have the legal authority to offer expert
opinion on physician medical judgment and medical practices.

648. Vaughn Hafner was depicted in social media by his peers, from 2013 to
2017, as a racist person with no manners, a liar, idiot, stupid dumbass ugly,
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discriminating against Indians and middle eastern pharmacists, intimidating
Arabs by the way they look, and abusing his power against minorities.

649. On January 26, 2017 defendant Vaughn Hafner sent a contact letter to Dr.
POMPY, requesting for the opportunity to obtain a signed statement.

650. Defendant Hafner scheduled a meeting with Dr. Pompy after February 8,
2017.

651. Dr. Pompy called defendant Hafner immediately and left a message that he
would be ready at his convenience.

652. On February 17, 2017, nine days thereafter, while Dr. Pompy was waiting for
a call from Hafner, the latter wrote an investigation report based upon
information from MANTIS, Blue Cross, agent Brian Bishop, and Dr. Christensen;
and recommended that the file be forwarded for expert opinion.

653. Vaughn Hafner never attempted to contact Dr. Pompy personally or
through his attorney for approximately six months, from February 8, 2017 to
August 3, 2017, date of the Order of Suspension.

654. Defendant Hafner fraudulently wrote that Dr. Pompy failed to respond to his
communication.

655. Dr. Pompy had a statutory right to provide written comment and expert
opinion on the matter, prior to the suspension of his medical license.

656. Condition precedent was not met by BPL, prior to the issuance of the Order
of Summary Suspension and the Administrative Complaint.

657. The U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution provide that no person shall
be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

658. Dr. Pompy’s due process rights under the United States and Michigan
Constitution were violated.
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659. The Order of Summary Suspension and the Administrative Complaint are
violative of Dr. Pompy statutory rights to respond to BPL allegations prior to BPL
decision, as established by the Michigan Legisiature.

660. The Order of Summary Suspension and the Administrative Complaint are
consequently invalid, void, null, and of no effect.

661. Because of the misconduct, bias, and dereliction of duty of defendant
Hafner, Dr. Pompy medical license was caused to be unjustly suspended on
August 3, 2017.

662. A hearing before Administrative Law Judge Michael J. St. John on the
suspension of Dr. Pompy’s medical license was commenced on October 16, 2017.

663. Defendant Hafner admitted that he combined with Monroe County
Prosecutor’s Office, MANTIS, DEA, Blue Cross, and Dr. Christenson to criminally
investigate Dr. Pompy.

664. Defendant Hafner admitted that DEA provided him with medical files of
patients who had been predominantly prescribed Subsis.

665. At the BPL hearing, defendant Hafner introduced into evidence
impermissible 2015 MAPS report, 1/1/16 to 9/30/16 MAPS report, and
epidemiology data from Michigan Department of Health and Human Services.

666. Defendant Hafner introduced into evidence impermissible individual MAPS
data for patients Danielle Andrews, Terry Brooks, Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher, John
Hernandez, Cheryl Hollinswsworth, Michael Mudge, Judy Shinevarre, Heidi
Smallwood, and Jes Staten.

667. Defendant Hafner violated at the BPL hearing the confidentiality of the
medical records, identities, and MAPS records and data, pertaining to patients
Danielle Andrews, Terry Brooks, Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher, John Hernandez, Cheryl
Hollinsworth, Michael Mudge, Judy Shinevarre, Heidi Smallwood, and Jes Staten.
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668. The Michigan Board of Pharmacy and the Chairperson of the Board of
Medicine are not empowered to give Vaughn Hafner, a pharmacist, the authority
to investigate medical practices of physicians licensed by the Board of Medicine.

669. Defendant Vaughn Hafner was not qualified under the Dauber test to testify
against Dr. Pompy.

670. Medical records received by Hafner from DEA were illegally obtained and
are to be suppressed in all administrative and legal proceedings.

671. Defendant Vaughn Hafner violated in addition:

{1} Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. 333.2637 regarding procedures to protect the
confidentiality of, and regulate the disclosure of, data and records contained in a
departmental data system or system records.

(2) Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Section 333. 2638, which makes him subject to
immediate dismissal for violations of section 2631 to 2633.

(3) . The Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability (HIPAA).

(4). The Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part
2.).

(5). BCBSM and BCN HIPAA Compliance Statements.

(6) The Public health law on the confidentiality, disclosure, privacy, exchange of
public health reporting.

672. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

673. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

XXXI
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THE COUNTS

674. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

675. Plaintiffs have more than (30) thirty just and meritorious causes of action
upon which relief can be granted for the following reasons:

a) Defendants Tina Todd, Jessica Chaffin, Jack Vitale, Marc Moore, Robert Blair,
Jon LaSotta, Shawn Kotch, Brian Bishop, Shelly Edgerton, Sean Msiebigteroth, Kim
Gaedeke, Vaughn Hafner, Dina Young, hereinafter referred as government
employees, knew they were not acting within the scope of their employment and
authority, and consequently are not protected by qualified immunity for their
misconduct.

b) The government employees willfully and knowingly violated Dr. Pompy basic
civil rights to life, liberty, and property and committed criminal assault, abuse of
process, unauthorized signatures on documents, extortion, battery and false
imprisonment. They are not protected by qualified immunity.

c) The government employees willfully and knowingly violated established laws
and current procedures. They are not protected by qualified immunity.

d) Because of the misconduct, negligence, and incompetence of the government
employees, including Blue Cross, MB& T, and Ray Kisonas, Dr. Pompy was
damaged, physically and morally, and was caused to sustain discrimination, pain
and suffering, defamation, loss of reputation, destruction of medical career in the
states of Michigan, New York,, Florida, and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

e) IPM was caused to sustain, inter alia, heavy damages, loss of business and
business expectancy.

COUNT 1

MAGISTRATE TINA TODD DEPARTED FROM HER JUDICIAL ROLE
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676. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

677. The claim arose on September 21, 2016 out of magistrate Todd tortious acts
outside the scope of her authority and jurisdiction.

678. On September 21, 2016 Officer Robert Blair authored an overbroad affidavit
for the search and seizure of financial information on Dr. Pompy and
Interventional Pain Management Associates at MB& T.

679. Magistrate TINA TODD issued a search warrant outside of her competence,
outside of the jurisdiction of the First District Court of Michigan, and in viclation
MCL 780.651.

680. Magistrate TINA TODD exceeded her power and authority under the terms
of her appointment by the judges of the First District Court of Michigan.

681. Magistrate TINA TODD departed from her judicial role and committed
inexcusable judicial error, gross negligence, and misconduct.

682. Magistrate TINA TODD is not covered by judicial immunity for tortious acts
committed outside the scope of her jurisdiction or authority.

683. Magistrate Todd conduct violates clearly established statutory or
constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.

684. Magistrate TINA TODD has a propensity for misconduct. (Michael D.
McCray v. Marc Moore, et al., United States District Court, Eastern District
of Michigan, Southern Division, U.S. District Judge Denise Page Hood, U.S.
Magistrate Judge Michael Hluchaniuk, Case No. (7-13297.)

685. Magistrate Todd is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified
immunity.

686. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
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687. Magistrate TINA TODD is liable for her own misconduct to Dr. Pompy under
18 U.S.C. 1347

688. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

689. . Plaintiffs are entitled to the value of magistrate Todd Performance Bond, in
addition to compensatory damages in the amount of $5,000,000.00.

690. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00
COUNT 2
MAGISTRATE JESSICA CHAFFIN DEPARTED FROM HER JUDICIAL ROLE

691. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

692. The claim arose on September 23, 2016 out of magistrate Jessica Chaffin
tortious acts outside her jurisdiction and authority.

693. On September 23 and 27, 2016 Officer Robert Blair authored two overbroad
affidavits for search and seizure of property at Dr. Pompy’s office and
home.(EXHIBITS 1, 2 & 3)

6394. Magistrate JESSICA CHAFFIN issued two invalid search warrants in violation
of Michigan Court Rules, the rules of the State Court Administrative Office (SCAO).
And MCL 780.651.

695. The name and address of the financial institution in which the money seized
was required to be deposited was omitted in violation of MCL 333. 7523, Sec. (2)

(d).

696. On March 16, 2018 the seized items were ordered by Monroe County
Circuit Court to be returned to Dr. Pompy and IPM.

697. Magistrate JESSICA CHAFFIN exceeded her power and authority under the
terms of her appointment by the judges of the First District Court of Michigan.
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698. Magistrate JESSICA CHAFFIN exceeded the jurisdiction of the First District
Court of Michigan.

699. Magistrate JESSICA CHAFFIN acted outside of her jurisdiction.

700. Magistrate JESSICA CHAFFIN committed inexcusable judicial error, gross
negligence, and misconduct.

701. The conduct of magistrate Chaffin violates clearly established statutory or
constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.

702. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
the evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

703. Magistrate Chaffin departed from her judicial role and may have committed
a fraudulent act.

704. The conduct of magistrate Todd is reprehensible and not to be condoned.

705. Magistrate Chaffin is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of
qualified immunity.

706. Magistrate JESSICA CHAFFIN is not covered by judicial immunity for tortious
acts or omissions committed outside her jurisdiction or authority.

707. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

708. Magistrate Jessica Chaffin is liable to Dr. Pompy for her own misconduct
under 18 U.S.C. 1347.

709. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.
710. Plaintiffs are entitled to the $50,000.00 Performance Bond.

711. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

712. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damage in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
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COUNT 3
JUDGE JACK VITALE DEPARTED FROM HIS JUDICIAL ROLE

713. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

714. The claim arose on September 28, 2016 out of judge Jack Vitale tortious acts
and misconduct outside his jurisdiction and authority.

715. On September 28, 2016 officer Robert Blair authored three overbroad
affidavits for search warrant to be executed in Michigan, Florida, and New
York.(EXHIBITS 4, 5 & 6).

716. Judge JACK VITALE issued three invalid search warrants.

717. The name and address of the financial institution in which the money seized
was required to be deposited was omitted in violation of MCL 333. 7523, Sec. (2)

(d).

718. On March 16, 2018 the seized items were ordered by Monroe County Circuit
Court to be returned to Dr. Pompy and IPM.

719. Judge JACK VITALE exceeded the jurisdiction, power, and authority of the
First District Court of Michigan.

720. Judge JACK VITALE acted outside of his jurisdiction.

721. Judge JACK VITALE committed inexcusable judicial error, gross negligence,
and misconduct.

722. The conduct of judge Vitale violated clearly established statutory or
constitutional rights of which a reasonable persen would have known.

723. Judge Jack Vitale departed from his judicial role.

724. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.
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725. Judge Vitale is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified
immunity.

726. JUDGE JACK Vitale is not covered by judicial immunity for tortious acts or
omissions committed outside the scope of his jurisdiction or authority.

727. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

728. Judge Jack Vitale is liable to Dr. Pompy for his own misconduct under 18
U.S.C. 1347.

729. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

730. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00

731. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00
COUNT 4
Lt. MARC MOORE VIOLATED DR. POMPY 4™ AND 14" AMENDMENTS RIGHTS

732. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the ailegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

733. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when MSP/MANTIS Lt. Marc Moore
directed and supervised unreasonably the search and seizure of Plaintiffs
property without Due Process.

734. Lt. Marc Moore lacked the training, retraining, and supervision experience
regarding the constitutional rights of citizens under the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments.

735. Lt. Marc Moore, by his involvement in the issuance of the search warrants
issued by magistrate Chaffin, knew and should have Known that they were
invalid, illegal, and not conform to the law.

107




Case £a9ecl-2b3y408635-Sikl  Boruent-107iibd ibed412620/2894T1Bar0809 PAGE S of 91

736. Lt. Marc Moore and his officers were negligent in participating in the illegal
searches and seizures of September 26, 2016.

737. Lt. Marc Moore violated Dr. Pompy Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment
rights on September 26, 2016.

738. Lt. Marc Moore is not protected by qualified immunity.
739. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

740. Lt. Marc Moore and his officers are, jointly or severally, liable to Plaintiffs,
under 42 U.S.C. Sec.1983.

741. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

742. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

743. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of 10,000,000.00.
COUNTS5

Dr. POMPY HAS A FIRST AMENDMENT RETALIATION CLAIM AGAINST OFFICER
MARC MOORE, DEA AGENT BRIAN BISHOP, OFFICER ROBERT BLAIR, AND
OFFICER SHAWN KOTCH

744. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

745. The claim accrued on September 26, 2016 out of discrimination by Monroe
County Prosecutor’s Office and Lt. Marc Moore.

746. Dr. Linares was born in Cuba and went to medical school in the Dominican
Republic.

747. Dr. Pompy was born in Haiti and went to medical school in New York.

748. Dr. Daniel Mekasha, a black physician from Ethiopia, who was educated at

Wayne State University, in Michigan, was forced to leave Monroe.
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749. Dr. Daniel Mekasha is affiliated with Henry Ford Hospital in Detroit and
Promedica Monroe regional Hospital in Monroe.

750. Dr. MEKASHA is a specialist in Anesthesiologist, with subspecialties in Pain
Medicine and Pediatric Pain Medicine.

751. Officer Marc Moore and agent Brian Bishop labelled the former patients of
Dr. Linares “Drug Diverters” or “DRUG SEEKERS.”

752. The former patients of Dr. Linares were denied access to medical care and
were desperate for help.

753. Dr. Pompy openly expressed his decision to accept them for treatment in
accordance to his First Amendment Right.

754. Dr. Pompy office and home was searched in retaliation for his exercising his
freedom of expression under Michigan Constitution, Section Five.

755. Dr. Pompy office and home was searched in retaliation for his exercising his
freedom of expression under the First Amendment.

756. Dr. Pompy was prosecuted before DEA Administrative Law Judge Mulrooney
and before the Administrative Law Judge Michael J. St. John of the Michigan
Administrative System, in retaliation for his exercising his Academic Freedom as a
lecturer for INSYS.

757. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Bishop, officer Blair, and officer Kotch are not
shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

758. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Bishop, officer Blair, and officer Kotch are, jointly or
severally, liable to Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. 1983.

759. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
760. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

761. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of

$5,000,000.00
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762. Dr. Pompy entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
COUNT 6

Lt. MARC MOORE, AGENT BRIAN BISHOP, OFFICER ROBERT BLAIR, AND OFFICER
SHAWN KOTCH USED EXCESSIVE FORCE DURING THE SEARCHES

763. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

764. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when law enforcement raided the
office and home of Dr. Pompy.

765. Defendants Moore, Bishop, Blair, Kotch used excessive force based upon the
objective-reasonableness standard.

766. The officers had no justifiable fear of personal safety based upon their 8:30
A.M. quiet visit.

767. A reasonable police officer would not have been justifiable concerned for his
safety after the quiet 8:30 A.M. visit.

768. A reasonable police officer could have believed that the level of force used
was unlawful based upon the quiet 8:30 A.M. visit.

769. Lt. Marc Moore and law enforcement officers unnecessarily placed Dr.
Pompy in solitary confinement and continued to detain him after the search
ended.

770. The use of excessive force in the execution of search warrant constitutes a
Fourth Amendment violation.

771. Dr. Pompy’s patients medical records were illegally searched, seized, and
divuiged..

772. The search warrants were invalid and dismissed thereafter on March 16,
2018.
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773. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of

law.

774. U.S. Constitution and Michigan Constitution require suppression of all
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

775. Defendants are not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified
immunity.

776. Defendants are, jointly or severally, liable to the plaintiffs under 42 U.S.Code
Section 1983.

777. Dr. Pompy suffered a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
778. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

779. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
5,000,000.00.

780. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.

COUNT 7

OFFICER MOORE, AGENT BISHOP, OFFICER KOTCH ILLEGALLY DETAINED DR.
POMPY DURING SEARCHES

781. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

782. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when Dr. Pompy was falsely
arrested and illegally imprisoned.

783. Dr. Pompy was detained in his office 5 %2 hours from 10:00 A. M. to 3:30 PM
and, thereafter, handcuffed and taken to Monroe County Jail in a police car.
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784. Lt. Moore, agent Bishop, officer Kotch violated the Due Process Clause and
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protecting Dr. Pompy civil
rights.

785. All the medical records subject to this proceeding were obtained illegally.

786. The search warrants were invalid and dismissed thereafter Monroe County
Circuit Court on March 16, 2018.

787. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
the evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

788. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of

law.

789. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Shawn Kotch are not shielded
from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

790. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Shawn Kotch are liable to Dr.
Pompy, jointly or severally, under 42 US.C. Sec. 1983.

791. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
792. Plaintiffs are entitied to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

793. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

794. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00.
COUNT 8

THE CONDUCT OF LT. MARC MOORE IS TENTAMOUNT TO CRUEL AND UNUSUAL
TREATMENT, ASSAULT, AND BATTERY

795. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.
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796. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when Lt. Marc Moore detained Dr.
Pompy in his office in an inhuman condition, tantamount to assault and battery,
causing Dr. Pompy to become sick.

797. Dr. Pompy was shot in the left arm in 1985 by a would-be thief in New York.

798. For 10 % hours officer Marc Moore did not permit Dr. Pompy to have lunch;
to have access to drinking water; to go to the toilet for his natural needs; or to call
his attorney, in violation of the six and eight Amendments, and in violation of MCL
780.657 Sec.7.

799. Dr. Pompy was under duress and emotional distress for 10 % hrs.
800. Dr. Pompy memory became adversely impacted.

801. Dr. Pompy was confined to a bounded place and forced to provide the
password of his I-Phone.

802. During confinement in his private office and imprisonment at Monroe
County Jail, Dr. Pompy suffered extreme injury, including humiliation, anguish,
embarrassment.

803. Dr. Pompy was subject to slander, discrimination, threats, and intimidation.
804. All the medical records subject to this proceeding were illegally obtained.

805. The search warrants were invalid and dismissed thereafter on March 16,
2018,

806. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

807. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

808. Lt. Marc Moore is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified
immunity.
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809. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

810. Lt. Marc Moore is liable to Dr. Pompy for his misconduct under 42 U.5.C.
Sec. 1983.

811. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

812. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000.000.00

813. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00.

COUNT 9

Lt. MARC MOORE, DI BRIAN BISHOP, OFFICER SHAWN KOTSCH VIOLATED DR.
POMPY SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO AN ATTORNEY

814. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

815. A first claim arose on September 26, 2016 when Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian
Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch interviewed Dr. Pompy in the absence of his
attorney.

816. A second claim arose on March 2, 2017 when Lt. Marc Moore and agent
Brian Bishop interviewed Dr. Pompy in the absence of his attorney in the parking
lot of ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital.

817. Dr. Pompy was questioned four times by Lt. Marc Moore, prior to the
search, during the search, after the search, and on March 2, 2017 in the absence
of his attorney.

818. Dr. POMPY was questioned three times by DI BISHOP prior to the search,
after the search, and on March 2, 2017 in the absence of his attorney.

819. Dr. Pompy was questioned once by officer Shawn Kotsch after the search.
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820. Dr. Pompy had the right to the assistance of counsel under the Sixth
Amendment.

821. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

822. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

823. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Bishop, and officer Kotsch are not shielded from
liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

824. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

825. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Bishop, and officer Kotsch are liable to Dr. Pompy for
their misconduct under 42 U.S.C. 1983,

826. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

827. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

828. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.

COUNT 10

Dr. POMPY WAS PROTECTED AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION UNDER THE FIFTH
AMENDMENT PRIVILEGE

829. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

830. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when Dr. Pompy was detained and
questioned by Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch.
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831. Dr. Pompy was in a coercive atmosphere during the custodial police
interrogations.

832. Dr. Pompy was not given the Miranda Warnings by LT. Marc Moore, agent
Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch.

833. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

834. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

835. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch are not
shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

836. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch are liabie to
Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally.

837. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
838. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

839. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

840. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000.000.00
COUNT 11

Lt MOORE, AGENT BISHOP, OFFICER KOTCH VIOLATED Dr. POMPY RIGHTS
UNDER THE 4" AMENDMENT PROTECTING HIM AGAINSTFALSE ARREST AND
IMPRISONMENT

841. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.
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842. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when Dr. Pompy was illegally
arrested by Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch.

843. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch violated Dr.
Pompy’s constitutional rights and civil liberties.

844. Dr. Pompy was falsely arrested without an arrest warrant, confined in a
bounded place without his will, and illegally imprisoned at the Monroe County
Jail, in violation of the Fourth Amendment and MCL 780.652 (2).

845. Brian Bishop was not commissioned DEA Special Agent and had no authority
to arrest Dr. Pompy.

846. Diversion Investigator has never been authorized to carry firearms or to
perform traditional law enforcement activities such as making arrests or
controlling informants.

847. Agent Brian Bishop abused his authority and power and acted outside of his
jurisdiction.

848. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

849. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

850. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch are not
shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

851. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch are liable to
Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally.

852. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

853. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.
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854. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$50,000,000.00.

855. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$100,000,000.00.

COUNT 12

Dr. POMPY WAS PROTECTED ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016 UNDER THE FOURTH
AMENDMENT PROHIBITING UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES

856. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

857. The searches and seizures on September 26, 2016 by LT. MOORE, officer
Blair, officer Kotsch, agent Bishop were violent, excessive, and illegal.

858. The searches and seizures were illegally ordered by magistrate Jessica
Chaffin of the First District Court of Michigan.

859. Magistrate Chaffin had no competence over the subject matter under the
terms of her appointment and the jurisdiction of the First District Court of
Michigan.

860. The search warrants were invalid, void, and null.

861. The search warrants were ipso facto dismissed on March 16, 2018 as
corollaries of the dismissal of the in rem civil forfeiture action in Monroe County

Circuit Court.

862. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

863. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.
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864. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Robert Blair, and officer Shawn
Kotsch are not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

865. Lt Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Robert Blair, and officer Shawn
Kotch are liable to Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally.

866. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
867. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

868. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

869. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
COUNT 13

LT MARC MOORE, AGENT BRIAN BISHOP, OFFICER ROBERT BLAIR, OFFICER
SHAWN KOTSCH OBTAINED, DISCLOSED, AND REDISCLOSED UNAUTHORIZED
MEDICAL RECORDS

870. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

871. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when the home and office of Dr.
Pompy was raided by law enforcement and patients medical records were illegally
searched and seized.

872. LT Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Robert Blair, and officer Shawn
Kotsch illegally obtained, disclosed, re-disclosed, and divulged to DEA, BCBSM, Dr.
Carl Christensen, and Dr. Leon Pedell unauthorized protected health records,
identifications, MAPS records of Dr. Pompy SUBSIS and SUBOXONE patients
during their investigation. The chain of custody was broken.

873. Defendants violated:

a) The Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability Act (HIPAA)

b) The Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2)
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d) The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR).
e) BCBSM and Blue Care Network HIPAA Compliance Statements.

874. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

875. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

876. Lt Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Robert Blair, and officer Shawn
Kotsch are not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

877. Lt Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Robert Blair, and officer Shawn
Kotch are liable to Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally.

878. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
879. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

880. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

881. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00
COUNT 14
DR. POMPY WAS CONTINUOUSLY BULLIED BY Lt. MARC MOORE

882. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

883. The claim arose on January 19 2018, and continuing, when Lt. Marc Moore
re-engaged in false statements, misrepresentations, and defamation against Dr.
Pompy in Monroe News.

884. Since September 26, 2016 Lt. Marc Moore has been subjecting Dr. Pompy
to libel, slander, threats of criminal charges, intimidation, defamation in
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newspapers, televisions, social media, networking services, particularly in Monroe
News, WTOL of Toledo, The Blade of Toledo, Twitter, inc., and WXYTFM-Branded
97-1 The Ticket.

885. Lt. Marc Moore is known to have a propensity for misconduct. (Michael D.
McCray v. Marc Moore, et al., United States District Court, Eastern District
of Michigan, Southern Division, U.S. District Judge Denise Page Hood, U.S.
Magistrate Judge Michael Hluchaniuk, Case No. 07-13297.)

886. Lt. Marc Moore ordered his officers to follow Dr. Pompy and his employees
in unmarked police cars; continued to harass and threaten to put them in jail,
until one employee and her husband filed a complaint with Monroe County
Prosecutor’s Office.

887. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

888. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of

law.

889. Lt. Marc Moore is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified
immunity.

890. Lt. Marc Moore is liable to Dr. Pompy.
891. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
892. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

893. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00

894. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.

COUNT 15
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AGENT BRIAN BISHOP FAILED TO GIVE NOTICE AFTER THE RAID

895. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

896. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when agent Brian BISHOP seized
numerous items at Dr. Pompy’s office and home, unrelated to the search warrant;
and failed to put the property owners on notice in violation of MCL 780.655 Sec. 5

(1).

897. Agent Brian Bishop failed to give Dr. Pompy, IPM, and innocent property
owners notice of the seizure within 90 days from September 26, 2016 under 18
U.S. Code Sec. 983 (a) (1) (A) (iv).

898. Failure to give timely notice invalidates the alleged February 2018 federal
Anticipatory Search Warrant (s) under U.S.C. Sec.983 (a) (1) (A) (iv).

899. Agent Brian Bishop failed to return the seized property to the Plaintiffs as
required by 18 U.S. Code Sec. 983 (a) (1) (F).

900. The conduct of agent Brian Bishop is tantamount to misconduct, gross and
wanton negligence.

901. Agent Brian Bishop and/or his federal partners violated Dr. Pompy’s Fifth
Amendment Rights to DUE PROCESS in failing to give Dr. Pompy copy(ies) of the
affidavit(s) for the issuance of an alleged February 2018 Anticipatory Search
Warrant (s).

902. Dr. Pompy was illegally prevented from opposing the entry of the order for
the issuance of the alleged Anticipatory Search Warrant (s).

903. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

904. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of

law.
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905. Agent Brian Bishop caused Dr. Pompy to suffer a great prejudice and
irreparable harm,

906. Agent Brian Bishop is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of
qualified immunity.

907. Agent Brian Bishop is liable for his own misconduct.
908. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

909. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

910. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
COUNT 16

Lt. MARC MOORE, AGENT BRIAN BISHOP, OFFICER SHAWN KOTSCH FALSELY
ARRESTED DR. POMPY AND DENIED HIM RIGHT TO COUNSEL

911. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

912. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when Dr. Pompy was arrested and
was not permitted to call his attorney.

913. The claim accrued on March 16, 2018 upon the settlement agreement.

914. The claim accrued on June 26, 2018 when a criminal forfeiture action was
commenced against Dr. Pompy.

915. On September 26, 2016 agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, and officer
Shawn Kotsch questioned Dr. Pompy in the absence of his attorney.

916. After the search agent Brian Bishop accused Dr. Pompy of having committed
numerous violations.

917. Officer Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch
immediately placed Dr. Pompy under arrest and removed him from the scene, in
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violation of his Fourth Amendment Right requiring probable cause for seizure.
CENTANNI v. EIGHT UNKNOWN OFFICERS, 15 F. 3d 587, 591 (G'h Cir.1994).

918. Agent Brian Bishop, as a Diversion Investigator, was not authorized by DEA
on September 26, 2016 to perform traditional law enforcement activities such as
making arrests or controlling informants.

919. Agent Brian Bishop official role at DEA was to deter diversion through
evaluation of the registrants’ record-keeping procedures, security safeguards and
general compliance with the Federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and
implementing regulations.

920. Agent Brian Bishop exceeded the power and authority of the DEA Detroit
Field Office, and committed misconduct.

921. Agent Brian Bishop violated Dr. Pompy’s Fifth Amendment rights prohibiting
double jeopardy, compelled self-incrimination, and deprivations of life, liberty, or
property without due process.

922. Agent Brian Bishop violated the DUE Process Clause and Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

923. Agent Brian Bishop violated Dr. Pompy’s Sixth Amendment Rights to
assistance of counsel.

924. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
the evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

925. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

926. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

927. Agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, and officer Shawn Kotsch are not
shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.
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928. Agent Brian Bishop, Lt. Marc Moore, and officer Shawn Kotsch are liable to
Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally, under 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983.

929. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

930. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

931. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00
COUNT 17

AGENT BRIAN BISHOP VIOLATED THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF MEDICAL
RECORDS, PATIENTS IDENTITIES, AND MAPS REPORTS

932. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

933. This is a claim for fraud on September 26, 2016.

934. The claim accrues on September 26, 2016, March 16, 2018, and/or June 26,
2018.

935. Agent Brian Bishop admitted that on September 26, 2016 he and DOMEX
searched and imaged Dr. Pompy computer data.

936. Agent Brian Bishop illegally downloaded the names, identifications, and
medical records of over 1500 patients.

937. Agent Brian Bishop admitted to have disseminated copies of said records to
DEA, BPL, Dr. Carl Christensen, Dr. Leon Pedell, Monroe County Prosecutor’s
Office, their employees or agents. The chain of custody was broken.

938. Agent Brian Bishop obtained, disclosed, and re-disclosed Dr. Pompy patients
medical records already tainted by false arrest, illegal imprisonment, and law
enforcement misrepresentations, in violation of MCL 780.652 (2), Dr. Pompy
constitutional rights, Dr. Pompy civil liberties, and federal statute.
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939. Agent Brian Bishop removed to his office multiple medical records seized by
officer Robert Blair under the false and invalid search warrants of the First District
Court of Michigan. The chain of custody was broken.

940, Medical records turned over to agent Brian Bishop were removed without
leave of the court and remained illegally under agent Bishop possession, control,
and supervision. The chain of custody was broken.

941. Agent Brian Bishop had no legal authority, power, or authorizations to
obtain, disclose, re-disclose Dr. Pompy patients medical records.

942. Agent Brian Bishop admitted freely that he obtained, disclosed, and re-
disclosed Dr. Pompy patient medical records. The chain of custody was broken.

943. The tainted medical records were used for the summary suspension of the
DEA certificates of registration of the Plaintiffs and the BPL summary suspension
of Dr. Pompy’s medical license. The chain of custody was broken.

944. Agent Brian Bishop violated :

A) Michigan Constitution.

B) The Fourth Amendment prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures.

C) The Trespass and Deception Rule of the Fourth Amendment.

D) The DUE Process Clause and Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment.

E) The Computer Fraud and Abuse Act.

F) The Invasion of Privacy Laws

G) The Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability (HIPAA)

H) The Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2.).
I) Plaintiffs Right to Financial Privacy Act (12 U.S.C.3401, et seq.).

945. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.
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946. U.S. Constitution and Art. 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
faw.

947. Agent Brian Bishop is liable to Dr. Pompy.
948. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

949. Agent Brian Bishop is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of
qualified immunity

950. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

951. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

952. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00
COUNT 18

AGENT BRIAN BISHOP COMMITTED FRAUD AND VIOLATION OF PRIVACY ON
SEPTENBER 26, 2016

953. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint. This is a claim for fraud and violation of
privacy which arose on September 26, 2016.

954. Defendant Bishop admitted that on September 26, 2016 he went alone to
Dr. Pompy home after the end of the search by MANTIS, and removed property to
his office without a search warrant or a subpoena. Dr. Pompy’s home was not a
DEA registered location and was off the jurisdiction of agent Bishop. The chain of
custody was broken.

955. Defendant Bishop violated the Trespass and Deception Rule of the Fourth
Amendment; federal, state, and local privacy laws and rules.
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956. U.S. Constitution and Article 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

957. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

958. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

959. Agent Brian Bishop is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of
qualified immunity.

960. Agent Brian Brian Bishop is liable to Dr. Pompy.
961. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

962. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00

963. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
COUNT 19

OFFICER JON LASOTTA VIOLATED THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF MEDICAL
RECORDS

964. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

965. This is a claim for fraud which arose on September 26, 2016

when officer Jon La Sotta maliciously misstated to i-Patient Care, Inc. that he had
a search warrant for the search and seizure of Dr. Pompy’s patients medical
records.

966. Officer Jon La Sotta fraudulently obtained Dr. Pompy ‘s computer password
from i-Patient Care upon faxing an invalid and false search warrant.
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967. Officer Jon La Sotta downloaded the i-Patient patients medical records from
January 2016 through September 26, 2016.

968. Officer Jon La Sotta provided the medical records to officer Robert Blair who
handed copies thereof to DEA and officer Shawn Kotch. The chain of custody was
broken.

969. On October 7, 2016 Officer Jon La Sotta illegally obtained from i-Patient Care
the entire medical records of Dr. Pompy patients.

970. Officer John La Sotta made copies of the records for the attorneys of
Monroe County Prosecutor’s Office. The chain of custody was broken.

971. Officer Jon La Sotta violated Michigan Penal Law, sec. 750.159n (4) (b)
requiring a valid search warrant before a seizure.

972. Officer Jon La Sotta violated the Due Process Clause of the Fifth and
Fourteenth Amendments protecting Dr. Pompy’s civil rights.

973. Officer Jon La Sotta violated HIPPA, 42 CFR Part 2, the Computer and Abuse
Act, and the confidentiality of the patients protected health information and
identities.

974. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

975. U.S. Constitution and Article 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law.

976. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

977. Officer La Sotta is not shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified
immunity.

978. Officer Jon La Sotta is liable to Dr. Pompy.

979. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.
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980. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00

981. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00
COUNT 20

Lt. MARC MOORE, AGENT BRIAN BISHOP, AND OFFICER SHAWN KOTSCH
VIOLATED Dr. POMPY RIGHTS TO COUNSEL.

982. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

983. The claim arose on September 26, 2016 when the office and the home of Dr.
Pompy were raided.

984. This is a claim for violation of Dr. Pompy’s right to the assistance of counsel,
which accrued on March 16, 2018 and/or june 26, 2018.

985. LT. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch questioned
Dr. Pompy on September 26, 2016 prior to the search, during the search, and
after the search.

986. Dr. Pompy was questioned in the absence of his attorney.

987. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch violated Dr.
Pompy'’s privilege against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment.

988. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Bishop and officer Shawn Kotsch violated Dr. Pompy’s
right to the assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment.

989. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and office Shawn Kotsch violated the
confidentiality of the patients protected health information and identities.

990. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Shawn Kotsch violated HIPPA.

991. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Shawn Kotsch violated 42 CFR
Part 2.
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8992. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all the
evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

993. U.S. Constitution and Article 1 and Section 11 of the Michigan Constitution
dictate that warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable as a matter of
law

994. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

995. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, and officer Shawn Kotsch are not
shielded from liability under the doctrine of qualified immunity.

996. Lt. Marc Moore, agent Brian Bishop, officer Shawn Kotsch are liable to Dr.
Pompy, jointly or severally.

997. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

998. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000.000.00.

999. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damage in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
COUNT 21
BLUE CROSS BREACHED ITS CONTRACT WITH PLAINTIFFS

1000. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1001. This is a claim for fraud, malicious prosecution, and breach of contract
which arose on September 26, 2016 when the home and the office of Dr. Pompy
were raided. ‘

1002. Plaintiffs were bound by contract to Blue Cross.

1003. Plaintiffs were the third party beneficiaries of multiple contracts between
Blue Cross and its members.
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1004. Plaintiffs would not have signed any contract with Blue Cross or
subcontract with its affiliates, had they known that the officers, directors,
managers of Blue Cross and affiliated companies could, without the authority of
Blue Cross certificate of incorporation, conspire, combine, collude, and assist
State, federal, and local law enforcement in raiding their medical practice and
home; conducting a criminal investigation based on innuendoes; and faciliting the
seizing their assets.

1005. Blue Cross committed mulitiple frauds against Plaintiffs.

1006. Plaintiffs had not authorized and had no legal authority to ailow Blue Cross
to forward, disclose, or re-disclose their patient medical records and data to law
enforcement. The chain of custody was broken.

1007. From January 1, 2012 to September 25, 2016 Dr. Pompy provided medical
services to members of BLUECAID of MICHIGAN {BCM), Blue Care of Michigan,
Inc. (BCM), Blue Care Network of Michigan (BCBM), Blue Cross BlueShield of
Michigan (BCBSM), Blue Cross Complete of Michigan LLC (BCCML), Blue Cross
Complete of Michigan (BCCM).

1008. Upon information and belief, on February 3, 2012 BLUECAID of Michigan
changed its name to Blue Cross Complete of Michigan (BCCM).

1009. Upon information and belief, on June 1, 2015 BCBSM merged with other
affiliates and kept its name.

1010. Upon information and belief BCCM was not in operation from June 2, 2015
to September 26, 2016.

1011. BCBSM offered no certification, by a past officer of BCCM, or an officer of
the successor to BCCM, that the data submitted by BCBSM CFl on behalf of the
defunct corporations was a true and accurate copy of a record kept in ordinary
course of business.
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1012. CFI Brian Zasadny and manager Jim Gallagher were not officers, directors,
or trustees of Blue Cross or the defunct affiliates, and were not statutorily
competent to submit official data on behalf of Blue Cross or the defunct affiliates.

1013. CFI Brian Zasadny and manager Gallagher were not Blue Cross officers and
had no administrative power or authority to submit official documents in legal
proceedings on behalf of Blue Cross or the defunct affiliates.

1014. Blue Cross 344 pages of Prescriber Block Analysis and 169 pages of
Pharmacy Utilization were unsubstantiated, unsigned, uncertified, and were not
submitted by a Blue Cross officer as a true and certified copy of a record kept in
ordinary course of business.

1015. Blue Cross Prescriber Block Analysis and the Pharmacy Utilization are
invalid, void, and of no effect.

1016. Plaintiffs were encouraged and required to bill Blue Cross and affiliates
electronically on the basis of intensity of services, diagnosis, and medical coding.

1017. Blue Cross did not sell or furnish the Providers any software to bill
electronically on the basis of face to face visits medical coding.

1018. Plaintiffs bought and used every year a new i-Patient Care software,
preapproved by Blue Cross for electronic medical coding and billing.

1019. Plaintiffs bills for medical services are first reviewed and approved by
appropriate Blue Cross department before payment was authorized.

1020. Plaintiffs bills for certain procedures are first reviewed and preapproved,
before service was authorized and payment made.

1021. Blue Cross CFl and Fraud departments surmised that Plaintiffs were
involved in health care fraud.

1022. In November 2015 Blue Cross ordered their employees to join
MSP/MANTIS and investigate Dr. Pompy medical practices and billing.
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1023. Blue Cross exceeded its authority under its Certificate of Incorporation.

1024. Blue Cross demanded no audit prior to the commencement of the
investigation.

1025. Blue Cross demanded no audit prior to the raid of September 26, 2016.
1026. Blue Cross members had filed no complaint against Plaintiffs.

1027. There was no pending contested claim.

1028. There was no pending appeal processes.

1029. Blue Cross CFl and Waste departments wrongfully questioned the necessity
for prescription of SUBSIS, SUBOXONE, and other controlled substances without
an audit or Dr. Pompy pain management peer review and after the approval of Dr.
Pompy’s claims by its competent department for payment of claims.

1030. Blue Cross retroactively denied necessity for treatment from January 1,
2012 to September 26, 2016 without a peer group process in violation of
contractual agreement.

1031. Blue Cross breached its contractual agreement with Plaintiffs.
1032. Blue Cross engaged in bad faith and unfair dealing.
1033. Blue Cross engaged in defamation, fraud, and deceitful business practice.

1034. Blue Cross had no power, competence, or authority under its Certificate of
Incorporation to criminally investigate Plaintiffs upon law enforcement demand.

1035. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1036. Blue Cross is liable to the Plaintiffs.
1037. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1038. The plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$100,000,000.00.
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1039. The plaintiffs entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$500,000,000.00.

COUNT 22
BLUE CROSS BREACHED PLAINTIFFS IMPLIED CONTRACTS

1040. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1041. This is a claim for breach of implied contract which arose on September 26,
2016.

1042. Dr. Pompy had a contract to accept Medicare, Medicaid, Blue Cross
patients.

1043. Medicare, Medicaid, Blue Cross patients came to see Dr. Pompy under an
implied contract in- fact.

1044. Dr. Pompy expected to be paid under an implied contract at-law when
medical services are rendered.

1045. Blue Cross authorized the medical treatments, approved the medical
claims, and paid the bills.

1046. Blue Cross chose, under Lt. Marc Moore false pretenses, innuendoes, and
speculations, to order its CFl department, UR department, and Clinical Pharmacy
Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (CPFWA) to collaborate with Dr. Carl Christensen to
identify “RED FLAGS” that James Howell was a patient seeking narcotics and that
Dr. Pompy failed to identify.

1047. Blue Cross failed to convene Dr. Pompy’s Pain Management Peers group to
review the patients records and render a fair and neutral peer group report based
upon the patients:

(1) Assessment “Risk, Prognosis, Medical Decision, Problem Diagnostics”;
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(2) Plan of treatment, Diagnostics Tests, Procedures/Injections, Visits summary,
Patient Education;

(3) Multiple Diagnostics problems, Past pain Procedures, Physical Examination,
“ General, Musculoskeletal, Labs reports, Diagnostics tests”;

(4) Past Surgical , Family, Social History;

(5) Past pain procedures, General Examinations “head, eyes, ENT, neck,
cardiovascular, respiratory, abdomen, musculoskeletal, neck/lymphatic, skin,
mental status examination, cervical spine/upper examination,
shoulder/examination, cervical ortho, neuro testing, psychological.

1048. There was no demand for an audit by Blue Cross.
1049. There was no complaint by any Blue Cross members.
1050. There was no pending contested claim.

1051. There was no pending appeal processes.

1052. Blue Cross retroactively, unjustly, and wrongfully denied necessity for
treatment from January 1, 2012 to September 26, 2016 without an audit or a
demand for reimbursement.

1053. Blue Cross breached its contractual agreement with Plaintiffs.

1054. Blue Cross engaged in bad faith and unfair dealing in violation of the

insurance law.

1055. Blue Cross engaged in defamation in 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018 by
submitting false and wrong reports on Plaintiffs.

1056. Blue Cross engaged in fraud and deceitful business practice.

1057. Blue Cross officers, directors, trustees had no power, competence, or
authority under Blue Cross certificate of incorporation to criminally investigate
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Plaintiffs without proof under Lt. Marc Moore misrepresentations and false
statements.

1058. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1059. BCBSM is liable to the Plaintiffs.
1060. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1061. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$100,000,000.00.

1062. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$500,000,000.00.

COUNT 23

BLUE CROSS VIOLATED CONFIDENTIALITY OF PATIENTS MEDICAL RECORDS

1063. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1064. This is a claim for fraud and disclosure of Dr. Pompy patients confidential
medical records during the criminal investigation of Plaintiffs. The chain of
custody was broken.

1065. Blue Cross violated HIPAA, its own HIPAA Compliance Statement, the
American with Disabilities Act. (ADR).861, 42 USC Part 2}, and federal and state
privacy laws and rules.

1066. Information from a patient’s clinical record in the possession of an
insurance company is confidential and can oniy be disclosed to authorized person.
1,004. Blue Cross, by its CFl, UR, and CPFWA departments, viclated Mich. Admi.
Code r. 325.6810.

1067. A health care corporation must use reasonable care when securing
patients’ medical records to ensure the confidentiality of the information. Blue
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Cross, by its CFl, UR, and CPFWA departments, violated Mich. Comp. Laws Ann.
Sec. 550.1406.

1068. A substance use disorder patient’s medical records must remain
confidential. Blue Cross, by its CFl, UR, and CPFWA departments,, violated Mich.
Admin. Code r. 325.14116.

1069. All records listing the identity, diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment of a
patient being treated for substance use disorder are confidential. Blue Cross, by
its CFl, UR, and CPFWA departments, violated Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Sec.
330.1261.

1070. All information, records, and other data, concerning medical research
project, are inadmissible in a court or agency proceeding. Blue Cross, by its CFR,
UR and CPFWA departments, violated Mich. Comp. Laws Ann Sec. 333.2632.

1071. Records and information relating to the mental health of an individual are
confidential and privileged to the patient and may only be disclosed under an
order or a subpoena of a court of record or a subpoena of the legislature. Blue
Cross, by its CFR, UR, and CPFWA departments, violated Mich. Comp. Laws Ann
Sec. 330.1748a.

1072. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1073. Defendant Blue Cross is liable to Plaintiffs.
1074. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1075. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00

1076. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000,000.00
COUNT 24

BLUE CROSS AIDED AND ABETTED JAMES HOWELL TO VIOLATE STATE AND
FEDERAL STATUTES
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1077. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1078. This is a claim for fraud, malicious prosecution, and violation of civil rights
which arose in January 2016 when BCBSM sent defendant James Howell to Dr.
Pompy’s office for undercover visits.

1079. Blue Cross conspired, colluded, and combined with James Howell, alias
“James Stuart,” MSP and Dr. Carl Christensen, M.D. to criminally prosecute Dr.
Pompy.

1080. Blue Cross conspired, colluded, and combined with defendant J. Alan
Robertson MD, and defendant Carl Christensen, MD, to give James Howell false
medical referrals, false medical history, and faise diagnosis under the patient
name “James Stewart”.

1081. Blue Cross conspired, colluded, and combined with defendantJ. Alan
Robertson, MD, and defendant Carl Christensen, MD to assist James Howell, alias
patient “James Stewart” in obtaining medical treatment and medications under
false pretexts.

1082. Blue Cross aided and abetted James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”
to violate Michigan Fake ID Law.

1083. Blue Cross aided and abetted James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”,
to violate Michigan Insurance Law,

1084. Blue Cross aided and abetted James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”,
to violate MCL 752.1003 Sec. 3 of the Health Care False Claim Act of 1984.

1085. Blue Cross aided and abetted James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”
to commit forgery.

1086. Blue Cross aided and abetted its own CFl, UR, and CPFWA departments to
violate its HIPAA Compliance Statements.
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1087. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer the indignation of a search and seizure on
September 26, 2016.

1088. Plaintiffs were caused to be served with an in rem civil forfeiture
complaint.

1089. Plaintiffs were caused to be served by DEA with a Summary Notice of
Suspension of his registrations and an Order to Show Cause.

1090. Dr. Pompy was caused to be served by BPL with a Summary Notice of
Suspension of his medical license and an Administrative Complaint.

1091. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1092. BCBSM is liable to Plaintiffs.
1093. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1094. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$50,000,000.00.

1095. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$100,000,000.00.

COUNT 25
Dr. POMPY WAS AND IS STILL BEING DEFAMED BY BLUE CROSS

1096. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1097. This is a claim for malicious prosecution and for defamation by Blue Cross
from January 2016 to the present time, and continuing, causing Dr. Pompy and
IPM property to be seized by the People on September 26, 2016; and by the
United States of America in February 2018.

1098. Blue Cross falsely accused Dr. Pompy of overbilling and health care frauds.
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1099. Blue Cross caused Dr. Pompy DEA certificates of registration to be
suspended.

1100. Blue Cross admitted to have Dr. Pompy medical license suspended.
1101. Blue Cross caused Dr. Pompy to be red flagged.

1102. Blue Cross caused Dr. Pompy and IPM property to be seized by the federal
government in February 2018.

1103. Blue Cross caused Dr. Pompy and IPM property to be subject of a federal
criminal forfeiture action.

1104. Medical billing by Dr. Pompy medical office was done electronically and
was produced by a Blue Cross preapproved software from |-Patient Care.

1105. Blue Cross iliegally submitted incorrect, unverified, and inaccurate data in
legal proceedings at a DEA hearing and at a BPL hearing.

1106. Blue Cross permitted James Howell, alias patient “James Stuart”, Dr. Carl
Christensen, and an incompetent employee, who were not familiar with
electronic medical coding, to base their health care frauds accusations on a
manual claim code of Blue Cross Procedural Terminology Coding Guidelines for
Office Visits, whereas Dr. Pompy claims were submitted electronically and paid
without any complaint.

1107. Blue Cross CFl Brian Zasadny and Blue Cross manager Jim Gallagher
maliciously placed Dr. Pompy in a wrong peer group: Specialty 207L00000X-
Anesthesiology, for the sole purpose of defaming Dr. Pompy and treating the
patients as a commodity cost.

1108. Blue Cross Zasadny and Gallagher, wrongfully, negligently, and maliciously
submitted to MANTIS the wrong information that anesthesiologist Lesly Pompy
prescribed the most overall prescription medication and the most controlled
prescription medication of 2,304 anesthesiologists during the date range of
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01/2014 to 12/2014, for the sole purpose of defaming Dr. Pompy and treating the
patients as a commodity cost.

1109. Blue Cross Zasadny and Gallagher wrongfully and maliciously submitted to
MANTIS the false information that anesthesiologist Lesly Pompy ranked first in
2015 for the average number of members receiving high cost medications over
200 dollars per month, total day supply of controlled medication {52,026),
average number of members per month receiving controlled prescription
medication (70), and total quantity dispensed of controlled prescription {136,
267), for the sole purpose of defaming Dr. Pompy and treating the patients as a

commodity cost.

1110. Blue Cross Zasadny and jim Gallagher wrongfully and maliciously submitted
to MANTIS the false information that anesthesiologist Lesly Pompy prescribed the
most overall prescription medication and the most controlied prescription
medication of 2,304 anesthesiologists during the date range of 01/2014 to
12/2014, for the purpose of defaming Dr. Pompy and treating the patients as a
commodity cost.

1111. Blue Cross Zasadny and Gallagher wrongfully and maliciously submitted to
MANTIS the false information that anesthesiologist Lesly Pompy ranked first in
2015 for the average number of members receiving high cost medications over
200 dollars per month, total day supply of controlled medication {52,026),
average number of members per month receiving controlled prescription
medication (70), and total quantity dispensed of controlled prescription (136,
267), for the sole purpose of defaming Dr. Pompy and treating the patients as a

commodity cost.

1112. Blue Cross unlawfully obtained, seized, reviewed, and distributed patients
charts and data to federal agents, MSP, and MANTIS without the patients
authorizations or the authorizations of the patients representatives for the sole
purpose of prosecuting Dr. Pompy and treating the patients as a commodity cost.
The chain of custody was broken.
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1113. Blue Cross conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. Carl Christensen, Lt.
Marc Moore and agent Brian Bishop to prosecute Dr. Pompy, without a complaint
by a member for incorrect information on his/her Blue Cross Explanation of
Benefit Statement (EOB), for the additional purpose of defaming Dr. Pompy and
treating the patients as a commaodity cost.

1114. Blue Cross conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. Christensen, Lt.
Marc Moore, and agent Brian Bishop to prosecute Dr. Pompy without the filing of
a formal grievance and/or appeal process by a patient, for the sole purpose of
defaming Dr. Pompy and treating the patients as a commodity cost.

1115. Blue Cross conspired, colluded, and combined with Dr. Carl Christensen,
MSP, MANTIS, and agent Brian Bishop for the summary suspension of Plaintiffs
DEA certificates of registration.

1116. Blue Cross colluded, and combined with Dr. Christensen, MSP, MANTIS,
agent Brian Bishop, and defendant Vaughn Hafner for the summary suspension of
Dr. Pompy medical license.

1117. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
the evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

1118. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1119. Blue Cross is liable to Dr. Pompy.
1120. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1121. Dr. Pompy entitled to compensatory damages against Blue Cross in the
amount of $500,000,000.00.

1122. Dr. Pompy entitled to punitive damages against BCBSM in the amount of
$900,000,000.00.

COUNT 26
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Dr. CARL CHRISTENSEN CONSPIRED WITH BLUE CROSS AND JAMES HOWELL TO
VIOLATE STATE AND FEDERAL STATUTES

1123. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1124. This is a claim for fraud, conspiracy, and forgery which arose in 2016, 2017,
and 2018 out of Blue Cross, DR Carl Christen, M.D., and James Howell violation of
multiple statutes.

1125. Defendant Carl Christensen concealed that he was on Blue Cross Medicare
Drug Utilization Review Committee.

1126. Defendant Carl Christensen testified at the DEA hearing that Subsis must
be used only by cancer patients.

1127. Defendant Carl Christensen admitted under cross-examination that he
used Subsis for sickle cell anemia patients.

1128. Defendant Carl Christensen negligently and illegally reviewed the patients
Subsys medical records without authorization; and without the review of a Pain
Management Peer Group of Dr. Pompy as contractually required.

1129. Defendant Carl Christensen was an unreliable expert witness because of
conflict of interest as a member of Blue Cross staff..

1130. Defendant Carl Christensen violated HIPAA.
1131. Defendant Carl Christensen violated 42 CFR Part 2

1132. Defendant Carl Christensen violated Blue Cross HIPAA Compliance
Statements.

1133. Defendant Carl Christensen conspired with Blue Cross and james Howell to
violate Michigan Fake ID Law.

1134. Defendant Carl Christensen conspired with Blue Cross and james Howell to
violate Michigan Vehicle Code.
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1135. Defendant Carl Christensen conspired with Blue Cross and james Howell to
violate Michigan Health Care False Claim (MCL.1003).

1136. Defendant Carl Christensen conspired with Blue Cross and james Howell to
violate Americans with Disabilities Act (ADR).

1137. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1138. Defendant Carl Christensen is liable to Plaintiffs.
1139. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1140. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00

1141. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$25,000,000.00.

COUNT 27

DR. J. ALLAN ROBERTSON CONSPIRED WITH BLUE CROSS AND JAMES HOWELL
TO VIOLATE STATE AND FEDERAL STATUTES

1142. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1143. This is a claim for fraud, conspiracy, and forgery which arose on January
2016 out of the referral of James Howell, alias patient “James Stewart”, by Dr. J.
Allan Robertson to Dr. Pompy office.

1144. Defendant J. Alan Robertson conspired with BCBSM and james Howell,
alias “James Stewart” to violate Michigan Fake ID Law.

1145. Defendant J. Alan Robertson conspired with Blue Cross and james Howell
to violate Michigan Vehicle Code.
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1146. Defendant J. Alan Robertson conspired with Blue Cross and james Howell
to violate Michigan Health Care False Claim (MCL.1003).

1147. Defendant J. Alan Robertson conspired with Blue Cross to have “james

I”

Howell” commit forgery. .

1148. Plaintiffs were caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
1149. Defendant J. Alan Robertson is liable to Plaintiffs.
1150. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1151. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$5,000,000.00.

1152. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damage in the amount of $10,000,000.00.
COUNT 28

MB& T VIOLATED MICHIGAN REQUIREMENT TO GIVE NOTICE OF ADVERSE
CLAIM TO THE DEPOSITORS.

1153. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1154. The claim arose on September 21, 2016 out of MB& T negligence,
incompetence, and breach of contract in failing to give Plaintiffs timely notice of
the service of the search warrant.

1155. On September 21, 2016, or timely thereafter, MB& T was required to give
Plaintiffs notice of the search warrant under the Adverse Claim to Bank Deposit
(MCL 487.691).

1156. MB& T, by its Vice President and Deputy General Counsei Susan Mehregan,
and by Thomas Scott, its VP-R Management Officer, knew or should have known
that the First District Court of Michigan was not a court of competent jurisdiction
for the search and seizure of information on Plaintiffs financial accounts and

related accounts.
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1157. MB& T officers, by their knowledge, experience, and high legal education
knew or should have known that the search warrants were invalid and improper,
and consequently void, null and of no effect.

1158. Because of the incompetence, negligence, and misconduct of MB& T,
Plaintiffs lost an opportunity and the right to file opposition papers under MCL
487.691 and to prevent the search, seizure, and/or release of their financial
information from MB& T, Merrill Lynch, and E*Trade.

1159. On September 27, 2016 or immediately thereafter MB& T was required in
its fiduciary capacity and by law to give Plaintiffs notice of the service of the
search warrant served by detective Robert Blair.

1160. On September 27, 2016, or timely thereafter, MB& T was required to give
Plaintiffs notice of the second search warrant under the Adverse Claim to Bank
Deposit (MCL 487.691).

1161. MB& T, by its Vice President and Deputy General Counsel Susan Mehregan
and by Thomas Scott, its VP-R Management Officer, knew or should have known
that the First District Court of Michigan was not a court of competent jurisdiction
for the seizure of the Plaintiffs accounts and related accounts.

1162. Because of the incompetence, negligence, and misconduct of MB& T in
timely reporting the service of the search warrant, Plaintiffs lost an opportunity
and the right to file opposition papers under MCL 487.691 and to prevent the
search, seizure, and/or release of the Plaintiffs accounts and related accounts.

1163. The First District Court of Michigan was not a court of competent
jurisdiction.

1164. The second search warrant of September 27, 2016 was invalid, void, null
and of no effect.

1165. Plaintiff Interventional Pain Management Associates P.C. was incorrectly
described in the search warrant under the Rules of The Supreme Court of
Michigan.
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1166. The search warrant was invalid and had no effect upon Interventional Pain
Management Associates, P.C.

1167. Plaintiff Lesly Pompy is entitled to immediate reimbursement from MB& T
of $346,847.63 representing the balance of his account on September 26, 2016,
plus the fees illegally charged for unpaid checks, and the statutory interest
thereon.

1168. Plaintiff Lesly Pompy lost the possession, control, and supervision of his
financial accounts at MB& T, Merrill Lynch, and E*Trade from September 26,
2016 to present, and continuing, because of the misconduct, mistake, negligence,
and incompetence of MB& T officers.

1169. Plaintiff Interventional Pain Management Associates P.C. lost the
possession, control, and supervision of its accounts from September 26, 2016 to
present, and continuing, at MB &T, Merrill Lynch, and E*Trade because of the
misconduct, mistake, negligence, and incompetence of MB& T officers.

1170. Plaintiff Interventional Pain Management Associates P.C. is entitled from
MB& T to the immediate reimbursement of the balance of its accounts on
September 26, 2016, plus the statutory interest thereon.

1171. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
the evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

1172. MB& Tis strictly liable to Plaintiffs.
1173. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

1174. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$500,000,000.00.

1175. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$900,000,000.00.

COUNT 29
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DEFENDANTS SHELLY EDGERTON, KIM GAEDEKE, AND SEAN M. SIEBIGTEROTH
VIOLATED STATE And FEDERAL LAWS, INCLUDING THE RULES OF THE
DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS ON THE SERVICE OF
PROCESS BY DEA AGENT BISHOP, JOINTLY OR SEVERALLY

1176. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the aliegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

1177. The claim arose on August 4, 2017 when Dr. Pompy was illegally served by
agent Brian Bishop with the BPL Order of Suspension and Administrative
Complaint.

1178. Agent Brian Bishop actively participated in the September 26, 2016 raid.

1179. Agent Bishop filed an ALLEGATION FORM against Dr. Pompy at the Bureau
of Professional Licensing on September 30, 2016.

1180. Agent Bishop testified against Dr. Pompy at a DEA hearing in July 2017 in
Detroit and Alexandria.

1181. Agent Bishop testified against Dr. Pompy at a Michigan Administrative
Hearing System before Administrative Law Judge Michael J. St. John on October
16, 2017 in Lansing, Michigan.

1182. Agent Bishop, in company with a BPL female witness, personally served on
August 4, 2017 the Order of Summary Suspension and the Administrative
Complaint dated August 3, 2017 upon Dr. Pompy, in presence of and at the office
of the Vice President of ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital on North Macomb
Street, Monroe, Michigan,.

1183. Both the Order of Suspension and the Administrative Complaint bore no
address thereon and failed to meet legal requirements.

1184. Agent Bishop was a party to the proceeding on and before September 26,
2016.

149



Case Ze3eLR2I3eu-HE85piK Hapenpent107idd G2 482085 etnasd 51980 of 91

1185. Agent Bishop was unqualified under Rule 2.103 of the Michigan Court
Rules to serve the Order of Summary Suspension and the Administrative
Complaint on August 4, 2017 upon Dr. Pompy.

1186. Service of the Order of Summary Suspension and the Administrative
Complaint was made in violation of the constitutional requirements for notice of
judicial proceeding under the Fourteenth Amendment.

1187. Service of the Order of Summary Suspension and Administrative Complaint
was improper and illegal.

1188. Both the Order of Suspension and the Administrative Complaint are invalid,
and consequently void, null, and of no effect under the own rules of the
Enforcement Division of the Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs.

1189. Dr. Pompy license was not legally suspended on August 3, 2017.

1190. Condition precedent was not met when Dr. Pompy’s license was
suspended.

1191. Dr. Pompy had the legal right to meet with BPL Investigator Hafner, and to
present legal objection and adverse opinion of expert medical witness prior to the
summary suspension of his medical license.

1192. Dr. Pompy requests that an order be entered by this Honorable Court,
requiring BPL to voluntarily rescind its Notice of Summary Suspension of Dr.
Pompy medical license and its Administrative Complaint.

1193. Dr. Pompy further requests that an order be entered directing BPL to
reinstate Dr. Pompy’s medical license as of August 3, 2017 as if such license had
never been summarily suspended.

1194. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
BPL evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.
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1195. Defendants Kim Gaedeke, Shelly Edgerton, and Sean M. Siebigteroth
violated the constitutional rights of Dr. Pompy, the Invasion of Privacy Laws, and
the Health Insurance Portability Laws and Accountability (HIPAA).

1196. Defendant Kim Gaedeke , Shelly Edgerton, and Sean M. Siebigteroth are
liable to Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally.

1197. Defendant KIM Gaedeke, Shelly Edgerton, and Sean Siebigteroth are not
protected by qualified immunity for their errors, mistakes, miscalculations, and
violations of due process and equal protection under the law.

1198. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable damage.
1199. Dr.. Pompy is entitled to reimbursement of attorney fees.

2000. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$25,000,000.00.

2001. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$100,000,000.00.

COUNT 30
DEFENDANT VAUGHN HAFNER VIOLATED MICHIGAN PUBLIC HEALTH CODE

2002. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2003. The claim arose in July 2017 when defendant Vaughn Hafner testified
against Plaintiffs.

2004. Defendant Hafner confirmed that he combined with MANTIS, DEA, and
Blue Cross Blue Shield to investigate Dr. Pompy.
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2005. Defendant Hafner reported that DEA provided him with medical files of
patients who had been predominantly prescribed Subsis. The chain of custody
was broken.

2006. Defendant Hafner reported patients prohibited mental health information
in violation of Mich. Comp. Laws Ann Sec. 330.1748 and Sec. 330. 1748a.

2007. Defendant Hafner reported patients substance use medical records in
violation of Mich. Admin. Code r. 325.14116.

2008. Defendant Hafner reported identities of substance use disorder patients in
violation of Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Sec.330.1261.

2009. Defendant Hafner introduced into evidence, inadmissible 2015 MAPS
report, a 1/1/16 to 9/30/16 MAPS report, and an epidemiology data from
Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, at the administrative
hearing before Administrative Law Judge Michael J. St. John, in violation of Mich.
Comp. Laws Ann Sec. 333.2632.

2010. Defendant Hafner disclosed data on mental health patients in violation of
330.1748 and Sec. 330.1748a.

2011. Defendant Hafner introduced at the BPL hearing individually inadmissible
MAPS data for patients Danielle Andrews, Terry Brooks, Ricky Bryant, Roy Fisher,
John Hernandez, Cheryl Hollinswsworth, Michael Mudge, Judy Shinevarre, Heidi
Smallwood, and Jes Staten in violation of Mich. Comp. Laws Ann Sec. 333.2632.

2012. US Constitution and Michigan Constitution require the suppression of all
the evidence stemming from illegal seizure and arrest.

2013. Defendant Hafner is not qualified by Michigan Board of Medicine to
investigate prescribing practices of their members.

2014. Defendant Hafner is not qualified under Dauber to testify against Dr.
Pompy.

2015. Defendant Hafner violated the Invasion of Privacy Laws.
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2016. Defendant Hafner violated the Health Insurance Portability Laws and
Accountability (HIPAA).

2017. Defendant Hafner violated the Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder
Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2.).

2018. Defendant Hafner is strictly liable to Dr. Pompy.

2019. Defendant Hafner is not protected by qualified immunity for his errors,
negligence, mistakes, miscalculations, and violation of state and federal laws.

2020. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
2021. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2022. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

2023. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000.00.
COUNT 31

MEDICAL RECORDS AND ELECTRONIC DEVICES SEIZED BY MSP AND DEA ON
SEPTEMBER 26, 2016 ARE TAINTED AND SHOULD BE SUPPRESSED IN ALL
PROCEEDINGS, PAST, PRESENT OR FUTUR

2024. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint

2025. On September 26, 2016 MSP/MANTIS and DEA executed at Dr. Pompy’s
home and office two search warrants issued by magistrate Jessica Chaffin on
September 23, 2016 upon the affidavits of detective Robert Blair. The Monroe
County SHERIFF was commanded to make a search and seize the described
property/person until further order of the court.

2026. Subsequently, officer Robert Blair acknowledges the problems surrounding
the use of the medical records obtained through magistrate Jessica Chaffin search
warrants of September 23, 2016 and suggested another warrant.
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2027. On August 14, 2017 magistrate Chaffin issued without probable cause an
invalid search warrant, without the required legal information, to search and seize
medical records in possession of i-Patient Care in New Jersey. (EXHIBIT 6).

Affiant Robert Blair justified the need for the search warrant by writing in a letter
to i-Patient Care the following: “During the investigation there has been some
debate whether the original warrant included the files that you store for Dr.
Pompy.”

The warrant was served upon i-Patient Care by FAX. There was no physical search
by a Sheriff at I-Patient Care as legally required.

Magistrate Chaffin had no jurisdiction in New Jersey. The search warrant was
invalid, void, and null. The medical records were not searched by a sheriff and
were illegally released by i-Patient Care to affiant Robert Blair.

Robert Blair transmitted the records to the federal prosecutor for a criminal
forfeiture action against Dr. Pompy. The records must be suppressed. The chain of
custody was broken.

2028. DEA agent Brian Bishop, in lieu and place of the sheriff, seized on
September 26, 2016 medical records and electronic devices, and illegally removed
them, without an order of the First District Court of Michigan who had issued the
warrants. Bishop brought medical records, devices, and equipment to his DEA
Detroit Field Division, 431 Howard Street, Detroit, Ml 48226. The chain of custody
was broken. The seized items were again tainted and should be suppressed.

2029. On April 26, 2018, more than 36 months later, Bishop transferred the seized
items to HHS OIG, the Detroit Field Office, 300 River Place Drive, Detroit, Michigan
48207 without a federal court order. The chain of custody was again broken. The
seized items were again tainted and should be suppressed.

2030. All the items seized by Blshop were removed illegally and transferred to
different locations without court approval and without a tabulation sheet to
Plaintiffs, including the following items:

a) Dr. Pompy’s s patients medical records, identification,

b) A silver Medical Laptop
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¢) A black Laptop Pro 12

d) A silver iPad

e) A Tablet

f) A silver Apple iPad

g) An Apple iphone

h) A silver HTC Cell Phone

i) An Apple iPhone with an otter box case
j} A bronze Apple iPad

k) A Microsoft Cell Phone

I) A silver Apple iPad

m) A silver Apple iPAD

The chain of custody was broken. All the seized items should be suppressed

2031. Agent Brian Bishop failed to put the innocent property owners on notice
after September 26, 2016 in violation of MCL 780.655 Sec. 5 (1).

2032. Agent Brian Bishop failed to give Dr. Pompy, IPM, and innocent property
owners notice of the seizure within 90 days from September 26, 2016 as required
by 18 U.S. Code Sec. 983 (a) (1) (A) (iv).

2033. Agent Brian Bishop failed to return the seized property to the Plaintiffs
after 90 days as required by 18 U.S. Code Sec. 983 (a) (1) (F).

2034, Agent Brian Bishop and MSP/MANTIS Lt. Marc Moore failed to return the
medical records and electronic devices to Dr. Pompy after March 30, 2018 as
ordered by Monroe County Circuit Court Honorable Judge Daniel S. White .

2035. Agent Brian Bishop used a machine created specifically for him to search
computer data and corrupted Dr. Pompy’s several computers beyond repair.in
violation of 18 U.S.C. sec. 1030 (a)(5)(A).

2036. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

2037. Agent Brian Bishop is not protected for qualified immunity for his
misconduct.
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2038. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2039. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$25,000,000.00.

2040. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $100,000.00.
COUNT 32

BLUE CROSS, JAMES HOWELL, alias “JAMES STEWART”, Dr. CARL CHRISTENSEN
ARE COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED FROM OFFRING EVIDENCE IN ANY PROCEEDINGS

2041. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2042. The complaint of the dismissed Circuit Court civil forfeiture action (Case
No. 16-139517-CF, Honorable Daniel S. White) shows the following:

[“12. As disclosed by a MANTIS narcotics investigation, Claimant issued
prescriptions to an undercover agent (James Stewart) who had no need for the
narcotics. Claimant then billed and obtained compensation from the undercover
agent’s insurance (Blue Cross) for the delivery of the prescription of the controlled
narcotics.”

“17. Claimant’s overall business practice did not adhere to Federal Regulations in
violation of the Michigan Controlled Substance Act which prohibited him from
validity prescribing controlled substances which was the basis of his medical
practice.”

“18. The claimant failed to deliver the controlled substance, SUBSIS, to patients
for a legitimate and professionally recognized purpose.”

“19. The Claimant violated the Michigan Controlled Substance Act by prescribing
the controlled substance SUBOXONE without the requisite authority.”

“21. Claimant’s activities constitute one or more felony violations of the
Controlled Substance Act.”
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“24. The defendant United States currency was used or was intended to be used
to facilitate any violation of MCL 333.7401 et seq including but not limited to
money, negotiable instruments, or securities and is subject to forfeiture pursuant
to MCL 333.7521 (1)(f).”

“29. The defendants are things traceable to an exchange for a controlled
substance and is subject to forfeiture pursuant to MCL 333.7521 (1)(f).]

2043. Defendants Blue Cross, James Stewart, Dr. Carl Christensen violated
Section 802 (56) of the Controlled Substance Act which allows the individual
practitioner to determine in the usual course of his medical practice there was a
legitimate medical purpose for the issuance of prescriptions to his patients.

2044, Dr. Pompy is protected by Collateral Estoppel.

2045. Dr. Pompy is qualified for Double Jeopardy protection in any related
criminal proceeding when a jury is sworn.

2046. Michigan 38th Circuit Court is a trial court of general jurisdiction over all
actions except those given by state law or federal law to another court.

2047. Michigan Circuit Court handles all civil cases with claims over $25,000.00
and all felony criminal cases.

2048. Michigan Circuit Court was competent to dismiss the civil forfeiture action
on consent.

2049. In drug cases the jurisdiction of the Michigan Circuit Court is concurrent
with the federal district court.

2050. Michigan Circuit Court decision was not appealed to Michigan Court of
Appeals and is now res judicata.

2051. No other court has jurisdiction over the allegations of the dismissed civil
forfeiture action.

2052. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
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2053. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2054. Dr. Pompy is entitied to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

2055. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$25,000.000.00.

COUNT 33

BLUE CROSS OPERATION IN 83 Michigan COUNTIES IS A NEGLIGENT, CORRUPT,

FRAUDULENT PATTERN VIOLATIVE OF THE ANTITRUST LAWS, INCLUDING, BUT

NOT LIMITED TO, THE SHERMAN ACT, THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT
AGAINST UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION, THE FTC ACT

2056. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2057. Untraceable cash spilis into Michigan governor’s race was reported by
www.crainsdetroit. com/article/20180731/news/667441/untraceable cash spills
into Michigan governor’s race, Chad Livengood, July 31, 2018.

2058. Candidates were reportedly helped by untraceable donations flowing from
“dark money” front organization.

2059. Questions arose as to whether those mystery operations were operating
for the sole purpose of concealing corporate money from big business like Blue
Cross Blue Shield of Michigan.

2060. Questions arose as to whether Blue Cross “dark money” are generally
recovered from search and seizure of the assets of victimized providers, including
Dr. Pompy’s potential assets.

2061. ClickOnDetroit reported on December 28, 2018 that BCBSM announced
Friday that the personal data of nearly 15,000 of Medicare Advantage members
may have been compromised after an employee’s laptop computer was stolen on

October 26, 2018.
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2062. Blue Cross stated that information that may have been accessible “includes
the member’s first name, last name, address, date of birth, enrollee identification
number, gender, medication, diagnosis, and provider information.”

2063. Blue Cross recognized and accepts liability and is offering “identity repair,
theft related financial losses, restoration of credit, return of member identity to
its proper condition, along with fraud alerts, credit monitoring, and an identity
theft insurance policy.”

2064. Blue Cross and Blue Care Network failed to take the security of their
members’ protected health information very seriously.

2065. Blue Cross and affiliated companies failed to review their policies and
procedures and put safeguards in place.

2066. BLUE CROSS engaged in specific practices, such as mergers and interlocking
directorates.

2067. Section 7 of the Clayton Act prohibits mergers and acquisitions where the
effect may be substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create a
monopoly.

2068. Blue Cross mergers and acquisitions of domestic nonprofit corporations
created anticompetitive practices, and included, but not limited to: Blue Care,
inc., Network Care, Blue Care of Michigan, inc., M-Caid , Blue Care of Michigan,
Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, Blue Cross Complete of Michigan LLC, Blue
Cross Complete of Michigan, West Michigan Health Care Network, Inc., Blue Care
Network of West Michigan, Blue Care Network, Great Lakes, BCN, Great Lakes,
Biue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual Insurance Co....etc.

2069. By its continuing mergers, acquisitions, dissolutions, reorganizations, Blue
Cross developed anticompetitive practices within Michigan 83 counties.

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan is an independent licensee of the Blue Cross
and Blue Shield Association.

Blue Cross Blue Shield Foundation is a nonprofit corporation formed under the
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Business Corporation Act.

Blue Cross Complete of Michigan was incorporated on 09/25/2002. The name
was changed from M-CAID on 09/25/2007. The name was changed from
BLUECAID of Michigan on 02/03/2012.

Blue Cross Complete of Michigan LLC was organized in Michigan on 12/18/2014.
Its name was changed from Complete Health, LLC on 06/01/2015.

Blue Care Network of Michigan, Inc. merged with Blue Care of Michigan Inc. on
07/01/2018.

2070. Blue Cross violated:

(a) Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. Sec. 333.2638; 550.1406; 330.1748; 333.2632,;
330.1748; 333.2888; 550.1406;325.14116; 333.1261; 330.1263; 333.2635;
333.2631; 333.2637; 550.1907; 550.524; 331.533; 333.21515.

(b) Mich. Admin. Code r. 325.9054; 325.3848;325.6810; 325.14116; 325.66;
500.554;

2071. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
2072. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2073. Dr. Pompy is entitled to triple amount of his special loss as damages under
the Sherman Act.

2074. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$500,000,000.00.

2075. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$900,000.000.00.

COUNT 34

Dr. CARL CHRISTENSEN REVIEW OF AND REPORT ON HOWELL ILLEGAL VIDEOS
AND REPORTS ARE EQUALLY ILLEGAL AND SHOULD BE SUPPRESSED
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2075, Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2076. James Howell videos and reports are illegal and cannot be submitted into
evidence. The chain of custody was broken.

2077. Dr. Carl Christensen acknowledged that his expert opinion was based on
the review of Howell videos and reports.

2078. Dr. Christensen opinion is in violation of the standard of medical practice in
the community and the Code of Ethics of the American Medical Association
(AMA).

2079. Dr. Pompy prescriptions were in the best interest of his patients. Dr.
Christensen knew or should have known that “Drugs, remedies or appliances may
be dispensed or supplied by the physician provided it is in the best interests of the
patients.” Appendix A American Medical Association Principles of Medical Ethics
(1957) (7).

2080. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm by
Dr. Christensen misconduct, misrepresentations, false statements, and cover-ups.

2081. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2082. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

2083. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$ 25,000.000.00.

COUNT 35
TRANSFERRED INTENT

2084. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.
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2085. At all times during his visit to Dr. Pompy office defendant James Howell,
alias patient “James Stewart”, was in communication with Lt. Marc Moore who

was outside waiting for him.

2086. On April 26, 2016 James Howell was prescribed NORCO, LYRICA, and
ZANAFLEX.

2087. Howell presented and filled out the prescriptions at Walgreens, under the
false name of James Stewart, and handed them over to Lt. Marc Moore in
violation of federal and state laws.

2088. On May 9, 2016 James Howell was prescribed NORCO, LYRICA, and
ZANAFLEX.

2089. Howell presented and filled out the prescriptions at Walgreens, under the
false name of James Stewart, and handed them over to Lt. Marc Moore, in
violation of federal and state laws.

2090. On May 17, 2016 Howe!l was prescribed NORCO, LYRICA, and ZANAFLEX
and handed over the paper prescription to Lt. Marc Moore, in violation of federal
and state laws.

2091. ZANAFLEX is not a controlled substance.

2092. Patient James Stewart may not have obtained the drugs had he used proper
identification based on MAPS report, his past urine tests, and medical records at
Blue Cross.

2093. Use of false identification to obtain controlled substance is a crime in
Michigan.

2094. One statute establishes a crime “where a person knowingly or intentionally
obtains possession of a controlled substance by misrepresentation, fraud, forgery,
deception, or subterfuge.”
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2095. A second statute establishes that a crime has been committed “where a
person obtains or attempts to obtain a prescription drug by giving a false name to
a pharmacist or other authorized seller, prescriber, or dispenser.”

2096. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.
2097. Lt. Marc Moore intended to harm Dr. Pompy.

2098. Lt. Marc Moore violated his oath of office and his duty as a law
enforcement officer.

2099. The criminal intent of James Howell when he possessed the controlled
substances is wholly or in part transferred to Lt. Marc Moore under the doctrine
of transferred intent.

2100. Lt. Marc Moore and James Howell are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy, jointly or
severally.

2101. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2102. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$10,000,000.00.

2103. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of
$25,000.000.00.

COUNT 36
Dr. POMPY COMMITTED NO CRIMINAL OFFENSE

2104. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2105. Defendants Blue Cross, Brian Bishop, Marc Moore, Robert Blair, James
Howell a/k/a patient “James Stewart,” and Ray Kisonas caused Dr. Pompy to be
adjudged a red flag; to be defamed and be discriminated against.
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2106. Former patients of Dr. Pompy are reportedly red-flagged, equated with
drug addicts, and are unable to receive pain management treatment in any
hospital emergency room or private medical office.

2107. Dr. Pompy patients are reportedly being punished, discharged with
excruciating pain, in spite of the aggravation of their preexisting condition, and
are forced to contemplate suicide and death.

2108. Such unfair treatment will reportediy continue until Dr. Pompy medical
license has been restored and until the aggrieved patients have obtained justice
from the court.

2109. Some patients, like Jes Staten and Brad Lowery, reported they were held
against their will during home visits by Lt. Marc Moore and agent Brian Bishop.

2110. The Supreme Court ruled in Robinson v. California, 370 U.S. 660 (1962):

a) That punishing and confining a person for his status as a drug addict is akin to
punishing and confining people for mental iliness or physical diseases.

b) That imprisoning a person for even one day solely because of his status and not
because he exhibited criminal conduct is cruel and inhuman punishment.

b) That drug addiction is a disease. In such a case defendants violated Michigan
Public Health Code by interfering with Dr. Pompy’s method of treatment.

c) That drug addiction is not a criminal offense. In such a case defendants should
not have been involved in the criminal investigation of Dr. Pompy, the search
warrants and the civil forfeiture now dismissed, the federal criminal forfeiture, or
other administrative or court proceedings.

d) That state statute that makes drug addiction a criminal offense is a violation of
the Eight Amendment proscription against cruel and unusual punishment.

2111. Without consultation with the patients and without their authorization and

consent, defendants, in conjunction with their investigators, medical experts, and

attorneys, fabricated several complaints against Dr. Pompy in the name and on
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behalf of said patients and used their unauthorized medical records in legal
proceedings in violation of state statute.

2112, Dr. Pompy, acting in the usual course of his professional practice, had a
legal and uncontroversial right to determine what was legitimate medical
purpose for the issuance of new prescription of controlled substances to his
patients. Controlled Substance Act, Section 802 (56) (C).

2113. Defendants Moore, Blair, and Bishop, having no medical school degree, but
only some working knowledge and few hours of training in Undercover Narcotics
School, Narcotics Detection Canine, Indoor Grow Operation Investigation, and
drug investigation are not competent and qualified to overrule an attending
physician; provide medical opinion on health care billing without a medical and
coding training and certificate; decide on treatment of disease (drug addiction);
and discard the judgment of a licensed physician in the usual course of his
professional practice.

2114. Blue Cross investigators, Moore, Bishop, Howell, and Blair were practicing
medicine without a medical school diploma and a Michigan medical license in
reliance to:

(a) Their specialized training in drug investigation allowing them mistakenly and
iltegally to interfere with a physician judgment.

(b) Their unsubstantiated and false statements, to show probable cause for the
First District Court search warrants, that Dr. Pompy issued prescriptions in a

manner that was not consistent with standard medicatl care.

2115. Dr. Pompy committed no criminal offenses under federal statutes and was
caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

2116. Defendants Blue Cross, Lt. Marc Moore, officer Robert Blair, James Howell,
alias James Stewart, and Ray Kisonas are liable to Dr. Pompy, jointly or severally.

2117. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.
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2118. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of
$100,000,000.00.

2119. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $500,000
000.00

COUNT 37

DEFENDANT JAMES HOWELL COMMITTED HEALTH CARE FRAUDS AGAINST
BLUE CROSS WITH THE PARTICIPATION OF LT. MARC MOORE

2120. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint

2121. James Howell was seen at the office of Dr. Pompy under the fake name of
James Stewart.

2122. James Stewart submitted a fake Michigan driver license, an invalid social
security number, and a fake Blue Cross card bearing his fake name and the correct
Blue Cross identification number issued to James Howell.

2123. James Stewart was not insured by Blue Cross.

2124. James Stewart illegal video misrepresented the entire work effort of Dr.
Pompy.

2125. James Howell ignored the cognitive aspect of his visit.
2126. The Video failed to show James Howell:

1) Filling a Pre-Visit Questionnaire and Dr. Pompy reviewing the filled
Questionnaire at each visit.

2) Dr. Pompy reviewing previous visit data.

3) Dr. Pompy reviewing urine specimen
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4) James Stewart presenting questions to the medical assistant; the medical
assistant stepping outside the examining room to privately discuss medical issues
raised by the patient.

5) Dr. Pompy issuing orders to the medical assistant.

6) The medical assistant executing the orders prior to coming back into the
examining room.

7) The taking of vital signs by the medical assistant,

8) The taking of urine lab sample by the medical assistant.
9) Dr. Pompy reviewing of James Howell past medical data.
10) Dr. Pompy reconciliation of the medications.

11) Dr. Pompy cognitive work to determine the medication, doze, duration,
strength, and the prescription time.

12) Dr. Pompy time, preparing the prescriptions.
13) The medical assistant time to print some of the prescriptions.
14) Dr. Pompy time to review the record and sign the prescriptions.

15) Dr. Pompy time, late in the evening, after James Stewart left, to finish the
medical record.

16) Dr. Pompy time to electronically transmit the prescriptions to the phamarcy.

17) James Stewart in constant telephone conversation with Lt Marc Moore
posted outside the office.

2127. Under the faise pretense of being in pain, James Stewart obtained property
paid by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan. The property, prescription for
controlled and uncontrolled substances, appeared in James Howell urine.
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2128. James Stewart obtained, by using false and fraudulent pretenses, property
under the control of Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan.

2129. James Stewart committed Health Care Fraud with the participation of Blue
Cross and Lt. Marc Moore in violation of Michigan Insurance Law, Michigan Public
Health Code, U.S. Tax Law, the Social Security Administration Act, and 18 U.S.C.
Sec. 1347.

2130. Blue Cross, James Stewart, and Lt. Marc Moore caused Dr. Pompy to suffer
a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

2131. Lt. Marc Moore is not protected by qualified immunity for his misconduct.

2132. Defendants Blue Cross, James Howell, and Lt. Marc Moore are strictly liable
to Dr. Pompy.

2133. Dr. Pompy is entitled to the reimbursement of attorney fees.

2134. Dr. Pompy is entitled to compensatory damages in the amount of $10,000
000.00

2135. Dr. Pompy is entitled to punitive damages in the amount of $25,000 000.00.
COUNT 38

DEFENDANTS JAMES HOWELL COMMITTED TAX FRAUDS WITH THE
PARTICIPATION OF BLUE CROSS AND LT. MARC MOORE

2136. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2137. A specific social security number is used by a specific taxpayer in IRS FORM 1040 {
SCHEDULE A) IN ORDER FOR THE TAXPAYER TO QUALIFY FOR AN IRS TAX DEDUCTION.

2138. DEFENDANT JAMES HOWELL KNOWINGLY, WITH THE PARTICIPATION OF BLUE CROSS
AND LT. MARC MOORE TO THE SCHEME, SUBMITTED AN INVALID SOCIAL SECURITY
NUMBER TO DR. POMPY AND IPM.
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2140. 1PM COULD HAVE SUBMITTED A FALSE TAX DEDUCTION FORM TO IRS IN RELIANCE TO
THE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OF JAMES STEWART.

2141. IPM WOULD HAVE LOST THE DEDUCTIONS AND BEEN FINED BY IRS.

2142, THE MISCONDUCT OF DEFENDANTS BLUE CROSS, JAMES HOWELL, AND LT. MARC
MOORE IS VIOLATIVE OF FEDERAL AND STATE STATUTES..

2143. DEFENDANTS BLUE CROSS, LT. MARC MOORE, AND JAMES HOWELL ARE STRICTLY LIABLE
TO DR. POMPY AND IPM.

2144, DEFENDANT LT. MARC MOORE IS NOT PROTECTED BY QUALIFIED IMMUNITY FOR HIS
MISCONDUCT.

2145, PLAINTIFF IPM IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES

2146. PLAINTIFF IPM IS ENTITLED TO COMPENSATORY DAMAGE IN THE AMOUNT OF $10,000
000.00

2147. PLAINTIFF IPM IS ENTITLED TO PUNITIVE DAMAGE IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000 000.00
COUNT 39
DR. POMPY WAS FRAMED BY LT. MARC MOORE AND JAMES HOWELLL

2148. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint

2149. IN HIS AFFIDAVIT OF SEPTEMBER 23, 2016 DETECTIVE ROBERT BLAIR CERTIFIED THAT
D/LT. MARC MOORE WITH MANTIS PERSONALLY TOLD HIM THAT HE RECEIVED SEVERAL
TIPS FROM ANONYMOUS SOURCES WHO STATED THAT DR. LESLY POMPY WAS ISSUING
PRESCRIPTIONS IN A MANNER THAT WAS NOT CONSISTENT WITH STANDARD MEDICAL
CARE.

2150. DETECTIVE ROBERT BLAIR ADDED:
A) THAT D/LT MARC MOORE PERSONALLY TOLD HIM HE HAD CONTACTED BLUE CROSS
BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN (BCBSM) INVESTIGATORS AND REQUESTED ASSISTANCE
WITH THE INVE3STIGATION.
B) THAT BRIAN ZASADNY TOLD HIM THAT BCBSM EMPLOYED INVESTIGATORS TO
DETERMINE IF MEDICAL CLAIMS WERE FRAUDULENT.
C) THAT MEDICAL DOCTORS KEPT RECORDS REGARDING THEIR SERVICES AND
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MEDICATIONS THEY PRESCRIBED FOR SIX YEARS; AND THAT THIS ALLOWED FOR THE
INVESTIGATION OF FRAUDULENT CLAIMS AT A LATE3R DEATE.

D) THAT HE WAS PROVIDED WITH WRITTEN REPORTS COMPLETED BY BCBSM
INVESTIGATOR JAMES HOWELL.

E} THAT BCBSM DETERMINED THAT DR. POMPY RANKED FIRST IN 2015 FOR THE
AVERAGE NUMBER OF MEMBERS RECEIVING HIGH COST MEDICATIONS OVER TWOQ
HUNDRED (200) DOLLARS PER MONTH,

2151 DEFENDANT JAMES HOWELL TESTIFIED IN JULY 2017 AT A DEA HEARING THAT DR.

POMPY WAS INVESTIGATED BECAUSE HE PRESCRIBED THE MOST EXPENSIVE
MEDICATIONS.

2152. LT. MARC MOORE AND JAMES HOWELL ILLEGALLY PRACTICED MEDICINE AND PLAYED

PHARMACISTS WITHOUT BPL LICENSES BY SUBSTITUTING THEIR RADICAL VIEWS FOR
THE JUDGMENT OF DR. POMPY.

2153. DR, POMPY MEDICAL LICENSE WAS CAUSED TO BE SUMMARILY SUSPENDED ON AUGUST
3, 2017 BECAUSE OF THE MISCONDUCT OF LT. MARC MOORE AND JAMES HOWELL.

2154. James Howell and Lt. Marc Moore caused Dr. Pompy to suffer a great
prejudice and irreparable harm.

2155. Lt. Marc Moore is not protected by qualified immunity for his misconduct.

2156. James Howell and Lt. Marc Moore are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for
attorney’s fees.

2157. Lt. Marc Moore and James Howell are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for
compensatory damages in the amount of $25, 000 000.00.

2158. Lt. Marc Moore and James Howell are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for
punitive damages in the amount of $100,000 000.00.

COUNT 40
Dr. POMPY WAS FRAMED BY AGENT BRIAN BISHOP

2159. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.
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2160. Brian Bishop filed a complaint with DEA causing Plaintiffs DEA registrations
to be summarily suspended in March 2017.

2161. Brian Bishop filed a complaint with BPL, causing Dr. Pompy’s medical
license to be summarily suspended on August 3, 2017.

2162. The role of Brian Bishop in the morning of September 26, 2016 was to assist
local law enforcement agencies in the execution of a search warrant issued by the
First District Court of Michigan.

2163. Brian Bishop wrongfully and negligently conducted a DEA inspection and
evaluation of Dr. Pompy overall security systems and needs under 21 USC
1301.71(b) at Interventionai Pain Management Associates, P.C.

2164. Brian Bishop went alone to Dr. Pompy’s home, a non-DEA registered
location, in the afternoon of September 26, 2016, illegally conducted a DEA
inspection and evaluation, seized multiple unauthorized medical records,
electronic devices, and other items. He then removed all the seized property to
his office in Detroit without a court order. The chain of custody was broken.

2165. Brian Bishop was at Dr. Pompy’s home a trespasser who could have been
subject to arrest had Dr. Pompy been present.

2166. The purpose of Brian Bishop to Dr Pompy’s office and home was to illegally
obtain evidence to frame the latter.

2167. Brian Bishop illegally caused Plaintiffs DEA registrations and Dr. Pompy
medical license to be illegally summarily suspended.

2168. BRIAN BISHOP caused Dr. Pompy to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable
harm.

2169. Brian Bishop is not protected by qualified immunity for his misconduct.

2170. Brian Bishop is strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for attorney’s fees.
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2171. Brian Bishop is strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for compensatory damages in the
amount of $25, 000 000.00.

2172. Brian Bishop strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for punitive damages in the amount
of $100,000 000.00.

COUNT 41
LAW ENFORCEMENT VIOLATED 451 U.S. 204 {1981) AND THE 4™ AMENDMENT

2173. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2174. On September 26, 2016, at or about 8:15 A.M., defendants Lt. Marc
Moore, Officer Shawn Kotsch, and agent Brian Bishop, searching for Dr. Pompy
person, the records of the Suboxone patients of Dr. Pompy’s and Interventional
Pain Management Associates {sic), went mistakenly to Interventional Pain
Management, at an address described as 730 North Macomb Street, Suite 222,
Monroe, Michigan 48162.

2175. Dr. Pompy’s office was at Interventional Pain Management Associates, P.C.,
(IPM). IPM did not share an office with Interventional Pain Management, an
unknown entity within the same building.

2176. Under duress Dr. Pompy answered law enforcement questions and
complied with their illegal demands for the search and review of the files of the
Suboxone patients.

2177. No search warrant was served upon Dr. Pompy, the unknown third party
Interventional Pain Management Associates, and the unknown third party
Interventional Pain Management for the search/seizure of the person of Dr.
Pompy and the medical records of the Suboxone patients.

2178. There was no consent by Dr. Pompy for the search and review of the
records. There were no exigent circumstances.

172



Case Ze3e\LR2I3eu-HE8°piK Hapenpent107idd Gt h82085etnagd 74923 of 91

2179. Dr. Pompy medical office was located at Interventional Pain Management
Associates, P.C., within ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital, at the address of
multiple medical offices, 730 North Monroe Street, Monroe, Michigan.

2180. No search warrant was served upon third party Interventional Pain
Management Associates, P.C. (IPM) and third party ProMedica Monroe Regional
Hospital (PRMRH).

2181. There was no consent by third parties {PM and PRMRH for the search of the
records. They were no exigent circumstances.

2182. Dr. Pompy was at or about 10:30 A.M. arrested and later imprisoned.
Steagaid v. United States, 451 U.S. 204 {1981), prohibits searching for the subject
of an arrest warrant in a third party’s home without first obtaining a search
warrant. Law enforcement violated Dr. Pompy’s Fourth Amendment Rights. Dr.
Pompy was released from Monroe County Jail pending an alleged arrest warrant
by the Monroe County Prosecutor’s Office.

2183. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

2184. Lt. Marc Moore, Officer Robert Blair, and agent Brian Bishop are not
protected by qualified immunity for their misconduct.

2185. Lt. Marc Moore, officer Robert Blair, and agent Brian Bishop are strictly
liable to Dr. Pompy for attorney’s fees.

2186. Lt. Marc Moore, officer Robert Blair, and agent Brian Bishop are strictly
liable to Dr. Pompy for compensatory damages in the amount of $25, 000 000.00.

2187. Lt. Marc Moore, officer Robert Blair, and agent Brian Bishop are strictly
liable to Dr. Pompy for punitive damages in the amount of $100,000 000.00.

COUNT 42

DEFENDANT ROBERT BLAIR MISLED THE MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT AND
THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF MICHIGAN
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2188. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained
in the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

2189. On September 29 and 30, 2016 Detective Blair was given by FAX the names
and numbers of the owners of the pension accounts at E*Trade and Merrill Lynch
related to Plaintiffs.

2190. Detective Blair hid the information to the First District Court of Michigan,
which would have dismissed the search warrants and released the pension
accounts to their legitimate owners under the Social Security Act and the Eight
Amendment.

2191. On December 22, 2016 the Monroe County Circuit Court took jurisdiction
over the subject matter after the filing of a civil forfeiture action by the Monroe
County Prosecuting Attorney’s Office. The case was assigned to HON. DANIEL S.
WHITE.

2192. On August 14, 2017 Detective Blair, ignoring the authority and competence
of judge White, had magistrate Jessica Chaffin issue a fourth illegal and invalid
search warrant for the search and seizure of Dr. Pomp’s patients medical records
at iPatientCare in New Jersey.

2193. Jessica Chaffin had no jurisdiction in New Jersey. The records were never
searched and seized by a sheriff. iPatientCare itself transmitted the records to
detective Blair by electronic means. The chain of custody was broken. Detective
Blair disseminated the records to MSP and DEA agent Brian Bishop.

2194. On May 23, 2018 a federal search warrant was issued upon the application
of Special Agent Michael Hendricks, HHS-OIG, for “electronic devices seized
pursuant to a State of Michigan search warrant executed by DEA/MSP.”

2195. The search warrant was a cover-up for an appearance of legality to the use
of and reliance to the seized items.

2196. The search warrant failed to indicate the address to serve DEA/MSP for the
search and seizure of the electronic devices.
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2197. HHS agent Hendricks knew that the property was not in custody of DEA
agent Brian Bishop and MSP detective Robert Blair, but in custody of the U.S.
Department of Health of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General
(HHS-OIG).

2198. HHS agent Hendricks knew, or should have known, that on April 26, 2018
DEA agent Bishop had voluntarily brought to HHS-OIG, Detroit Field Office,
medical records, electronic devices, and equipment illegally seized on September
26, 2016 at the office and home of Dr. Pompy. Agent Hendricks was with HHS-OIG
Detroit Field Office.

2199. The chain of custody was broken.
2200. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

2201. Officer Robert Blair is not protected by qualified immunity for his
misconduct.

2202. Officer Robert Blair is strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for attorney’s fees.

2203. Officer Robert Blair is strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for compensatory
damages in the amount of $25, 000 000.00.

2204. Officer Robert Blair is strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for punitive damages in
the amount of $100,000 000.00.
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COUNT 43

DEFENDANTS MSP/MANTIS DETECTIVE ROBERT BLAIR, MSP/MANTIS JON LA SOTA, DEA
AGENT BRIAN BISHOP, ILLEGALLY EXECUTED EIGHT SEARCH WARRANTS

2205. PLAINTIFFS HEREBY INCORPORATE BY REFERENCE HEREIN THE ALLEGATIONS CONTAINED IN THE
ABOVE PARAGRAPHS OF THE COMPLAINT. DETECTIVE ROBERT BLAIR EXECUTED FIVE INVALID
SEARCH WARRANTS ON SEPTEMBER 21, 26, AND 27, 2016 PERSONALLY AT DR. POMPY’S OFFICE ,
MB& T, AND MONRQE COUNTY COMMUNITY CREDIT UNION IN MONROE; AND ON SEPTEMBER 26,
2016 AND AUGUST 14, 2017 BY FAX/ E-MAIL TO IPATIENT CARE IN NEW JERSEY.

2206. OFFICER JON LA SOTA EXECUTED ONE INVALID SEARCH WARRANT ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016
PERSCNALLY AT DR. POMPY’'S HOME; AND TWO INVALID SEARCH WARRANTS ON SEPTEMBER 28,
2016 BY FAX/E-MAIL TO MERRIL LYNCH IN FLORIDA AND E*TRADE IN NEW JERSEY.

2207. DETECTIVE LA SOTA CONDUCTED A SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF PROPERTY ON THE FIRST, SECOND,
AND THIRD FLOOR OF DR. POMPY’S HOME ILLEGALLY, WITHOUT A PRIOR DESCRIPTION IN THE
WARRANT OF THE ITEMS TO BE SEIZED AND THE LOCATION OF SAID ITEMS.

2208, MONRQE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE WAS AND STILL IS THE ONLY GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY
WITH THE LEGAL AUTHORITY AND COMPETENCE TO EXECUTE SEARCH WARRANTS IN MONROE
COUNTY.

2209. MONROE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE CUSTOMARILY EXECUTES WITRIN ITS JURISDICTION SEARCH
WARRANTS ON BEHALF MSP/MANTIS UPON ORDER OF A MONROE COUNTY COURT.

2210. MONROE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE REPORTED IN FACEBOOK ON NOVEMBER 18, 2013 THAT,
‘...AT APPROXIMATELY 9:45 A.M. MEMBERS FROM MONROE COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE SPECIAL
RESPONSE TEAM (SRT/SWAT) EXECUTED A NARCOTICS SEARCH WARRANT FOR THE MANTIS DRUG
UNIT, IN THE BLOCK OF JONES AVE., IN THE CITY OF MONROE.”

2211. DETECTIVE ROBERT BLAIR AND OFFICER JON LA SOTA FAILED TO LET SHERIFF RALPH MALONE
EXECUTE EIGHT SEARCH WARRANTS WITH REGARDS TO THE CASE OF DR. POMPY, IN VIOLATION OF
STATE STATUTES.

2212. SHERIFF RALPH MALONE PROVIDED SRT/SWAT TEAM, BUT WRONGFULLY AND NEGLIGENTLY

FAILED TO TAKE CHARGE OF THE EXECUTION OF THE SEARCH WARRANTS IN VIOLATION OF STATE
STATUTES.
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2213. DEA agent Brian Bishop illegally executed invalid search warrants issued by
Magistrate Jessica Chaffin, on September 26, 2016 and August 14, 2017.

2214. Dr. Pompy was caused to suffer a great prejudice and irreparable harm.

2215. Detective Robert Blair and officer Jon La Sota, and DEA agent Brian
Bishop, are not protected by qualified immunity for their misconduct.

2216. Detective Robert Blair and officer Jon La Sota, and DEA agent Brian Bishop
are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for attorney’s fees, jointly or severally.

2217. Detective Robert Blair and officer Jon La Sota, and DEA agent Brian Bishop,
are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for compensatory damages in the amount of $25,
000 000.00, jointly or severally.

2218. Officer Robert Blair and officer Jon La Sota, and DEA agent Brian Bishop,
are strictly liable to Dr. Pompy for punitive damages in the amount of $100,000
000.00, jointly or severally.
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DAMAGES AND RELIEF REQUESTED

--Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference herein the allegations contained in
the above Paragraphs of the Complaint.

--As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, each and every one of
them, as set forth herein, Plaintiff Lesly Pompy’s constitutional rights under the
First, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments were violated.

--Dr. Pompy respectfully requests:

A- (1) An order dismissing the BPL Order of Summary Suspension and the
Administrative Complaint of August 3, 2017.

(2) A further order compelling defendant KIM GAEDEKE and/ or his successor
Cheryl Wykoff Pezon to reinstate, effective August 3, 2017, Dr. Pompy license to
practice medicine, as if same has never been suspended. EXHIBIT 7

(3) A further order referring defendants Gaedeke, Edgerton, Siebigteroth, and
Hafner to the Department of Health and Human Resources for a consideration of
the application of Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. 333.2638 against them for potential
violation of Section 2631 to 2633.

B-- Dr. Pompy has not the required knowledge and legal education to handle the
complexity of the pleadings in the instant matter, particularly for his claims for
discrimination, violation of RICO and other ANTITRUST LAWS; for his claims for
reasonable accommodation given to his patients, retaliation, public health
concern; for the handling of discovery and deposition of the defendants to
ascertain liability, comparative negligence and damages; and further investigation
of former patients continuing death for lack of treatment.

C- Dr. Pompy and IPM were not able to be represented by counsel on a
contingency fee arrangement.
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D- Because the defendants will be represented by multiple attorneys for violation
of multiple federal, state, and local statutes, and because of the unusual and
extraordinary circumstances of the case, Plaintiffs respectfully request the
assistance of this Honorable Court for the referral of Plaintiffs claims to the Civil
Rights Division of the U.S. Department of Justice or (2), in the alternative, to
private counsel appointed by the court on a contingency fee basis.

E--With the settlement agreement of March 16, 2018 Michigan Prosecutor’s
office and law enforcement agencies are collaterally estopped from offering into
evidence any testimony, expert opinions, medical records related to their joint
investigation of Plaintiffs in conjunction with Blue Cross.

F--Plaintiffs demand that the defendants pay, jointly or severally, compensatory
damages and punitive damages in addition to the following special losses:

(1) Loss of personal income based on Dr. Pompy working life expectancy, for 14.1
years from age 55.9 in September 2016 to age 70 in December 2030.

(2) Loss of pension benefits based on life expectancy for 15 years from age 70 in
January 2031 to age 85 in December 2045.

(3) Pain and Suffering, emotional distress, humiliation, anguish, defamation,
embarrassment from September 26, 2016 to present, and continuing.

G-- Plaintiftfs demand reimbursement from the defendants, jointly or severally, for
their special damages, including compensatory and punitive damages, to wit:

(1) Loss of business and business expectancy; Undetermined at this time.
(2) Loss of LCMS Laboratory: $500,000.00

(3) Loss of Urine Immunoassay Machine: $68,000.00

(4) Loss of Hormone machine; $72,000.00

(5) Loss of Perishable Business Supply: $200,000.00

(6) Loss of Non-Perishable Business Supply: $250, 000.00
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(7) Loss of Profits: Undetermined at this time

(8) Loss of creditworthiness: $1,000 000.00

(9) Business Goodwill: $3,000 000.00

(10) Loss of 25 years of data: $1,000 000.00

(11) Termination of commercial lease with ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital

(12) Closure of medical office at ProMedica Professional Building,

(13) Loss of contracts with ten health insurers, to wit: Blue Cross Blue Shield,
Aetna, HAP, Meridian, Cigna, Medicare, Medicaid, Paramount, Priority Health,
Blue Cross Complete, Ohio Worker’s Compensation. .

(14) Failure to return Plaintiffs seized property on March 30, 2018 in violation of
the order of Monroe County Circuit Judge Honorable Daniel S. White of March
16, 2018, with possible charge for contempt of court.

(15) Abridgment of Plaintiffs rights to the enjoyment of their property.

(16) Discrimination based on color and natural origin. WHITE SUSPECTS name,
address, identities, personal photos, pictures of their home location, confidential
financial assets, name of their financial institutions, etc. had never been divulged
in newspapers, radios, televisions, social media...etc. by MSP/MANTIS, Lt Marc
Moore, and Ray Kisonas following a raid.

(17) Violation of AntiTrust Laws : Clayton Antitrust Act, Sherman Antitrust Act,
Federal Trade Commission Act, including, but not limited to, Mergers and
Acquisitions, Unfair Competition, Contracts Laws... etc.

(18) Suspension of Dr. Pompy’s medical license and DEA certificates of
registration in violation of Section 802 (56) (C) of the Controlled Substances Act
allowing individual practitioners to determine what is legitimate medical purpose
for issuance of prescriptions.

(19) Any and all damages or losses compensable under federal and state law,
including, but not limited to, those damages authorized under 42 U.S.C. Sec.1983
and/or Michigan law, and punitive damages.
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(20) Impaired perishable medical inventory and reagents
(21) Impaired medical equipment

(22) Forced liquidation of assets at a loss.

(23) Banking charges and fees

(24) Impaired credit rating.

(25) Tax Liabilities

(26) Other losses, arising out of transaction where third parties relied on Dr.
Pompy’s medical license.

(27) Acceleration of lease payments.

(28) Creditors and Vendors default, and default judgments : CIT Bank, American
Express, Medline, Barclays Bank, Bank of America, Chase Manhattan Bank, and
other credit cards.

(29) Forced liquidation of shares at the Surgical I[nstitute of Monroe.

(30) Delays, loss of EMT license

(31) Loss of Medical Licenses : Michigan, Florida, New-York, Pennsylvania

(32) Loss of IPOD, IPAD, IPHONE

(33) Loss of bustness equipment, scanners, computers, software, integration
software

(34) Loss of Merge Software and software integrating iPatientCare with Labs,
ProMedica Monroe Regional Hospital.

(35) Humiliation, embarrassment, anxiety, emotional distress arising out of
adverse pre-trial publicity published in the Monroe Evening News.
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(36) Destruction of medical library

(37) Banking fees

(38) Inability to pay creditors, leading to lawsuits and default judgements
(39) Investigation fees

(40) Cost and disbursement

H--Dr. Pompy is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent the further
discrimination, degradation, humiliation, embarrassment, injury, and emotional
distress caused by defendants’ actions and unconstitutional policies, practices, and
customs.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court, by and
through its trier of fact, enter Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and against
Defendants, together with interest, costs, and attorney fees or as otherwise
determined by the court or trier of fact.
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CERTIFICATION and CLOSING

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, by signing below, | certify to the best of
my knowledge, information, and belief that this complaint : (1) is not being
presented for an improper purpose, such as to harass, cause unnecessary delay,
or needless increase the cost of litigation; (2) is supported by existing law; (3) the
factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will
likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further
investigation or discovery; and (4) the complaint otherwise complies with the
requirements of Rule 11.

| agree to provide the Clerk’s Office with any change to my address where case-
related papers may be served. | understand that my failure to keep a current
address on file with the Clerk’s Office may result in the dismissal of my case.

Respectfully submitted,
Dated: January~, 2019 Plaintiffs Pro Se:

Lesly Pompy

533 N Monroe Street

Monroe, Michigan 48162

(734) 819-0634

E: mail:pompypain@gmail.com
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Lesly Pompy

President
INTERVENTIONAL PAIN MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATES, PC

533 N Monroe Street
Monroe, Michigan 48162

PHONE:(734) 819-0634 E:
mail:pompypain@gmail.com

DEFENDANTS:

Monroe Bank and Trust
102 East Front Street
Monroe, Michigan 48161

Susan Mehregan

Vice President and Deputy General Counsel
Bank of Monroe and Trust

102 East Front Street

Monroe, Michigan 4816

Thomas Scott

Vice President- Risk Management Office
Bank of Monroe and Trust

102 East Front Street

Monroe, Michigan 48161

Tina TODD, Magistrate

First District Court of Michigan
106 E. First Street

Monroe, Michigan 48161
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JESSICA CHAFFIN, Magistrate
First District Court of Michigan
106 E. First Street

Monroe, Michigan 48161

Jack Vitale, judge

First District Court of Michigan
106 E. First District Court
Monroe, Michigan 4816

Lt. Marc Moore,
MANTIS

300 Jones Ave.

Monroe, Michigan 48162

Officer Robert Blair
MANTIS

7150 Harris Drive
Dimondale, M| 48821

Officer Jon LASOTTA
MANTIS

300 Jones Ave.
Monroe, M| 48162

Officer Shawn KOTCH
Monroe City Department
100 East 2" Street, No.1
Monroe, Ml 48161
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Agent Brian Bishop, Diversion Investigator

U.S. A. Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA)
Detroit Field Division

431 Howard Street

Detroit, MI 48226

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan
600 East Lafayette Mall, Mail code 1825
Detroit, M| 48226

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan Mutual Insurance Company
600 East Lafayette Mall, Mail code 1825
Detroit, M| 48226

Blue Cross Complete of Michigan
600 East Lafayette Mall, Mail Code 1825
Detroit, M| 48226

Blue Cross Complete of Michigan, LLC
600 East Lafayette Mall, Mail Code 1825
Detroit, M| 48226

MICHAEL ZSENYUK, Manager

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan
600 Lafayette East MC 1929
Detroit, Michigan 48226

JIM GALLAGHER , Manager

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan
600 Lafayette East MC 1929
Detroit, Michigan 48226
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RIAN ZASADNY, CFl Investigator
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan
600 Lafayette East MC 1929
Detroit, Michigan 48226

JAMES HOWELL, CFl investigator
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan
600 Lafayette East MC 1929
Detroit, Michigan 48226

DIANE SILAS, UR

Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan
600 Lafayette East MC 1929
Detroit, Michigan 48226

CARL CHRISTENSEN, M.D.
Christensen Recovery Services

2301 South Huron Parkway, Suite 3 A
Ann Arbor, MI 48104

J. ALAN ROBERTSON, M.D.
17200 East 10 Mile Road, Suite 130
Eastpointe, Michigan 48021-3349

SHELLY EDGERTON, Director
Bureau of Professional Licensing
611 W. Ottawa

Lansing, Michigan 48909
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SEAN M. SIEBIGTEROTH, Director
Drug Monitoring Section

Bureau of Professional Licensing
611 W. Ottawa

Lansing, Michigan 48909

KIM GAEDEKE , Director

Bureau of Professional Licensing
611 W. Ottawa

Lansing, Michigan 48909

VAUGHN HAFNER, R.Ph.

Bureau of Professional Licensing’
Drug Monitoring Section

611 W. Ottawa

Lansing, Michigan 48909

DINA YOUNG, Record Keeper
Enforcement Division

Bureau of Professional Licensing
611 W. Ottawa

Lansing, Michigan 48909

‘RAY KISONAS

Monroe News

20 W First Street
Monroe, Michigan 48161
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that on , 2019 | served the foregoing document, via
U.S. certified mail, first class mail, return receipt requested, delivery restricted,
upon Monroe Bank And Trust at his above designated address.

| further certified that on , 2019 | served the foregoing document, at the
above designated address, via U.S. certified mail, first class mail, return receipt
requested, delivery restricted, upon defendants

| further certified that to complete service on DEA agent Brian Bishop | served the
forgoing paper, on , 2019 via U.S. certified mail, on the Attorney
General of the United States, Civil-Process Clerk, U.S. Department of Justice, 950
Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Washington, DC 20530-0001.

Lesly Pompy, MD

Plaintiff PRO SE

533 North Monroe Street
Monroe, Michigan 48162.
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PURSUANT TO LOCAL RULE 83.11
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If yes, give the following information:

Court:

Case No.:

Judge:

2. Other than stated above, are there any pending or previously
discontinued or dismissed companion cases in this or any other D Yes
court, including state court? (Companion cases are matters in which W
it appears substantially similar evidence will be offered or the same
or related parties are present and the cases arise out of the same
transaction or occurrence.)

. It yes, give the following information:

Court:

?  CaseNo.:

Judge:

Notes :

M






